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Key figures 2021
In € million, unless stated otherwise

Residential  
2021

Retail  
2021

Portfolio (year-end)
Operational portfolio  1,942  592 
Secured pipeline  524  - 

Equity (IFRS) 2,312 606
Same per share (in €) 2.255 0.948

Number of property investments in operation 100  39 
Number of residential units and lease contracts 5,295  549 
Average rent per m2 (in €)  N/A  201 
Number of years of remaining rental income  N/A 3.8

Gross theoretical annual rent 71  43
Gross initial yield 3.7% 7.2%
Net/gross rental income in financial year 81% 82%
Occupancy rate at year-end 98% 93%
Average occupancy rate 98% 94%

Residential Retail
2021 2017-2021 2021 2017-2021

Returns
Income return 2.7% 3.1% 5.7% 5.9%
Capital growth 12.8% 10.8% -0.2% -1.9%

Total property return 15.7% 14.2% 5.5% 3.8%
Management and fund costs -0.3% -0.4% -0.3% -0.4%
Impact of cash and leverage -0.3% -0.2% 0.0% -0.1%
Other effects 0.0% 0.0% -0.1% 0.0%

Fund return (IFRS) 15.2% 13.6% 5.1% 3.4%

Fund return (INREV) 16.1% N/A 5.2% N/A
Dividend return 2.3% 2.6% 5.5% 5.6%

5-years total for Altera
In € million, unless stated otherwise 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Invested capital  2,873  2,474  2,461  2,206  2,049 
Theoretical rent  114  104  113  116  118 
Number of properties  139  140  155  160  157 

Management and fund costs
Management costs 29.2 29.2 34.5 31.1 32.3
Fund costs 4.6 6.0 5.3 5.4 5.8

Total costs 33.8 35.2 39.7 36.5 38.1
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31/12/2021

01/03/2021
Anne Heerschop starts 
as Legal Counsel 

15/03/2021
Roos van Arenthals starts as  
Junior Compliance Officer

01/12/2021
Thijs Guinee starts as 
Performance & Valuation Analyst

18/10/2021
A GRESB five-star rating on 
Retail and Residential and 
Global Sector Leader Residential

01/06/2021
Oscar Groot starts as 
Technical Manager Retail

07/04/2021
Publication of 
Annual Report 2020

01/11/2021
Willem Jan van de Water starts 
as ESG Project Manager

Timeline Altera 
organisation

€2.9 
billion

Total assets under 
management

60

Investors

+5 
- 2

During 2021 five 
new employees were 

appointed and two have 
left the company

€279 
million

Altera also widened its shareholder base by 
attracting new capital from investors in the 
Netherlands, Germany and Italy. New and 
existing shareholders committed a total 
of over €279 million of capital, over €72 
million of which was deployed in 2021.
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Highlights of 2021
Performance of the sectoral funds
• In Residential the total fund return amounted to 15.2% (2020: 8.6%) as a result of capital growth 

of 12.8%
• In Retail a total fund return of 5.1% (2020: -5.4%) due to improved income return and capital 

growth 
• No significant impact of COVID-19 on the returns, cash flow and occupancy in Residential; for 

Retail the lockdowns had relatively limited impact due to the dominance of convenience segment 
in our portfolio

• The occupancy rate in Residential remained high (98%) and in Retail stable on 94%
• In the Residential sector 1,332 leases were signed, including 703 for new completed 

construction; tenant movements amounted to 13% 
• In the Retail sector 190 leases were signed with an annual rent of €12.8 million, mostly related to 

COVID-19 amendments (rent reduction in combination with extensions)

Sustainability/ESG
• Altera Residential awarded from GRESB with Residential Global Sector Leader status for the 

second time
• Altera Retail received 5-stars from GRESB
• Audit opinion on ESG key performance indicators 

Changes in the portfolio
In € million Residential Retail Total

Added to secured pipeline 291.3  -  291.3 
Added to operational portfolio 268.7 28.1 296.8
Divestments  -38.1  -38.8  -76.9 

Share transactions
New entries amounted to €216.8 million in 2021, with exits amounting to €61.2 million.

In € million Residential Retail Total

Shareholder entries 177.6 39.2 216.8
Shareholder exits  -30.2  -31.0 -61.2

Net entries 147.4 8.2 155.6

Number of shareholders  39  28  60 

Organisation 
• During 2021 the Altera staff worked mainly from home and due to professional IT infrastructure 

the efficiency remained high 
• The workforce increased from 35 to 37 FTE but this is below the required level 
• As part of the digitalisation project a data warehouse will become available in the beginning of 

2022
• Altera was awarded as World-class Workplace by Effectory, which means that Altera has a  

Top 10 position as best employer in the Netherlands 

Governance
• Altera is almost completely compliant on the INREV Guidelines with Self Assessment score of 

99%
• A type 2 ISAE 3402 report is presented on 4 March 2022. Recruitment has started for the 

successor of the chair of the Supervisory Board, mr. Guus Hoefsloot
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Altera: Dutch property for institutional investors
Proposition
Altera offers investment products in Dutch Residential and Dutch Retail property which are tailored to the needs and requirements of institutional investors through a structure of integrated management with 
letter shares in these sectors. This means, among other things:

• a structure with the advantages of unlisted indirect property and the risk/return  
characteristics of direct property;

• targeted participation in the Residential and Retail sectors (freedom of allocation);
• flexibility of entries and exits;
• no structural financing with loan capital;
• active asset management;
• no in-company project development activities;
• a multi-criteria investment objective;

• transparency in policy, processes and accountability;
• application of best practices and a high level of compliance;
• cost-efficiency resulting in low management and fund costs;
• investment based on a research-driven strategy;
• optimal implementation of measures to promote sustainability;
• no conflicts of interest and a strong emphasis on compliance;
• client-oriented servicing.

We aim for growth in assets under management for the benefit of existing and prospective shareholders; this also helps to improve the risk/return characteristics.

Management Board

Roelie van Wijk-Russchen
(Member)

Heino Vink
(Member)

Cyril van den Hoogen
(CFO)

Erwin Wessels
(CIO)

Jaap van der Bijl
(CEO)

Guus Hoefsloot
(Chairman)

Supervisory Board



Highlights

7

Investment objective
The objective of Altera Residential and Altera Retail is to offer institutional investors a fund return 
in line with core investments in Dutch property. We evaluate the degree to which this objective is 
achieved against the following criteria:

• the relative portfolio return per sector in relation to the five-year total return on all investments of 
the MSCI Netherlands Property Index;

• the relative fund return per sector, based on a peer group analysis and the relevant INREV fund 
return;

• the amount of management and fund costs for the sectoral funds combined and the INREV TER 
(with the aim of making these costs among the lowest in the sector);

• progress in terms of sustainability.

Altera strives for a high level of transparency to the investors and conducts its business with 
integrity.

Investment policy
We aim to achieve our investment objective by investing in selected segments of the Dutch 
residential and retail property market with a long-term investment horizon.

We implement the investment policy in a transparent manner and with research-based analyses. We 
limit the risk by not applying structural leverage and refraining from project development activities. 
With this policy we aim to retain the pure characteristics of direct property as far as possible.  
A secondary purpose is to remain fully invested.

For these sectors we have formulated a medium-term (three-year) investment framework which has 
been submitted to the General Meeting of Shareholders of the relevant sector for approval. Within 
these frameworks, we draw up annual sector investment plans which require the approval of the 
Supervisory Board.

Sustainable Finance Disclosure 
Regulation
On 10 March 2021, Altera Vastgoed has completed the level 1 requirements of the Sustainable 
Finance Disclosure Regulation (SFDR).

The SFDR establishes rules on transparency, in order to ensure the integration of sustainability risks 
into investment processes investment processes and the harmonisation of ESG disclosure standards 
for different types of products and end investors.

Altera has set up a multidisciplinary working group to prepare for the implementation of the SFDR. 
It included the integration of sustainability risks in the investment process and remuneration policy 
and the determination of the sustainability ambition per sector fund (promote environmental and 
social characteristics). For each element a comprehensive disclosure has been drawn up.

This new regulation of the European Commission will have a phased introduction and the more 
stringent level 2 requirements will be implemented per 1 January 2023.

Supervision
Altera Vastgoed N.V. holds a licence issued under the AIFMD (number 15001214) and is regulated 
by the Netherlands Authority for the Financial Markets (AFM).

Information Memorandum 
The Information Memorandums for Altera Residential and for Altera Retail contain the Principal 
Terms (chapter 5) for which changes require approval of the shareholders. Each year in the April 
General Meeting of Shareholders an updated version is presented. Prospective shareholders are to 
be provided with a copy of the Information Memorandum.
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Value creation model
The value creation model is part of our ambition to present our created values in a fully integrated annual report. The model provides insight into Altera’s operational context with specific attention to the 
different forms of capital Altera employs to create value for all our stakeholders. The model shows our business model, how we create long-term sustainable value and what our social impact is. 

Our created value

1. Fund return
Direct and indirect return 15.2% 5.1%

2. Tenant satisfaction
Score based on tenant  
satisfaction survey

7.1 6.7

3. Quality score
Portfolio Score based on Altera’s 
Quality Assessment Model 

80 77

4. Employment satisfaction
Score based on employment 
satisfaction survey

7.9

5. Sustainable environment
GPR score resp. BREEAM score 6.6 65%
GRESB score 94 92
UNPRI score for ‘Strategy and  
Governance’ and ‘Direct Property’

A+ and A+

Our five capitals

1. Our investors
Number of investors  39  28 
Equity in € mln 2,312  606 

2. Our tenants
Number of tenants 5,295  549 
Annual rental income  
in € mln

 71  43 

3. Our buildings
Number of properties  100  39 
Portfolio in operation  
in € mln

1,942  592 

4. Our people
Headcount  
Altera

42

5. Our environment
Environmental  
Management System

ISO 14001

RetailResidential

Our impact
(UN SDGs)Our business model

Active Asset Management

Sell
Create &Acquire 

Stable low-risk  
Fund Return in 
a sustainable 
environment

Integrated 
Management

Long-term 
partners

Cost 
efficiency

Research  
driven & ESG

Expertise & 
innovation

Transparency
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Our five capitals

1. Our investors

Altera offers (open-ended) investment funds with allocation to Dutch property in the Residential 
and Retail sectors. These funds are tailored to the needs and requirements of institutional investors, 
who provide us with the financial input for our business.

2. Our tenants

We actively engage with our retail and residential tenants and monitor the quality of the property 
management services. The relationship we have with our tenants results in high levels of tenant 
satisfaction and occupancy rates. Altera frequently conducts tenant satisfaction surveys to analyse 
and improve tenant satisfaction scores.

3. Our buildings

The quality of our properties is essential to portfolio performance, tenant satisfaction and the 
impact on the environment. This is why we have created the Quality Assessment Model (QAM) 
to assess potential acquisitions and for continuous quality improvement of our existing portfolio 
holdings.

4. Our people

Our employees’ contributions and capabilities are greatly valued, which is why the development of 
skills of our people is key, as well as their health & well-being. Meetings are held on a quarterly basis 
to keep all employees informed and engaged with the company’s mission and values. Employee 
satisfaction is surveyed within the company on an annual basis.

5. Our environment

Altera’s impact on the environment is monitored through our Environmental Management System 
which is set up in conformity with the internationally recognised ISO 14001 standard. 

Our business model
 
The business model transforms the input from our five capitals to created value. The business model 
shows the conviction of Altera, how the processes are connected to this and which final result is 
achieved.

Why?

Altera’s goal is to generate a fund return equal or better than the relevant market return and based 
on low risk characteristics in a sustainable environment. 

How?

This ultimate goal can be achieved by an investment strategy based on the following six elements: 
Research driven & ESG, Expertise & innovation, Cost efficiency, Integrated Management, Long-term 
partners and Transparency.

What?

In Altera’s investment process there are three phases in the life cycle of the property. After the 
acquisition of a property the active asset management phase of the property starts. A yearly hold/
sell analysis is performed which can lead to either continuing the active asset management or the 
disposal of an asset.
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Our created value

1. Fund Return 

Total Fund Return per sector, based on the direct and indirect return, which is delivered to the 
investors. 

2. Tenant satisfaction 

A good relationship can only be maintained with tenants if they are satisfied. Altera therefore 
believes it is very important to measure tenant satisfaction. For this model the weighted average 
(sqm) based on this tenant satisfaction survey per sector is used. Targets are also set to optimise 
tenant satisfaction. 

3. Quality score 

We use an objective quality assessment model (QAM) to gain insight into the quality score of our 
buildings. The result of the QAM is expressed as a total score. For this model the weighted average 
(value) Portfolio Score per sector is used. 

4. Employment satisfaction 

We invest in our people and their satisfaction. An Employee Satisfaction Survey (ESS) to measure 
this satisfaction is periodically conducted, on which an average score can be calculated. This 
average score contains the following four elements: Enthusiasm, Involvement, Employment practices 
and Efficiency.

5. Sustainable environment 

For a long-term sustainable environment we believe it is important to always optimise our scores in 
certificates from GPR (Residential) or BREEAM (Retail), GRESB for each sector and UNPRI for the 
organisation.

Our impact
We have aligned our corporate targets with the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals 
(SDGs). The created value has a direct relationship with these SDGs. A further explanation of Altera’s 
SDGs, including the creation of the selection of SDGs and the underlying specific sub-targets, can 
be found in the integrated ESG report.
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Message from the Supervisory Board
We hereby present you with the annual report and the 2021 financial statements prepared by the 
Management Board. 

Deloitte Accountants B.V. has audited the financial statements and has issued an unqualified audit 
opinion. We propose that you adopt the financial statements accordingly.

The dividend for the fourth quarter of 2021, including the final dividend, was paid out on 17 
January 2022. We endorse the proposal of the Management Board for a zero final dividend. 

Dividend  
(amounts in €) Distributed in 2021 

2021 Q4 
17 January 2022  

including final dividend
Total 

for 2021

Residential  33,550,999 12,209,109 45,760,108
Retail  23,171,916 7,850,778 31,022,694

Total  56,722,915 20,059,887 76,782,802

Altera hereby complies with the regulation incumbent on a fiscal investment institution with a 
distribution requirement. 

Mission statement
In accordance with the law and the articles of association, the Supervisory Board has the duty to 
supervise the policy of the Management Board, as well as the general course of affairs within the 
company and its affiliates. The Supervisory Board supports the Management Board with advice. In 
performing their duties, the members of the Supervisory Board take into account the interests of the 
company, the shareholders, employees and all those involved in it.

The duties of the Supervisory Board include:

• Reviews, assessments:
• Supervising the Management Board with regard to the realisation of the company’s objectives, 

the strategy and the risks associated with the operations of the company, the design and 
operation of the internal risk management and control systems, the financial reporting process 
and compliance with laws and regulations.

• Adhering to and enforcing the corporate governance structure of the company.
• Reviewing the remuneration policy.
• Evaluating and assessing the performance of the Supervisory Board and the Management 

Board, as well as their individual members.
• Checking whether a shareholder nominated by the Management Board, other than a regular 

pension fund or an insurer, meets the criteria attached to this group.
• Handling and deciding on reported (potential) conflicts of interest and reports of incidents 

relating to members of the Management Board and furthermore, in conjunction with the 
Management Board, deciding on the nature of the sanction to be applied in the event of 
employees violating the Code of Conduct (in accordance with the Code of Conduct, Incidents 
Regulation and Whistleblowers’ Regulation).

• Approvals, proposals to the General Meeting of Shareholders:
• Providing pre-advice with the financial statements.
• Approval of the annual Investment Plans, the Business Plan and the annual budgets included in 

these plans.
• Approving investments and divestments in excess of €25 million. 
• Proposals for adoption of the remuneration policy and contractual terms of employment of the 

members of the Management Board.
• Appointments:

• Selecting and nominating for appointment members of the Supervisory Board and the 
Management Board.

• Selecting and nominating the external auditor of the company.
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Composition of the Supervisory Board
The composition, organisation and working method of the Supervisory Board are in line with the 
applicable Corporate Governance Code (Van Manen Committee, December 2016). The Supervisory 
Directors are independent within the meaning of the best practice provisions 2.1.7 to 2.1.9 of this 
code. In view of the size of the Supervisory Board, no committees have been set up.

There were no changes in the composition of the Supervisory Board in 2021. At the General Meeting 
of Shareholders of 8 December 2021, the chairman of the Board, mr. Guus Hoefsloot, announced 
that he will not apply for a third term. His position will become vacant as from April 2022. The 
process of recruiting a successor started at the end of 2021. As per April 2022 the first term of mr. 
Heino Vink ends. He is open to reappointment for a second four year term.

Given the size and structure of the company, the secretary of the Management Board also acts as 
the secretary of the Supervisory Board. Moreover, the double position creates added value thanks 
to the secretary’s knowledge of the issues at play in both bodies, of the procedures to be followed 
and the planning of the decision-making.

Working method of the Supervisory 
Board
Practically all subjects in the meetings of the Supervisory Board were prepared in the form of 
memoranda, reports and investment plans of the Management Board. Due to COVID-19 many 
meetings were held digitally (MS Teams), but this had no impact on the coverage and depth. The 
number of meetings (16) was also high in 2021 (2020: 17; 2019: 13).

One of the items in the Customer Satisfaction Survey was enhancement of contacts between the 
shareholders and the Supervisory Board. During 2021 the Supervisory Board had separate meetings 
with twelve investors or their fiduciary managers.

In 2021, as in previous years, the Supervisory Board concluded that the documents prepared by the 
Management Board in general provide a sound basis for the Supervisory Board to perform its duties. 
In areas where the Supervisory Board was of the opinion that more information should be provided, 
this was addressed by the Management Board as was the case with the valuation of the shopping 
centre in Zoetermeer. During the year the Supervisory Board received frequent updates from the 
Management Board to ensure that it was fully informed.

The meetings with the Management Board are thorough and open. In the evaluation of its 
performance, the Supervisory Board found that it maintained sufficient mental independence from 
the Management Board to supervise the latter in a positive, yet critical manner. The results are, of 
course, the subject of discussion in each meeting.
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Attendance and topics for 2021
During the year under review, the Supervisory Board met a total of six times with the Management 
Board, in line with the pre-arranged schedule. In addition, a further ten meetings were held. The 
attendance for these meetings was 100%. In 2021 detailed attention was paid to:

• Shareholders
• Results of the Customer Satisfaction Survey.
• Evaluation of the separate meetings with shareholders or their fiduciary managers.
• Discussions on governance and transparency.
• Progress in funding the sector funds.
• The topics covered by the Management Board in the Informal Shareholder Meetings.

• Strategy and Performance
• Early-stage discussions on the main items to be analysed in the Market & Trend Monitors, 

Investment Policy Plans and the Business Plan.
• Reviewing the plans and quarterly reports, including forecasts and variances relative to budget.
• Relative performance of the sector funds.

• Portfolio and Asset management
• Approval of several proposals for divestments in the Residential and Retail sector, updates on 

progress and control measures in the event of part-sale of retail properties.
• Approval of several investment proposals in the Residential and Retail sector, including 

updates.
• Progress in contracting new pipeline projects.
• Impact of COVID-19 on the result of the Retail sector and the internal organisation.

• Governance and Risk
• Evaluating risk management, control and IT.
• Sustainability and the consequences of SFDR for risks and asset management.
• Market developments and related risk profiles.
• The large downgrade of a shopping centre after a change of appraiser and improvements in the 

valuation process.
• Filling of the vacancy following the announcement that Guus Hoefsloot would not apply for a 

third term.
• Human resources and Organisation

• Staffing of Altera in relation to the requirements of ESG, reporting, additional information 
requests of shareholders.

• Results of Employee Satisfaction Survey.
• Performance-related remuneration and competence-based development of the Management 

Board.
• Update on the digital strategy and the data warehouse project.

With the Control department, the digital manager, the reporting manager and the compliance 
officer a meeting was held covering topics such as the property valuation process, risk management 
process, cyber risk, ISAE 3402 controls and the audit plan of the external auditor. 

The Supervisory Board also met without the presence of the Management Board. During these 
meetings, the Supervisory Board discussed the assessment of the Management Board and the 
evaluation of the Supervisory Board’s performance. Discussions were held with the management 
team and individual board members. A separate meeting was held with the auditor.

On the basis of a number of aspects, the Supervisory Board evaluated its own performance and that 
of its individual members in a plenary meeting. The Management Board’s opinion on these points 
was also taken into account. It was concluded that the performance of the Supervisory Board is 
satisfactory. No problems have been reported.

The main topics of the ordinary meetings are briefly outlined below.

Investment Plans and Business Plan

The Supervisory Board and the Management Board had learned in 2020 that more involvement of 
the investors was required in formulating the investment strategy in the Investment Plans. Therefore, 
in 2021 the discussions with the investors started at an early stage on the basis of draft plans 
and sharing knowledge of internal rates of return, the impact of new acquisitions on returns, ESG 
implications, etc. As a result, the presentation of the final Investment Plans at the Annual General 
Meeting of Shareholders of 8 December 2021 was more effective than in the previous year. 

Quarterly reports and results

The Supervisory Board discussed the quarterly reports drawn up by the Management Board with 
the Board, including the variance analyses between budget, realisation and forecast for the sector 
portfolios, as well as the organisational costs. 

Based on the quarterly reports, the topics discussed included the following: the impact of COVID-19 
on the returns and on the actual payments by tenants, the progress of the intended acquisitions 
and disposals in the Retail sector, progress in acquisitions of new projects in the Residential sector, 
downgrades in the external valuations in the Retail sector. 

The relative performance of the Altera Residential and Retail sectors compared to competitors was 
analysed on the basis of the scorecard prepared by the Management Board.
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The Residential return in 2021 was considerably above budget, thanks to the high revaluation. In 
the case of Retail, the performance in 2021 was above budget due to higher income return and 
capital growth. The favourable scores for sustainability in the GRESB measurements and UN PRI 
demonstrate Altera’s commitment to this subject over many years. Management and fund costs 
in 2021 were in line with 2020 and 5% below budget in absolute terms, due to vacant positions 
and fewer external events. However, to compensate for the under capacity and in order to support 
further growth it is necessary to enhance the workforce in 2022. 

Relationship with shareholders

The open discussions with our shareholders in the general meetings and, moreover, in the individual 
meetings were of great help in gaining insight into their preferences and wishes. To gain a more 
precise understanding of the needs and requirements regarding governance and transparancy the 
Supervisory Board has decided to conduct a survey among the shareholders in the first months of 
2022. The outcome of the survey will help to assess whether improvements are needed and if so 
what adjustments are most effective, considering market practice and formal frameworks among 
other things.

Portfolio changes 

The Supervisory Board is informed about the progress in acquisitions of residential units and 
the progress in the investments and divestments in the Retail fund. The growth of the residential 
portfolio was stimulated by transferring unsecured pipeline to the secured pipeline in 2021, but 
there was less success in attracting new propositions during the year. The residential projects in 
Almere, Amsterdam, The Hague and Zaandam which were added to the secured pipeline in 2021 
had already been approved by the Supervisory Board in 2020. The following divestments within 
the mandate of the Supervisory Board were approved in 2021: Stadshart Zoetermeer comparison 
shopping centre and a portfolio of four residential assets (Deurne, Eerbeek, Groesbeek, Malden). A 
proposal for a Retail portfolio was also discussed, but this did not result in a transaction. 

Governance, risk management, compliance and integrity

The Supervisory Board also reviewed the manner in which the Management Board controlled the 
risks during the year. In addition to the auditor’s report, the ISAE 3402 type 2 was published in 
March 2022 on the operation of the control measures during the year under review. These reports 
provide additional comfort to the Supervisory Board that the processes are robust.

On 9 March 2022, the full Supervisory Board discussed the risk management and the findings of 
the external auditor with the financial director, the senior controller, the reporting manager, the 
compliance officer and the external auditor. Attention was also paid to the valuation of property, the 
activities of the auditor regarding property valuations and adjustments of the valuation procedures 
for large retail properties. Measures taken in 2021 were discussed for IT management in order to 
further limit cyber risks. The Supervisory Board performed a risk assessment itself using Altera’s risk 
tool.

As in previous years, attention was paid to integrity, the measures taken to limit the risk of fraud, 
and any actions taken if deviations were detected. The Management Board did not detect any 
deviations during the year under review. 

The Supervisory Board is grateful to the shareholders for their continued confidence in the 
company and is looking forward to the open discussion on governance and transparency in the 
first half of 2022. Looking back on 2021, the Supervisory Board has been able to establish that the 
Management Board achieved the targets set for 2021 in the Investment and Business Plans and the 
performance criteria for the Management Board (as described in the Remuneration Report).

The past two years COVID-19 had a vast impact on society with many people suffering from 
sometimes prolonged physical and mental health problems. At first, the world economy showed 
signs of a deep recession but later on recovered to nearly pre-COVID-19 levels of activity. Managing 
a company through this pandemic creates different challenges not only in managing the property 
funds but foremost in keeping employees, often working from home, motivated by giving them 
personal attention and stimulate a sense of belonging. This only succeeds when employees 
cooperate and connect thereby maintaining the culture and core values of the company. Now again, 
with the Ukraine war, Altera is entering uncertain times. However, the company is well positioned to 
cope with this situation.

The Supervisory Board would like to express its appreciation to the Management Board and the 
employees for their contribution during COVID-19 in keeping up the organisational sprit of Altera 
and for their efforts in achieving the company’s objectives in this second COVID-19 year. The Board 
wish them well in the developments ahead.

Amstelveen, 23 March 2022

Supervisory Board

G.H. Hoefsloot (chairman)  R. van Wijk-Russchen  H. Vink
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Supervisory Board Members
Members and rotation schedule
Name Date of appointment Nominated by/on behalf of Position Date of retirement

Guus Hoefsloot 17 April 2014; reappointed on 18 April 2018 Independent with no economic  
ties to shareholders

Chairman of the Supervisory Board Annual meeting in 2022

Heino Vink 18 April 2018 Independent with no economic  
ties to shareholders

Supervisory Board member Reappointment on agenda 
annual meeting in 2022

Roelie van Wijk-Russchen 24 June 2020 Independent with no economic  
ties to shareholders

Supervisory Board member Annual meeting in 2024
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Ms Van Wijk has more than 30 years’ management 
experience in the financial sector. From January 
2018 until March 2020 she was Global Head of 
Responsible Business & Public Affairs at Aegon 
AM. Prior to that, she was CEO of TKP Investments 
BV for more than eleven years, during the first 
five of which she also served as a member of 
the board of TKP Pensioen BV. Before joining 
TKP (part of Aegon), she held numerous senior 
investment and management positions, including 
at SNS AM, Philips Pensioenfonds and PGGM and 
amongst other a non-executive board position 
at Spoorwegpensioenfonds. From 2014 to 2020 
she has also served as a board member of Dufas, 
of which she was chair in the last two years. 

Her portfolio currently consists of supervisory roles with an emphasis on social themes, 
such as in het cultural sector and in the field of public housing, legal protection and 
international pensions. 

Guus Hoefsloot served as chairman of the 
Executive Board of Heijmans NV from 2003 to 
2008. He was previously employed by Hollandse 
Beton Groep NV (HBG) from 1984 to 2002, 
including, from 2000 to 2002, as a member of 
the Executive Board. From 1978 to 1984 he held 
various positions at Amro Bank NV and Barclays 
Bank. He acted as member of the Supervisory 
Board of Brabantse Ontwikkelings Maatschappij 
Holding BV from 2013 to 2018. He is chairman  
of the Supervisory Board of Tilburg Bastianen 
Groep BV. 

Heino Vink was employed by Multi Vastgoed, 
Multi Development and Multi Corporation from 
2006 to 2017, from 2011 to 2013 as CEO and 
from 2013 to 2017 as COO. From 1999 to 2006 
he held various positions at NBM Amstelland 
and AM. From 2017 to 2018 he was co-owner of 
Bohemen BV. In 2018 he founded Everglow Real 
Estate Management BV and Glow Real Estate BV, 
both specialists in real estate asset management 
and development. Since 2019, he has been a 
shareholder and managing partner of SB Real 
Estate BV (subsidiary of HAL Investments), a 
specialist in transforming shopping centres by 
means of residential development.

Roelie van Wijk-Russchen  
(b. 1964)

Supervisory Board member 
Joined at 24 June 2020

Guus Hoefsloot  
(b. 1950)

Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
Joined at 17 April 2014;  

reappointed on 18 April 2018

Heino Vink  
(b. 1974)

Supervisory Board member 
Joined at 18 April 2018

CVs of the Supervisory Board members
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Supervisory Board Remuneration Report
Remuneration
Under article 18 of the company’s articles of association, the remuneration of the Management 
Board is determined by the General Meeting of Shareholders. The remuneration of each member 
of the Management Board is determined by the Supervisory Board with due observance of the 
remuneration policy. Shares or share subscription rights shall not be granted. The remuneration 
is consistent with and promotes sound and effective risk management and does not encourage 
risk-taking which is inconsistent with the risk profile, rules or instruments of incorporation of the 
company.

Since 11 December 2019 the basic principle for the Management Board is a remuneration 
between 80-100% of the median-level of the remuneration of a group consisting of five peers. 
The remuneration will include a maximum of 20% variable payment if all criteria have been met 
at above-target level. For 2020 the maximum is set at 12.5% and for 2021 at 16.5%. For the CEO 
and CIO the targets are for 50% based on financial criteria and 50% on non-financial criteria. The 
financial criteria include targets related to 5 years outperformance relative to MSCI, new equity 
and management costs. The non-financial criteria include targets related to the segmentation in the 
retail sector, GRESB ratings, employee satisfaction and business cases including innovation. For 
the CFO the targets are for 30% based on financial criteria and 70% on non-financial criteria. The 
financial criteria include targets related to new equity and management costs. The non-financial 
criteria include targets related to audit and risk findings, GRESB ratings, employee satisfaction and 
business cases including innovation.

The employment contracts of the Management Board members have been entered into for an 
indefinite period and are therefore not limited to four years. According to the Dutch Corporate 
Governance Code, an appointment for four years is primarily intended for exchange-listed 
companies. 

The pension scheme has been changed as of 1 January 2020 for the Altera staff, including 
the Management Board. The CDC scheme has been discontinued in favour of a new defined 
contribution (DC) scheme for pensionable salary up to €112,189 (limit for 2021). For the salary 
above this limit, an amount of 27% is paid as gross remuneration, as in previous years. 

Supervisory Board
Under article 26 of the company’s articles of association, the remuneration of each supervisory 
director is determined by the General Meeting of Shareholders. The remuneration of the Supervisory 
Board was most recently approved by the General Meeting of Shareholders on 18 April 2018. The 
annual remuneration of the Chairman of the Supervisory Board amounts to €27,500 and for other 
members €22,500.
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Management Board Report
Achievements in 2021
Altera has concluded a year which contained several important achievements. 

• Residential: we added 703 apartments to the portfolio in operation and 818 apartments to the 
secured pipeline. A high fund return of 15.2% was realised. 

• Retail: we improved the dominance of the convenience segment from 74% to 84% by investing 
in three convenience assets and divesting six non-convenience assets. As a result, there was less 
impact from COVID-19. The fund return improved strongly to 5.1%. 

Altera has had a strong focus on sustainability & ESG for many years. This year Altera again received 
an excellent score in the GRESB benchmark: Altera Residential became a GRESB Real Estate Global 
Sector Leader in 2021 for the second year running and again achieved a 5-star rating. Altera Retail 
was also awarded this 5-star rating, confirming our efforts in the field of sustainability & ESG. 

As part of our digital strategy (becoming more data-driven and digitally agile), we presented the first 
results of the data warehouse project to our investors at the beginning of 2022.

 
Expanding shareholder base

One of the objectives was to raise new capital for the open-ended funds. For the Residential sector 
we were able to attract new commitments amounting to €209.9 million in 2021 (2020: €208.6 
million) and for Retail €69.4 million (2020: €38.3 million). The entire shareholder base for Altera 
Retail consists of 51% non-domestic, representing 20 investors. We offered liquidity for current 
shareholders in Altera Residential by redeeming €30.2 million (2020: nil) and in Altera Retail €31.0 
million (2020: €47.0 million). With this shareholder base we are confident of realising new growth 
paths for the coming years for both Residential and Retail, aimed at improving the risk-return 
profile.

Changes in Residential fund portfolio

The number of units in operation increased from 4,743 to 5,295 homes through the addition of 703 
new-build apartments from the pipeline and the divestment of 151 homes constructed in 1980-
1989. Our biggest asset, Rotterdam De Groene Kaap, consisting of 356 homes, came into operation 
in the first half of 2021. Although the initial letting was complicated by the coronavirus restrictions, 
it was successful and within budget. The 151 homes were sold 17.5% above the appraisal value. 
During the year five projects consisting of 818 units were secured for our pipeline. The total secured 
pipeline of 1,516 units will be added to the portfolio in operation in the coming three years. 

Changes in Retail fund portfolio

Two supermarkets in Nijmegen and Lisse and a medium-sized convenience centre in Helmond were 
added to the portfolio for a total amount of €28.1 million. We divested six non-convenience assets 
for a total of €38.8 million, of which the furniture mall in Utrecht was the biggest; in total 5.0% 
above book value (most recent appraisal value). As a result of these transactions the share of the 
convenience segment increased from 74% to 84% in 2021, improving the risk return profile further. 
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Excellent results in ESG benchmarks

Altera has for many years pursued continuous improvements in the field of ESG and many activities 
were planned resulting in strong ESG benchmark results. Altera Residential became a GRESB Real 
Estate Global Sector Leader for 2021, repeating the 2020 score. Both Altera Residential and Altera 
Retail again achieved a 5-star rating.

Returns in 2021
The 2021 returns were higher than in 2020 for both funds, as shown in the table. The improvement 
was most significant for Altera Retail, where the fund return increased from -5.4% in 2020 to 5.1% 
2021, as the capital growth in 2021 almost equalled zero. The strong residential market, due to 
persistent scarcity, again resulted in favourable capital growth of 12.8% in 2021 and a fund return 
of 15.2%. This return is among the highest over the last ten years. More details can be found in the 
specific sector fund chapters in this report.

Key figures Residential and Retail  
in 2021 and 2020

Residential Retail
2021 2020 2021 2020

Income return 2.7% 2.7% 5.7% 5.6%
Capital growth 12.8% 6.2% -0.2% -9.6%
Total property return 15.7% 9.1% 5.5% -4.5%
Fund return (IFRS) 15.2% 8.6% 5.1% -5.4%
Fund return (INREV) 16.1% 8.5% 5.2% -5.5%
Dividend return 2.3% 2.3% 5.5% 5.5%
Gross initial yield (theoretical rent/book value) 3.7% 4.0% 7.2% 7.3%
Occupancy rate (average) 98% 99% 94% 93%
New leases (number of units or annual rent)  1,332  799 €12.8 mln €10.5 mln

Economy in 2021

Year-end  
2021

Year-end  
2020

Effect on 
property

Annual growth of Gross Domestic Product 4.5% -3.8% +
Inflation 2.7% 1.3% +
10-year spot interest on Dutch government bonds -0.32% -0.55% 0
Consumer confidence -25 -20 -
Employment growth in number of jobs x 1,000 353  -133 +

The GDP figure above shows the strong recovery from the historically low figure of 2020. But the 
impact of COVID-19 did not end in 2021, and this is reflected in a further decrease in consumer 
confidence. The yearly inflation average of 2.7% is far below the December 2021 - December 2020 
inflation of 5.7%, due in part to high energy prices. The 10-year interest on Dutch government 
bonds is slightly higher, but this had hardly any effect on the wide spread between the real estate 
market and fixed-income securities. 

Residential property market
Even more than in previous years, the residential sector developed positively as an investment 
market in 2021. Purchase prices and rental prices increased further by 20.4% (CBS December 
2021 vs. December 2020) and 4.3% (NVM based on existing contracts; +10.0% new contracts) 
respectively due to extreme scarcity, which is now one of the major topics on the political agenda, 
both nationally and at municipal level. Even the impact of the increase in the transfer tax from 2% to 
8% for rented homes appeared not to have any effect.

Due to substantial shortages, the occupancy rate of rented housing is unprecedentedly high and 
limited to a low level of frictional vacancy pivoting around 1% in the Randstad conurbation. 

The mismatch between supply and demand increased further in 2021 due to the number of 
households outpacing the number of new homes delivered. 
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Economic figures of the NL residential property market 2021 2020 Effect

Population figure (31/12) 17,591,000 17,475,000  +0.7%
Number of households (31/12, 2021P) 8,043,000 8,007,000 +0.6%
Number of completed homes  68,633  69,322 -1.9%
Growth in housing stock (Statistics Netherlands)  77,477  74,565 +3.9%
Annual rise of average sale price per home (Statistics 
Netherlands)

15.2% 8.3% +6.9% pt

Mortgage interest rate (interest on new contracts 
November, DNB)

1.65% 1.85% -0.2% pt

Income growth (CLA wages incl. special remuneration 
elements December, Statistics Netherlands)

+1.9% +2.8% -0.9% pt

Average purchase price per m2 (NVM) €3,922 €3,229 +21.5%
Average transaction rent per m2 (non-regulated, 
Pararius/NVM)

€14.0 €13.0 +7.7%

Various political parties have expressed various wishes for social housing corporations, ranging 
from the provision of new-build affordable housing to increasing the sustainability of their current 
housing stock, replenishing maintenance and withholding rent increases. This poses challenges in 
terms of the solvency and profitability of these investments.

Various large cities and adjacent municipalities are developing policies with various forms of 
regulation, such as capping of rents and maximum rent levels. The figures from institutional investors 
(IVBN) show that institutional investors have been pursuing a moderate rental policy for many years, 
with an average increase in the private sector of inflation plus 1.0% during the 2015-2021 period. 

Altera shares the IVBN’s view that regulation of the mid-range rental segment can lead to an 
opposite effect, namely a slowdown in the production of new homes in this part of the market. As a 
result, the shortage of affordable mid-range rental homes within the €753 - 1,200 per month rental 
segment is likely to continue. The average rent in the portfolio is €1,072 per month.

Retail property market
Although there were many government support measures, the COVID-19 impact on the fashion 
and restaurants sectors particularly has been severe. The number of bankruptcies is still relatively 
low, but it is expected to grow in 2022 due to the lockdowns and easing of support measures. On 
the other hand the turnover in the food segment (supermarkets and specialists) remained strong in 
2021. Altera’s strategy of enhancing the convenience share in the portfolio proved again to be right.

Because of COVID-19, consumers’ shopping behaviour has changed. Consumers now visit the 
shopping centre in a targeted way. Fashion shopping has shifted even more to online during 
COVID-19. As a result, the online stores showed strong growth compared to the previous year. 
Online food sales also showed a stronger increase as a result of COVID-19. The share of online 
supermarket sales compared to total supermarket sales increased less rapidly, because the physical 
supermarkets also showed a strong increase in sales. In 2021 the share of online supermarkets 
increased from 5.0% to 5.4% (source: Supermarkt & Ruimte, November 2021).

 

Economic figures of the NL retail property market 2021 2020 Effect

Retail floor area 30,583,000 30,925,000 -1.1%
Sales outlets 216,000 218,000 -0.9%
Occupancy rate 93.2% 92.5% +0.7% pt
Largest retail chains  
(top 5 in total number of outlets)

1. Kruidvat 
2. Albert Heijn

3. Jumbo
4. Gall & Gall

5. HEMA

1. Kruidvat 
2. Albert Heijn

3. Jumbo
4. Gall & Gall

5. HEMA

No changes 
in top 5

Number of liquidations 137 308 -171
Retail spending (in €x billion) 127.3 122.0 +4.4%
Food 56.4 56.1 +0.6%
Non-food 51.2 50.0 +2.5%
Online 19.7 15.9 +23.6%
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Investor relations
Altera initiated an externally conducted investor satisfaction survey to receive feedback and better 
understand our clients. Altera’s scores were well above the financial services benchmark average. 
One of the suggested improvements was to increase the involvement of the investors in the process 
of the yearly Market & Trend Monitors and Investment Plans. The 2022 plans were prepared in close 
cooperation with the investors. 

The composition of the shareholders’ base is as follows:

Ranking Residential Retail Total (NV)

Top 1 16.9% 19.7% 15.7%
Top 5 53.7% 54.3% 46.4%
Top 10 71.4% 73.3% 61.1%

The shareholder base is well spread in terms of relative volume of the individual shareholders. 

Sustainability & ESG
We have been focusing and progressing on ESG for years. The importance of ESG has been further 
substantiated by regulatory pressure and increased stakeholder attention regarding this subject. 

In 2021, we implemented an integrated climate change framework, which can be found on page 34 
of this report. This focuses on climate mitigation and adaptation. With regard to mitigation, we are 
currently in the process of developing asset-level Paris Proof roadmaps, which will be aggregated to 
portfolio roadmaps. We will plan and budget sustainability retrofits in the multi-annual maintenance 
plans to ensure that the portfolio is net carbon zero well before 2050. Regarding climate adaptation, 
we have conducted an area-level climate risk assessment, with a focus on heat stress, waterlogging, 
drought and flooding. In 2022, we will enrich this data with asset-level information and develop 
plans to mitigate these risks. 

We again focused on better results in GRESB, especially in the Performance aspect. This resulted in 
the Residential fund being declared a GRESB Real Estate Global Sector Leader for the second time 
in a row, and achieving the '5-star' GRESB rating once again (94 points in 2021 and 96 in 2020). 
The Altera Retail fund was again rewarded with the 5-star rating and attained third place in the 
Netherlands (92 points in 2021 and 88 in 2020). 

In 2018 we implemented an ISO 14001-certified Environmental Management System (EMS) and the 
certification has been renewed annually since then. In February 2022 a completely new audit was 
conducted, resulting in a new certification. 

Internal organisation: IT and focus on 
innovation
Altera strives to implement innovations in order to become more data-driven, as well as research-
driven. In 2021 progress was made on preparing a data warehouse, enabling us to bring together 
data from many internal and external sources. The investors will also benefit from this initiative, as 
detailed performance, portfolio and asset data will become available as of the first quarter of 2022. 
ESG requires a lot of building-related data, for which a new software tool was implemented in 2021. 
In 2022 the required data is to collected.

The first RPA (robotic process automation) tool started this year and this robot checks bank 
receipts from tenants with the contract data as part of Altera’s anti-money laundering procedures. 
New RPA projects will be delivered in 2022 and this will result in more efficiency and avoidance of 
repetitive work. 

Altera’s private cloud-based IT infrastructure performed without any breakdowns in 2021 and staff 
were serviced well while working from home. Obligatory periodic awareness training sessions are 
part of Altera’s control framework. New IT tools will be implemented in 2022 in order to further 
reduce the risk of unauthorised access by hackers. Videoconferencing tools were installed to service 
hybrid working situations, which are expected to become standard in post-Coronavirus times.
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Internal organisation:  
World-class Workplace
Altera strives for continuous improvement in employee satisfaction 
and this is measured on a yearly basis by an employee satisfaction 
survey. We are proud that the employee satisfaction survey at the 
end of 2021 resulted in a score of 7.9 and a net promotor score 
(NPS) of 49%. As a result Altera was honoured to be declared a 
World-class Workplace 2021 by Effectory. This means that Altera 
has a top-10 position among the best employers in the Netherlands.

In 2021 five new employees joined Altera, of whom three were additions to the workforce 
(performance & valuation analyst, ESG project manager and a junior compliance officer) and two 
were replacements (legal counsel and technical manager Retail). Two employees left Altera in 2021.

At the end of 2021 the headcount was 42 (39 FTE). Several positions will be added to the workforce 
in 2022 in the field of acquisition, investor relations, IT and property data, control/risk/compliance.

Risk and compliance
In 2021 Altera decided to increase its staff with a dedicated risk manager (vacant position). Up until 
now this role has been part of the senior controller role. But the field of risk has evolved in recent 
years with regard to ESG (as the first parts of the Sustainable Finance Disclosure Regulation (SFDR) 
became effective on 10 March 2021) and risk measurement. 

The RISK-ID tool proved to be helpful in risk assessments performed by staff. The assessments are 
more efficient and effective. As official guidelines (and interpretations) in relation to anti-money 
laundering (AML) legislation are updated frequently, Altera amends the internal screening policy 
several times a year. A lot of effort is made in KYC screenings and personnel are trained during the 
year in order to further enhance the awareness. 

New rules relating to ESG, the first parts of the Sustainable Finance Disclosure Regulation (SFDR), 
became effective on 10 March 2021 and the preparation for compliance with this new legislation 
started this year. The compliance officer put a lot of effort into amending internal policies, training 
staff on AML screening and organising meetings on integrity. A junior compliance officer has been 
added to the team. Altera has registered its pseudo UBOs (ultimate beneficial owners) at the Dutch 
Chamber of Commerce.

Specific effort was made to mitigate further the risk of major changes in valuations, especially due 
to a change of appraiser. The position of Performance & Valuation Analyst has been added to the 
staff and for large assets in the Retail sector the valuation process has been enhanced by making a 
change after one year and with the introduction of a co-signatory (the former lead-appraiser) of the 
appraiser report.

Research
In 2021, the Research Department further optimised the process of performance analysis. The 
frequency of the annual performance analysis was increased to quarterly. This provides better 
insight into the performance development over the course of the year, creating the possibility of 
making adjustments where necessary and improving the forecast of the annual results.

The increasing importance of a thorough analysis of the valuations, which also takes place on 
a quarterly basis, has led to the creation of a new position within the Research Department: 
Performance & Valuation Analyst. This position was filled by the end of 2021. In 2022, the quality of 
the performance analysis and the valuation analysis will be further optimised as a result. 

The Research Department plays an important part in preparing the annual Market & Trend Monitor 
and Investment Plan. This process has been optimised by better integration of the monitor in the 
Investment Plan, making it easier to understand the choices made in the Investment Plan. 

The Research Department is responsible for updating and managing the Quality Assessment Model 
(QAM). This model assigns a quality score based on objective variables to the assets in the portfolio, 
which also results in a quality score for the portfolio as a whole. In 2021, the Research Department 
began preparing an interactive explanatory note, which will be made available to shareholders and 
direct stakeholders in 2022. 

The Research Department has also made an effort to share knowledge. In addition to publications 
and presentations at seminars, a course in Market Analysis has been provided at the Amsterdam 
School of Real Estate (ASRE) since 2021. This course teaches students how to conduct thorough 
market research that links content to practice. A guest lecture was also given at the Dutch Green 
Building Council (DGBC) on the added value of a higher BREEAM score in the real estate valuation 
of retail. 

The Research Department is also closely involved in the digital strategy, in particular the 
construction of the data warehouse. This will enable the Research Department to include more 
internal and external data in the research analysis. 
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Russian invasion of Ukraine
We are deeply concerned by the violence taking place in Ukraine. In cooperation with local 
municipalities and other members of the IVBN, we will investigate how Altera can be of an direct 
help for the Ukrainian people.

Besides the devastating impact on people’s lives, it poses a threat to international stability and on 
the global economy. Although, Altera has neither Russian or Ukrainian assets and shareholders, 
the Russian invasion in Ukraine will have an impact on the economy of which Altera’s business 
is part of. The most severe threat is the impact on inflation due to sharp increases of energy 
prices, which already started in 2021, and disruptions of the supply chains. Although our rental 
contracts have indexation clauses, it may be uncertain if high inflation can be completely 
charged to the tenants. Cost of living for the residential tenants is increasing and this 
may have a negative effect on the rent collection. The spending power of consumers may 
decrease and then result in lower turnover for retailers. Moreover, high inflation constitutes 
a driver for a higher interest rate. Although Altera has no leverage, higher interest rates may 
influence the yields of our real estate assets.

Commitment
Finally, we want to thank our employees for their unabated commitment and efforts 
during the past year. The employees showed maximum flexibility, professionalism 
and a sense of responsibility in this second challenging COVID-19 year. Most of the 
time they worked from home, performing their business responsibilities and taking 
care of the family. We were able to close 2021 as a year in which almost all of the 
targets were realised and a sound foundation was laid for 2022 with our recent 
acquisitions and new share capital. 

We would also like to express our appreciation and gratitude to our 
shareholders and Supervisory Board for their support and continued 
involvement in the past year. 
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CVs of the Management Board
Jaap van der Bijl (b. 1959), CEO

Nationality Dutch
Joined 1 November 2016
Appointed 1 November 2016
Previous positions • Managing Director Investor Relations, Syntrus Achmea Real Estate & 

Finance (2013-2016)
• Senior Head of Sales & Client Services North West Europe AXA Real 

Estate (2008-2013)
• Investor Relations Director, Achmea Vastgoed (2002-2008)
• Senior Manager Product Management, Achmea Pensioenen  

(2000-2002)
• Pension Fund Manager, PVF Achmea (1998-2000)
• Director of Shipping & Printing Industry Secretariat (1996-1998)
• Various positions at GAK/UWV (1980-1995)

Education Various courses
Additional positions • Member of INREV Fund Manager Advisory Council (2019-)

Cyril van den Hoogen (b. 1963), CFO

Nationality Dutch
Joined 1 February 2001
Appointed 4 July 2006
Previous positions • KPMG Accountants NV (1987-2001)

• From 1995: Senior Manager Real Estate Sector Group
• From 1987: Auditor

Education Master’s degree in Business Economics, Postdoctoral degree in 
Accountancy; Postdoctoral degree in Real Estate Studies

Additional position • Board member of Stichting Redex (2016-)

Erwin Wessels (b. 1963), CIO

Nationality Dutch
Joined 1 January 2014
Appointed 1 May 2014 (resolution adopted by GMS 11 December 2013)
Previous positions • NSI (2009-2013)

• Asset Management Director, Offices and Industrial (2013)
• Director of Construction and Development (2009-2012)

•  Dura Vermeer Vastgoed (1998-2009)
• Project Manager (1998-2003), Deputy Director (2004-2006)  

and Management Board member (2007-2009)
• Business Manager, Van der Velde Bouw (1989-1995) and  

Vermeer Bouw (1995-1997)
Education Bachelor’s degree in Building Engineering, Postdoctoral degree in  

Real Estate Studies
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Implementation of best practices
Various organisations issue guidelines and make recommendations that contribute to the 
professionalisation of the institutional property sector. This leads to a further improvement in 
transparency in the sector. The organisations of importance to Altera in this context are INREV, 
IVBN, StiVAD, MSCI, IVS and RICS. For sustainability & ESG they are UNPRI, DGBC and GRESB 
(see ESG report). These organisations usually also supply benchmarks and best practices that are 
relevant to Altera. We also play an active part in various working groups in these organisations. Best 
practices are also realised by the implementation of asset management and valuation management 
systems, ISAE 3402 reporting and ESG certifications.

INREV
INREV (European Association for Investors in Non-listed Real Estate Vehicles) was founded in 2002 
and Altera has been a member since its foundation. Since then INREV has published a range of 
guidelines and recommendations which have subsequently been incorporated into the periodically 
updated ‘INREV Guidelines’. INREV has also developed a set of corporate governance standards 
with the possibility of self-assessments (see the Corporate Governance section elsewhere in the 
annual report). Altera achieved a score of 99%.

Altera’s self-assessment for 2021 is shown below:

Topics 2021 2020 Difference

Corporate Governance 95 95 -
Fee & Expense 100 94 6
Liquidity 97 97 -
INREV NAV 100 100 -
Performance 100 - N/A
Reporting 97 96 1
Sustainability 100 100 -
Valuation 100 100 -
Total Average 99 97 2

These guidelines and recommendations can be downloaded from the INREV website  
(www.inrev.org). Where applicable, having regard to the structure of the sectoral funds and  
the management organisation, we fulfil these guidelines to a large extent.

INREV has made recommendations for amended net asset value calculations, with allowance 
being made for various adjustments compared to regular IFRS reporting. These adjustments are 
only applicable to Altera to a limited extent. The most relevant adjustment for Altera is the one for 
transfer tax. Since 30 September 2019 Altera has adopted the INREV NAV as the trading net asset 
value. See the INREV tables with accompanying audit report on pages 152-160. 

The definition of management and fund costs employed by Altera coincides with INREV’s definition. 
We relate the management and fund costs to the average assets under management (property 
investments plus liquid assets available for reinvestment).

INREV distinguishes two criteria for these costs: the TGER, which is the total global expense ratio 
(management and fund costs of the fund divided by either the average net asset value or the gross 
asset value), and the REER, the real estate expense ratio, which also takes other types of cost into 
account.

Altera’s total global expense ratio for 2021 (all sectors combined) is shown below:

versus gross asset value 
(INREV policies)

versus net asset value 
(INREV policies)

versus assets under  
management (Altera policies)

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Management and 
fund costs  
(in € thousands)

 8,940  8,918  8,940  8,918  8,940  8,918 

Total expense ratio  
(in basis points)

32.5 34.7 33.2 36.1 33.8 35.2
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The total global expense ratio (TGER) and the real estate expense ratio (REER) in basis points 
versus the gross asset value (GAV) by sector is as follows:

(in % of gross asset value)
INREV TGER INREV TGER INREV REER

Average 2017-2021 2021 2020 2021 2020

Residential 0.357% 0.324% 0.346% 0.87% 0.89%
Retail 0.356% 0.329% 0.349% 1.37% 1.35%

Total for all sectors 0.357% 0.325% 0.347% 0.98% 1.01%

The differences in the total global expense ratio by sector arise mainly from valuation costs and 
non-deductible value-added tax.

According to the most recent market survey by INREV (dating from 26 October 2021), the average 
management expenses of core property funds are 92 basis points (after the performance fee, which 
Altera does not use) of the gross asset value and 128 basis points of the net asset value. Altera is far 
below this level, at 32.5 basis points in the case of gross asset value in 2021 and 33.2 in the case 
of net asset value. We have made the completed INREV Due Diligence Questionnaires available to 
prospective shareholders. These questionnaires are updated annually.

INREV has drawn up a ‘Standard Data Delivery Sheet’ (SDDS) so that the affiliated investment 
managers can report to their shareholders every quarter in the prescribed way. Altera issues the 
INREV SDDS to shareholders every quarter.

MSCI Netherlands Property Index
Since 1995, MSCI has provided a property benchmark for the performance of investments in Dutch 
property, subdivided into sectors. For residential properties the MSCI Netherlands Property Index 
consists of 31 portfolios with a market value of €44.0 billion, for retail properties 26 portfolios 
with a value of €7.8 billion. The participants provide their valuation, transaction and operational 
information, and the returns are calculated on this basis (time-weighted and in accordance with the 
GIPS standards). The valuations take place in accordance with the applicable valuation standards 
of the International Valuation Standards Council (IVS) and the Regulations for Business Property 
(plus Addendum for Corporate Property) of the Dutch Register of Real Estate Valuers (Nederlands 
Register Vastgoed Taxateurs - NRVT). We monitor compliance with these standards in our external 
valuations. We reconcile the data supplied to MSCI with the figures in the financial statements.

IVBN
The Netherlands Association of Institutional Investors in Property (Vereniging van Institutionele 
Beleggers in Vastgoed, Nederland - IVBN) is an interest group whose members together represent 
some 90% of the institutional property assets in the Netherlands.

The members must comply with a Code of Ethics and a model internal code of conduct has also 
been drawn up. A specific code has been drawn up for the sale of residential rental properties 
which takes the interests of the tenants into account. We comply with these codes, and the code 
of conduct for our employees is partly based on them. We also maintain a transaction register for 
property transactions. On the Integrity platform, the members exchange experiences on the practical 
aspects of integrity risk.
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“ CAS helps us in 
making informed 
decisions about 
climate-adaptive 
buildings”

Based on open-source data from the CAS Climate Impact Atlas, Hasse Goosen and his colleagues 
have developed a standard approach to help Altera assess the physical climate risks in its real 
estate portfolio. Rudy Verstappen, Altera’s Research Manager ESG, met with dr. Hasse Goosen, 
director at CAS, at their amazing Bussum-based water tower. 'We’re both in it for the long term.'

Meet dr. Hasse Goosen, one of the founders of Climate Adaptation Services (CAS). CAS was set  
up as part of the Knowledge for Climate research programme (www.knowledgeforclimate.nl;  
2008–2014) to continue the programme’s work and safeguard the expertise and experience 
acquired in this project. Hasse Goosen: “What we typically do is we map the climate, its changes 
and its impact, in partnership with knowledge institutes and consultancy firms and publish this 
information in the Climate Impact Atlas (www.klimaateffectatlas.nl). This atlas hosts free & open 
national climate data, based on the best available knowledge, with transparency on the methods. 
We’ve also been developing and managing the Netherlands’ leading climate adaptation platform – 
The Knowledge Portal for Climate (www.spatialadaptation.com) – since 2014.”

Today, CAS is the go-to-address for mapping the effects of climate change for many city councils, 
water boards and provinces throughout the Netherlands, even in several other regions around 
the world. Goosen: “Our end users play a vital role in developing CAS products to ensure that our 
products match their expertise and requirements. This in turn helps them make their regions more 
resilient to climate change.”

Heat stress and flooding

Rudy Verstappen: “ESG has been one of the main pillars of our strategy for our shareholders for 
many years. In the past, it was mainly the financial aspect of investments that counted, now the 
ESG impact of investments has become extremely important.” This is why Altera has been working 
on making its portfolio more sustainable for over 10 years. “We see the consequences of climate 
change everywhere, think of heat stress and flooding. To us, it was important to find concrete 
sustainability solutions to make new and existing buildings more sustainable. Altera has high 
ambitions with regards to ESG.”

Hasse Goosen: “Often as humanity we only wake up once a disaster unfolds, when things start 
to change. When it comes to climate, we want to avoid this at all costs. In the past, it was indeed 
governments who were looking for climate information, but now we see and increased demand 
from private parties. We are pleased that Altera is one of the first real estate companies to embrace 
climate risk mitigation in order to manage climate risks.”

https://www.knowledgeforclimate.nl
https://www.klimaateffectatlas.nl
https://www.spatialadaptation.com
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Cooperation between CAS and Altera

CAS typically investigates the precise locations of Altera's properties. Goosen explains: “In the 
climate effect atlas we look at the expected climate effects at those locations. A risk classification is 
then assigned to each climate effect – such as flooding, heat stress or foundation damage. In other 
words, Altera receives insights into the risks of a particular climate effect for each of its locations. Is 
there, for example, a high risk, an average risk or a low risk of flooding?” Hasse Goosen emphasises 
that this is a so-called gross risk. “After all, we only have a view of the surroundings; we don't know 
what climate adaptation measures have already been taken for a building in that location. If building 
installations are on the roof of a building, the ultimate risk of flood damage – the net risk – is of 
course lower than if systems have been situated in the basement.”

Then it is Altera's turn. With the insight gained into the vulnerabilities of a location, the real estate 
investor sets to work. Altera cannot always minimise the net risk of existing and new construction 
by itself. “In climate change related matters, we need each other, as practice has shown.” Rudy 
Verstappen says. Altera has already used the CAS tool in several real estate projects, such as in 
Rotterdam-based 'De Groene Kaap', a project in the Katendrecht district of Rotterdam consisting 
of a series of residential towers. In order to counteract the city heat and thus the emergence of 
heat stress, Altera has added lots of greenery, for example in the form of a large courtyard garden 
meandering between the buildings. “The CAS tool has helped us to understand the gross risks 
involved.” 

Climate-proof buildings

In this way, CAS helps build climate-proof – and hence future-proof – buildings and ultimately 
prevents potential climate disasters. Rudy Verstappen: “CAS indeed helps us in making informed 
decisions about climate-adaptive building. And the good thing is, we’re both in this for the long 
term.” Hasse Goosen agrees and adds: “Our guiding principle is ‘keep it simple’. We focus on 
providing local civil servants, water experts, consultants and members of the public as well as real 
estate professionals like Altera with the information they need. Moreover, we aim to make our 
products easily accessible and visually appealing so that this information is understandable for the 
widest possible audience.” 

About Climate Adaptation Services 
Climate Adaptation Services (CAS) specialises in combining information about climate change with 
innovative communication and visualisation techniques including story maps, apps and websites. 
CAS develops easily accessible tools to help convey and explain often-complex climate-related 
issues. These not only show where, when and how our climate is changing, but also how severe 
these changes are and how humanity should prepare for them. 

Website: www.climateadaptationservices.com

https://www.climateadaptationservices.com
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Trends and developments property market and 
Outlook
Trends and developments in the 
investment property market
Despite the continuation of the COVID-19 pandemic, Dutch economic development was at a 
satisfactory level. Unemployment remained low, and bankruptcies were still at a low level. However 
some groups suffer from the circumstances and especially investors had to deal with a lot of 
uncertainties. 

Despite this uncertainties, investors remain active on the Dutch real estate markets. Nevertheless 
the total investment level was slightly lower than in the previous four years, but higher than in the 
period 2011-2016. Both local and foreign investors were active, especially in the office and logistic 
markets, with the last one as the great winner of the year. Retail investment dropped slightly, partly 
due to the 2020 year-end race (to avoid the higher RETT) which caused a dip in the first half of 
2021. Investors begin to understand the risk differences between convenience and other retail; a 
large proportion of the increased risks in other retail have been incorporated into the yields, while 
yields (so the perceived risks) decreased in the convenience market. 

Residential also suffered from the 2020 year-end rally, and the investment volume didn’t recover 
in the rest of the year because of a lack of supply in both new construction and in existing stock. 
Demand stayed high, therefore a decrease in yields was visible.

 
Development of investment volumes per sector in € x million 2011-2021 
(source: PropertyNL; various real estate agents)
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As in 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic influenced the occupier markets, which is beside investor 
demand, one of the main drivers of initial yield development. Residential markets were barely hit, 
comparison retail on contrary suffered again a lot from the lockdowns which occurred during parts 
of 2021. On the other hand, food retailers like supermarkets and fresh food retailers, performed 
quite well in 2021. Yields for residential showed therefore in 2021 again a small decline, while the 
gap between interest rate and yield remained stable. Also in the for Altera relevant convenience 
retail segment, decrease of the initial yield resulted in capital growth. 

Gross initial yield at top locations and the 10-year interest rate 
(sources: MSCI (Yield figures Q3); DNB (interest rate))
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Development number of Pension funds in the Netherlands 
(source: DNB statistics, Q3 figures)
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Development real estate investments Dutch pension funds
(source: Q3 2021, DNB)
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Dutch pension funds’ total investments in real estate grew from €126 billion to €141 billion, while 
the share of real estate investments remained stable at around 9%. 

Outlook
Residential
Although the demographic fundamentals remain strong and the economic outlook for The 
Netherlands is quite positive, although the years with double digit capital growth may be behind 
us. Rising interest levels as well as growing construction prices and energy prices may cause a 
prudential market approach of both residential consumers and investors. Because the housing 
shortage will endure, we expect a modest capital growth and a slight recovery of the income return. 
The latter can be restricted by governmental measures. 

Retail
The retail market is highly dependent on the recovery of COVID-19, even though the economic 
outlook is positive. The measures taken by the government have led to large turnover decreases for 
non-food. Virtually all retailers in non-food are in financial difficulties and it will become clear which 
retailers will survive. The demand for retail units will decrease in comparison areas, putting pressure 
on market rents. Because comparison shopping areas have been showing negative capital growth 
for some time, comparison shopping areas become interesting again and demand and the number 
of transactions will start to rise again. COVID-19 has accelerated the shift of turnover to online, 
especially in non-food, and it is expected that this partly concerns a structural shift. Also food has 
to do with the shift of turnover to online. However, the impact is much smaller, because food in 
the physical retail shops also record strong turnover increases during COVID-19. In convenience 
retail areas demand for retail space remains stable, leading to stable market rents. Demand from 
the investment market will remain high, as convenience has proven to be an attractive investment 
product as it is not sensitive to cyclical fluctuations. As a result, yields will continue to decline 
resulting in capital growth. 
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ESG report
In this ESG report, Altera accounts for its ESG policy and the results achieved. These results 
contribute to a more sustainable and liveable society, whilst maintaining ‘future-proof’ portfolios 
and assets. As a management company, Altera invests in real estate in the Netherlands in a 
responsible, transparent and ethical way. To this end, an ESG Strategy has been drawn up that 
forms an integral part of our business strategy on the acquisition and operation of real estate. This 
includes our ESG Framework, which consists of three pillars which describe the way in which Altera 
does business, our position in society and the way in which we engage with our stakeholders in our 
business supply chain.

Rationale for ESG
The aim of the ESG policy is to increase the future-proofness of our portfolios and assets:

• Balancing the interests of main stakeholders: Investors – Tenants – Society
• Anticipating upcoming legal requirements & alignment with governmental institutions and 

supervisory authorities
• Creating dual returns: good financial and ESG returns, due to improvement of risk/reward + 

predictable and lower capital and operational expenditures

It ensures that our ESG strategy creates value by:

• Improved risk management, including incorporation of climate related risks (transition and 
physical risks)

• Increased direct return (cash flow) and indirect return (capital value), due to better and more 
resilient assets

• Alignment with stakeholder interests and standards, which results in increased confidence in  
the manager

Impact of ESG

Cash 
flow

Capital 
value Risk

ESG
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Altera ESG Strategy
The ESG Strategy Framework consists of three pillars. The sector reports further display the associated KPIs.

1. Our Sustainable  
Real Estate

Portfolios and assets

What?

2. Alignment of interests  
of our Stakeholders

Investors, Tenants & Society

For Whom?

3. Our Responsible 
Management Platform

Organisation, Employees, Suppliers

How?

1. Our Sustainable Real Estate
• Climate change mitigation

• Saving: reduce our greenhouses gas emissions  
by more energy efficient buildings

• Generating: on-site renewable energy
• Greening: purchase of green energy

• Climate change adaptation (resilience):
• Increasing the adaptive capacity of our assets to 

adequately adjust to climate change
• Reduce water consumption and waste production
• 100% asset level certification:

• GPR for Residential and BREEAM for Retail 

2. Alignment of interests of our Stakeholders
• Investors

• Compliance with laws and regulations
• Transparency about ESG policy and performance
• Maintaining excellent ESG track record

• Tenants
• High tenant satisfaction 
• Increased focus on tenant engagement

3. Our Responsible Management Platform
• Employees considered as strategic asset
• ESG embedded in solid management systems and  

processes
• Suppliers: long term partnership and strict screening
• Corporate Social Responsibility: display of good  

corporate behaviour
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Climate change 
mitigation

ESG Risks 
(article 3 & 6 

SFDR)

Climate 
transition risks

Paris Proof 
Commitment

KPIs in ESG 
Framework

Roadmap 
per asset & 

portfolio

Translation to 
MY-MP & asset 

plans

Annual 
measurement 

kWh/m2.yr CO2 
/m2.yr (Scope 

1, 2 & 3 ) 

Research 
alignment  
with DGBC 
Paris Proof  
& CRREM

Tenant  
engagement

Sustainable acquisitions  
(Schedule of Requirements)

Resilient acquisitions  
(Schedule of Requirements)

Reduced 
exposure  
(net risk)

Saving 
Generating 
Greening

TCFD  
section

Assurance 
report ESG KPIs

GRESB

SDG Impact 
Assessment

PAI indicators / 
Article 8 SFDR

Climate change 
adaptation

Physical 
climate risks

Climate  
resilience policy

Investigate 
possibility 

joining SBTi

KPIs in ESG 
Framework

Area (gross) 
& Building 
(net) Risk 

Assessment

Vision ImplementationPolicy AccountabilityMeasurement

MY-MP = Multi Year Maintenance Plans
PAI = Principal Adverse Impacts
TCFD = Taskforce on Climate-related Financial Disclosures

1. Our Sustainable Real Estate

Climate framework
Altera has developed in-house a Climate Framework. This displays the integrated manner we climate-related matters into account. It starts with a vision on both climate change mitigation and adaptation, 
which is being translated into policy. This subsequently is being implemented and measured. And finally, we show accountability for the results. 

Mitigating measures:  
Building-& Area-level
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Paris proof commitment
To ensure that Altera is on the right decarbonisation pathway to meet (inter)national standards, 
guidelines and requirements, such as the Paris Climate Agreement and the Dutch Climate Law, we 
have committed ourselves to the following statement:

Ambition  The Residential and Retail Fund will be Paris Proof 
before the year 2050.

Realisation  We develop a roadmap for each portfolio, implement 
mitigating measures and show an annual reduction in 
intensity.

Monitor  We externally verify the goals including in the calculation 
all assets that are in our possession.

Transparency   Annually, we publish the average consumption figures 
kWh/m2 and CO2-emissions at portfolio level.

Promote  We show leadership towards our stakeholders, such as 
shareholders, tenants and suppliers.

Roadmap to Net Zero Carbon Portfolios

Decarbonisation pathways are being developed per asset and per portfolio to ensure each portfolio 
makes sufficient progress against the set target. Measures are being translated into sustainable 
multi-year maintenance planning (MY-MP), which is an integral part of the Asset Plans. 

A three layered approach (saving, greening, generating) has been adopted towards lowering our 
climate change mitigation exposure:

• Saving: focuses on the reducing energy demand of the buildings by implementing energy efficient 
measures

• Generating: focuses on the production of renewable energy, currently mainly by means of solar 
panels

• Greening: is the purchase of (the remaining required) green electricity and gas (or available 
substitutes)

1990
Baseline year  
Paris Climate Agreement

2000
Inception Altera

2022
Roadmap per asset  
& per portfolio

2023 and onwards
Consistent implementation 
roadmaps

2030
Meet first milestone  
Dutch Climate Act

Before 2050
Both portfolios are  
Net Zero Carbon
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Climate change policy and water and waste reduction 
Altera has a proven solid track record in the field of environmental sustainability. A major 
contribution in achieving this was made by the sustainability measures that were put in place 
(including monitoring of these measures). In order to maintain this leading position (in the peer 
group) Altera will continue to optimise with a focus on “saving - generating - greening”. 

Saving

For its real estate portfolio, Altera focuses on reducing energy and water consumption and waste 
generation by investing in conservation measures and encouraging tenants. The energy labels 
provide insight into energy consumption. Altera plans to increase the share of green energy labels 
(A-C) and reduce the energy intensity (kWh/m2.yr) and carbon intensity (CO2/m2.yr) by taking the 
following interventions (not exhaustive): 

Measures Residential Retail

LED lighting (common areas)
HR++ glass
Insulation (hot/cold)
More efficient central heating boilers 
Efficient elevators and escalators
Other (energetic) and data driven sustainable improvements to 
achieve improved BREEAM In-Use and GPR scores
Tenant engagement to obtain actual energy, water and waste 
consumption data and nudging to reduce their annual consumption
Addition of high-sustainable real estate to the portfolios

For water saving, Altera is investing in conservation measures and providing encouragement for 
measures to save water in the kitchen utilities, shower, mixer taps and toilets. In the common areas, 
such as toilet facilities in retail centres, Altera reduces the water consumption by installing water-
saving taps and toilets. For reducing waste generation, Altera is investing in conservation measures, 
such as waste separation, and providing encouragement for tenants.

Generating

Sustainable energy has been generated from solar panels for some years in the residential portfolio. 
All Single Family Homes (SFH) have been fitted with solar panels. Where technically possible eight 
solar panels per home were installed. Solar panels have been placed on most multiple multi-family 
homes. For the retail portfolio, surveys have been carried out to determine which properties can 
be fitted with solar panels. The inclusion of solar panels is a standard requirement (in the SoR) for 
newbuild properties for both residential and retail. We will continue to place solar panels, when 
this is technically feasible, insurable and when we have approval from co-owners (in shared-owned 
buildings). 

Greening

For the greening of our portfolio, Altera has been investing in the purchase of green energy (in cases 
where we enter into contracts ourselves) for a number of years, resulting in a large proportion of our 
portfolios already being supplied with green electricity. We plan to switch to 100% green energy in 
the common areas. In the case of shared ownership we will engage with the other owners during the 
annual general meetings. 

Free of natural gas
In accordance with the targets set by the Paris Agreement and the Dutch government’s climate 
agreement, the Netherlands must have totally replaced natural gas by 2050. As of 2018, Altera has 
included a provision in the Schedule of Requirements (SoR) stating that newbuild homes must no 
longer be fuelled by natural gas. Natural gas will be phased out in the existing portfolios, depending 
partly on the age of installations present and municipalities’ plans for heating networks. Currently, 
34% of our residential properties are free of natural gas.
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Climate change adaptation
Altera aims to monitor and increase the adaptive capacity of its assets to adequately adjust to 
climate change in order to moderate potential damage. 

In 2021, an extensive asset level risk assessment has been conducted to determine which assets 
are most susceptible to the most likely effects of climate change, such as flooding, waterlogging, 
drought and heat stress. This provided us with a first analysis of the adaptive capacity of our 
portfolios. The climate risk scan has determined the gross risks, which is the hazard times the 
exposure. The net risk (which is resistance or lack of resistance of the assets to the hazard) is not 
included in the conducted climate risk scan. 

The figures below display the average results of the gross climate risk scan. 

Heat stress 

(medium)

Location-specific probability 

of flooding (very low)

Waterlogging 

(medium)

Flood depth 

(very low)

Excessive 

groundwater 

levels (low) 
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Pole rot
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Heat stress 
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of flooding (low)

Waterlogging 
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Flood depth 
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Wildfires 

(very low)
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Residential Retail

Climate Risk Scan

Gross risk
• Hazard: the threatening event (including its probability and geographical extent).
• Exposure: the assets present in affected areas.

Net risk
• Vulnerability: the resistance or lack of resistance of the assets to the hazard.
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Future steps
The conducted scan was a gross risk scan, which did not include asset-specific characteristics. For 
each of the assets with results ‘high’ or ‘very high’ an analysis is internally being conducted whether 
these findings can be verified at the asset. If the risks have been verified, we investigate if mitigating 
measures can be taken to reduce the risk, which we subsequently include in the multi-annual 
maintenance budgets. Some examples of interventions within the scope of Altera are the placement 
of green/blue roofs, sun blinds, rain barrels, and increase of green or water in gardens. 

We currently assess different consultants and tools which can help us to determine the net climate 
risks on a asset-level to ensure that Altera maintains control and move forward on this topic. We 
plan to identify the potential impacts of the risks on 1) the asset value, 2) the expected capital and 
operational expenditures and 3) tenant satisfaction. 

Furthermore, by working together with other real estate investors, municipalities and regional 
water authorities we can increase the resilience of the areas (neighborhoods) where the assets 
are located. In this regard, we have joined Convenant BouwAdaptief, which provides us with the 
necessary tools and network to implement climate adaptive measures in cooperation with other 
stakeholders. 

Finally, we have included a climate risk in the hold/sell analysis and in the asset due diligence during 
the acquisition phase. When climate risks are high, extra measures will be included during the 
development of the asset. 

See page 46 (Climate-Related Risks and Opportunities) for more information on how we deal with 
climate-related financial disclosure.

Acquisition and divestment
Acquisition of sustainable assets
• The key principle in acquisitions of new properties is that they increase the sustainability of the 

property portfolio, which is laid down in a Schedule of Requirements (SoR). 
• The SoR for newbuild properties is reviewed annually by the departments Acquisition, Portfolio 

Management and Research & Strategy. Adjustments are made in order to comply with new and 
existing laws and regulations and additional requirements set by Altera to deploy new and 
existing sustainability initiatives at an early stage. 

• The contribution made by an acquired property to the overall sustainability of the property 
portfolio is determined on the basis of the associated building certification score (GPR/
BREEAM). The score of the property to be acquired must have a positive effect on the portfolio 
average. 

• Examples of sustainability elements which are included in the Schedule of Requirements are: 
• The ambition to align our assets with the EU taxonomy requirements. This means 10% lower 

Primary Energy Demand (PED), than required by BENG 2. For single family homes this results in 
a PED of 27 kWh/m2.yr and for multifamily homes 45 kWh/m2.yr. 

• Climate adaptive measures, such as placement of green roofs. 

Investment proposal
In line with the requirements stated in article 3 and 6 of the SFDR, we included a section about 
climate related risks in all investment proposals. With regard to transition risks and physical climate 
risks, in each investment proposal a risk assessment is conducted and mitigating measures are 
included when high risks have been identified. Stichting CAS developed a dedicated tool for Altera 
to determine the most important physical climate risks.

Divestment: Responsible exit
• An important part of being a sustainable real estate manager is that we will ensure a responsible 

exit when the investment cycle of an asset ends.
• This means that the buyer will have a clear insight in the sustainability performance of the asset, 

since it will have a valid energy label and sustainability certificate (GPR for Residential and 
BREEAM for Retail). If desired we can also provide the actual sustainability performance data.

• Furthermore, Altera will take its responsibility by not intending to sell assets that do not meet 
its ESG requirements and that it is willing to invest in renovations if required. For example, for 
Residential this means that we will make the necessary investments, in anticipation of a sale, to 
ensure that the energy label will not be below level C.
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Improvement of the quality of the data and asset level certification
Measurable and tangible results are increasingly playing an essential role in strategic and 
operational decision-making in real estate. For some time now, Altera has been systematically 
gathering property-level data, such as energy performance, greenhouse gas emissions, water 
consumption and waste generation, which provides a good understanding of the sustainability of 
the property portfolio, including optimisations and benchmarking. Furthermore, certification by 
BREEAM and GPR provides detailed insight into sustainability performance of our assets.

GPR
For an objective assessment of the sustainability of the residential portfolio, 100% of the properties 
have been GPR-certified. The weighted average GPR score (based on usable area) is 6.6. 

BREEAM
In 2018, the BREEAM-NL-In-Use certification method was used to objectively map the entire retail 
portfolio. In 2021, the assets have been recertified. Altera has developed roadmaps per asset 
(green multi-annual maintenance budget) to optimise the sustainability potential of the assets. The 
percentage of core assets with a BREEAM-level Good or higher increased from 48% to 65%.
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2. Alignment of interests of our Stakeholders

Investors
Compliance with laws and regulations
Being compliant to current and anticipated future legislation and regulations provides us with a 
licence to operate from our stakeholders. It provides our stakeholders confidence that we are not 
faced with unexpected capital or operational expenditures. With regard to ESG the most important 
laws and regulations are:

• Paris Climate Accord, Dutch Climate Accord and Dutch Climate Law 
We have published our Paris Proof Commitment, where we disclose our ambition and the means 
to reach that ambition. The climate framework displays our approach to climate-related risks. A 
three layered approach (saving, greening, generating) has been adopted towards lowering our 
climate change mitigation exposure. We have started working with the Paris proof roadmaps to 
ensure that we meet the target.

• New Energy Label 
As of January 2021, new standards are applicable to energy label. This is based on the NTA 8800 
standard, based on the European CEN-norms. The label has to be drawn up by a qualified advisor 
 
The BENG method has 3 requirements: 

• Maximum energy requirement in kWh per m2 of usable area per year
• Maximum primary fossil energy use in kWh per m2 usable area per year
• Minimum share of renewable energy in percentage

The label letter on the energy label is determined on the basis of the primary fossil energy use 
in kWh per m2 per year (BENG 2). All new assets receive an energy label according to the BENG 
method. If energy labels expire, we will re-label them according to new method. The objective is 
to transfer the entire portfolio to the new system and at the same time receive a optimised BENG 
score.

• Energy Efficiency Directive / Wet Milieubeheer 
Based on the BREEAM-in-Use certification of our Retail portfolio, Altera received exemption 
for an Energy Efficiency Directive (EED) audit. With regard to the Wet Milieubeheer, we have 
conducted an analysis of measures with a payback period of less than five years. The majority of 
the measures already taken and included the rest in our Annual budget plans.

• EU Taxonomy for sustainable activities 
The EU taxonomy for sustainable activities is a classification system established to clarify which 
investments are environmentally sustainable. The aim of the taxonomy is to prevent greenwashing 
and to help investors make better informed choices. Altera closely follows recent developments 
and implement measures originating from the Taxonomy when required.

• Sustainable Finance Disclosure Regulation (SFDR) 
The Sustainable Finance Disclosure Regulation (SFDR) establishes rules on transparency, in order 
to ensure the integration of sustainability risks into investment processes and the harmonisation 
of ESG disclosure standards for different types of products and end-investors. On 10 March 2021, 
Altera Vastgoed has completed the level 1 requirements of the SFDR. The deadline for the level 2 
requirements (including the RTS) is January 2023, for which the organisation is preparing itself. 

Governance
Altera has set up a multidisciplinary working group to implement the SFDR, consisting of the 
CFO, Research & Strategy (ESG), Investor Relations and Compliance and discussed with external 
consultants. The working group reports directly to the Management Board of Altera.

Choice for article 8
Under SFDR financial institutions have to disclose whether they qualify under Article 8 (promotion 
of environmental and/or social characteristics), Article 9 (sustainable investment) or neither (Article 
6). 

Both funds of Altera have considered themselves as Article 8. This is done after careful 
consideration and after consultation of external advisors and special interest groups (IVBN and 
DUFAS) and internal discussions. The regulator can provide extra clarity, but in our interpretation 
the legislator expects Article 9 Funds to clearly prioritise ESG impact as a formal fund objective. This 
is not the case for the funds of Altera.
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sector leader 2021

R E A L  E S T A T E

Residential Retail

Strategy & Governance A+

Property A+
B

A
Your score

Your scoreModule name

Median score

Components
• Integration of ESG risks in investment decisions (Article 3 and 6): Climate-related risks (physical 

and transition risks have been identified as ESG-risks that could have an actual or potential 
significant negative effect on the value of the investment. A risk assessment has been conducted, 
which defined risk responses. These have been implemented in investment decisions, such as in 
the hold/sell analysis and during the acquisition of new real estate. 

• Principle Adverse Impacts (Article 4 and 7): Currently, Altera does not take into account the 
principle adverse impacts of investment decisions on sustainability factors, because at this 
stage of the implementation of legislation we are insufficiently able to assess which information 
requirements need to be met and/or whether the required information is sufficiently available to 
make a proper and reliable assessment. Altera intends to investigate how it can take the principle 
adverse impacts into account when this becomes clearer in due course and further interpretation 
is given by the legislator.

• Inclusion of ESG risks in remuneration (Article 5): ESG risks have been integrated in the 
company’s remuneration policy. ESG risks are included in risk management section and in the 
qualitative and quantitative performance criteria.

• Promotion of E&S characteristics (Article 8): Altera Residential and Retail promote, among other 
characteristics, environmental or social characteristics, or a combination of those characteristics. 
The company has published a Paris Proof Commitment, balances the interests of different 
stakeholder groups, embedded ESG in different key business processes and has an established 
and solid track record in the field of sustainability. Different KPIs are in place to meet the 
characteristics. 

• Alignment with marketing and periodic reporting (Article 10-13): Altera ensures that the 
company’s marketing is aligned with the qualifications as Article 8-funds and reports periodically 
on the extent to which environmental or social characteristics are met. 

Excellent ESG track record
GRESB
Altera takes part in GRESB’s annual survey. GRESB is an independent benchmark that assesses 
sustainability policies and their implementation of property funds and portfolios worldwide. The 
Residential portfolio received 5 stars and obtained the highest total score in 2021 (for activities 
in 2020) compared to the peer group in the Netherlands for the third year in a row and became 
Residential Global Sector Leader for the second year in a row. The retail portfolio received 5 stars 
and obtained the third position in the Dutch peer group. Altera has been awarded a Green Star 
rating by GRESB since 2012. Even though Altera already has a top tier position, it aims to increase 
the overall score with the measures implemented in 2021.

UNPRI
Altera has signed the United Nations Principles for Responsible Investment (UNPRI) in 2017. By 
applying these principles, Altera contributes to the development of a more sustainable financial 
system and more sustainable implementation of the strategy. Altera reports annually on progress 
made in implementing the principles. Altera received an A+ rating for Strategy & Governance and an 
A+ rating for Property. The score of A+ is the highest achievable score. The publication of the 2020 
benchmark reports has been postponed by the PRI and will be published no later than June 2022.
The results of the 2019 benchmark are therefore still applicable.

sector leader 2021

R E A L  E S T A T E

Residential Retail

sector leader 2021

R E A L  E S T A T E

Residential Retail

sector leader 2021

R E A L  E S T A T E

Residential RetailResidential Retail
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Tenants & society
High tenant satisfaction 
Altera’s mission is that real estate, in addition to its financial performance, makes an important 
contribution to society. This includes a high level of tenant satisfaction. A good relationship can only 
be maintained with tenants if they are satisfied. Tenant satisfaction of both our residential and retail 
tenants is therefore periodically assessed by means of a tenant satisfaction survey (TSS). The results 
are incorporated as recommendations in the corresponding asset plans. This guarantees that the 
results will lead to improvements. We also set targets to optimise tenant satisfaction.

Increased focus on tenant engagement
Furthermore, we engage actively with our tenants on the topic of sustainability. In 2021 for the 
third year, a questionnaire is sent to all (residential and retail) tenants requesting information with 
regard to the consumption of electricity, natural gas, water and production of waste. To further the 
response rate, the questionnaire was sent digitally.

Altera and its property managers are in close contact with our residential and retail tenants. With 
respect to COVID-19, Altera is taking a lenient stance towards tenants who face liquidity problems, 
including suspension of rent and no costs for collection procedures. 

3. Our Responsible Management Platform

ESG embedded in solid 
management systems and 
processes
To ensure proper implementation 
of the ESG Strategy, Altera 
focuses on securing commitment 
from its employees for internal 
implementation, and on integrating 
the sustainability strategy into 
the existing processes. An ESG 
Research Manager was appointed 
in 2018 to manage this process 
efficiently and an ESG Project 
Manager was appointed in 2021 to 
spearhead the implementation of 
ESG measures. An organisational 
cycle is used to implement the 
policy plan in the organisation.

ESG is embedded in the following key business processes of Altera
1.  Acquisitions: For acquisitions strict sustainability-specific requirements are included in the 

Schedule of Requirements, which is being updated annually. Examples are the aim of Altera 
to take different technical measures such as the instalment of water saving toilets and water 
taps and energy efficient lighting, elevators and escalators. All investment proposals include an 
ESG-section, which includes the relevant ESG information, such as the availability of technical 
measures, such as solar panels.

2.  Leasing: In all new leasing agreements a green lease section is included, in which the landlord 
and tenant agree upon taking appropriate sustainability measures where possible and the 
sharing of information.

3.  Research: The research department has developed in-house a quality assessment model, where 
ESG is one of the elements that determines the quality of the (potential) asset of the portfolio.

4.  IRR Forecasting: In the asset plans (and in the asset book) that are drawn up for each asset, 
budgets are reserved for sustainable investments, such as solar panels.

5.  Hold/Sell Analysis: As ESG is included in the quality assessment model, ESG is an important part 
of the hold/sell analysis.

6.  Asset Management including Maintenance: In Altera’s property management agreements ESG-
elements are included to ensure that the property managers take sustainability criteria into 
account during the asset and property management including maintenance.

7.  Corporate Management: In Altera’s corporate management ESG-elements are included in human 
resources (engagement, commitment, employership and efficiency as measured in employment 
satisfaction surveys), ISO 14001 certification and UN PRI and GRESB assessments.

Environmental Management System (EMS) 
Altera has implemented an ISO 14001 certified Environmental Management System (EMS). The EMS 
is a manual of procedures and guidelines for the management organisation to control and improve 
environmental performance. Via an environmental management system, structural attention is paid 
to the environment in business operations.

Two important principles are central to this:

• Compliance with (environmental) legislation and regulations and the management of 
environmental risks.

• Striving for permanent improvement of the organisation’s environmental performance.

During last year’s audit, there were no findings. The audit will be repeated annually. The ISO 14001 
certificate will be updated in 2022.

2

3

4

5

Policy Plan 
implementation 

taskforce

Evaluation and 
adjustment

Measurement  
of effect

Implementation 
of actions  

from working 
group

Policy Plan for 
Sustainability  

& ESG
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Suppliers
External implementation focuses on aligning the principles that Altera sets with regard to 
sustainability and the activities by third parties. Altera aims to maintain long-term relationships 
with partners who have at least equivalent sustainability ambitions. We collaborate with partners 
that also wish to contribute to a more sustainable living, shopping and working environment, which 
ensures that the sustainability ambition is reflected in the management, maintenance, development 
and redevelopment of property. In addition to the sustainability screening of the parties cooperating 
with Altera, ESG-specific requirements have also been laid down in all relevant agreements. We plan 
to expand and formalise this in 2022.

Strategic Workforce Development
At Altera we value our human capital highly and we therefore invest in developing and improving 
the knowledge and skills of our employees, as well as their well-being and satisfaction. Developing 
knowledge of sustainability is a company-wide process. Furthermore, all employees create their 
own personal development programme (PDP) setting out ambitions and objectives. This not only 
has a positive effect on quality but also motivates personnel to continue working on improvements. 
To shed light on well-being and satisfaction, a Preventive Medical Examination (PMO) and an 
Employee Satisfaction Survey (ESS) are conducted periodically. Employees can take part in these 
voluntarily, and privacy is guaranteed. Survey results are discussed with a working group, after 
which joint activities that can contribute to the health of employees are discussed and developed. 
In 2021, 95% of the employees participated in the Employee Satisfaction Survey, with an average 
score of 7.9, which is more than the benchmark of 7.5 (financial industry) and comparable to 
the score of last year. Due to our good results Altera was identified by Effectory as a World-class 
Workplace, of which we are very proud. 

Sustainable Development Goals Impact 
Assessment 
We have aligned our corporate targets with the United Nations Sustainable 
Development Goals (SDGs). The United Nations 2030 Agenda for Sustainable 
Development is a plan of action for people, planet and prosperity. Central to this 
Agenda are the 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), which are an urgent 
call for action by all countries, developed and developing, in a global partnership.

We have carried out an in-depth analysis of all the sub-goals of the 17 Sustainable Development 
Goals. To align the SDGs with Altera’s objectives, strategy and impact areas, we have rated the 169 
SDG targets based on the direct or indirect contribution our activities can have on the SDG targets 
and the level of impact and contribution we potentially have for the achievement of the SDG targets. 
This analysis identified the top six SDGs to which Altera can make a contribution and on which we 
can have the largest impact through our activities and properties. We will provide a progress report 
annually. This SDG impact is also shown by the value creation model on page 8.

 
We have identified the underlying specific, time-related and measurable goals and have formulated 
company-specific KPIs for these goals based on 8 sub-targets. As of 2020 a SDG Impact 
Assessment has been conducted, where Altera’s contribution to the SDG targets, using the by the 
UN established SDG-indicators and displaying our potential contributions. We set that against the 
current status of the established KPIs and the mid-term target.
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Sustainable 
Development 
Goal

SDG target(s) 

3.4 Reduce 
mortality from non- 
communicable diseases 
and promote mental 
health

6.4: Increase water-use 
efficiency and ensure 
freshwater supplies

7.2: By 2030, 
increase 
substantially 
the share of 
renewable energy 
in the global 
energy mix

7.3: By 2030, 
double the 
global rate of 
improvement 
in energy 
efficiency

11.6: Reduce the 
environmental impact of 
cities

12.5: 
Substantially 
reduce waste 
generation

12.6: Encourage 
companies 
to adopt 
sustainable 
practices and 
sustainability 
reporting

13.2: Integrate climate change 
measures into policy and planning

Relevant SDG 
indicators

3.4.1: Mortality 
rate attributed to 
cardiovascular disease, 
cancer, diabetes or 
chronic respiratory 
disease

6.4.1 Change in water-
use efficiency over time 
6.4.2: Level of water 
stress

7.2.1: Renewable 
energy share 
in the total 
final energy 
consumption

7.3.1: Energy 
intensity 
measured in 
terms of primary 
energy and GDP

11.6.1: Proportion of 
municipal solid waste 
collected and managed 
in controlled facilities out 
of total municipal waste 
generated, by cities

12.5.1: 
National 
recycling 
rate, tons 
of material 
recycle

12.6.1: Number 
of companies 
publishing 
sustainability 
reports

13.2.2: Total greenhouse gas 
emissions per year

Potential 
contribution

Placement of AEDs at 
our assets

Low-flow toilets, taps 
showers, rain barrels, 
tenant engagement to 
reduce water

Install solar panels, improve energy 
index and energy labels

Recycling waste bins, 
tenant engagement to 
reduce waste

Recycling waste bins, tenant 
engagement to reduce waste
Publish sustainable report

Reduce energy usage buildings 
(common areas and tenant spaces)/
increase resilience buildings

Establish 
KPIs for our 
contributions

% assets covered by 
AED

Volume of water used Energy index, % A-label, Number of 
solar panels

Volume of waste 
produced, percentage 
waste recycled

GHG emissions (Scope 1, 2 & 3: kg/
m2); Energy usage (kWh/m2)

Residential Retail Residential Retail Residential Retail Residential Retail Residential Retail Residential Retail

Current status 73% 78% 918 litres 
(per m2)

52 litres 
(per m2)

A-label: 67% 
Number of solar 
panels: 14,490

A-label: 88% 
Number of solar 
panels: 0

10.1 kg  
(per m2)

8.9 kg  
(per m2)

10.1 kg 
(per m2)
Sustainability 
report 
published

8.9 kg 
(per m2)
Sustainability 
report 
published

GHG: 24 kg/m2 
kWh: 105 kWh/
m2

GHG: 61 kg/m2

kWh: 180 kWh/
m2

MT Target 100% 100% <800 litres 
(per m2)

<42 litres 
(per m2)

A-label: >75% 
Number of solar 
panels: >16,000

A-label: >90% 
Number of solar 
panels: 3,000

<10 kg 
(per m2)

<8 kg 
(per m2)

<10 kg 
(per m2)

<8 kg 
(per m2)

GHG: <20 kg/m2

kWh: <88 kWh/
m2

GHG: <52 kg/m2

kWh: <152 kWh/
m2
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Externally verified ESG KPIs
We have requested an audit opinion from our auditor on some of the most material ESG KPIs to 
increase the reliability of the disclosed ESG data. The table shows the KPIs that were externally 
verified by Deloitte.

2021 2020

Altera

1.  Energy-Index 1.07 0.72 1.11 0.76
BENG 2 80 kWh/m2 164 kWh/m2 - -

2.  % A labels 67% 88% 55% 87%
% A-C labels 99% 95% 99% 94%

3.  Average tenant satisfaction 7.1 6.7 7.0 6.7
4.  GRESB Score 94 92 96 88
5.  GPR 6.6 - 6.6 -
6.  BREEAM: Percentage Convenience assets  

with BREEAM level Good or Higher
- 65% - 48%

7.  UNPRI 'Strategy & Governance' and 'Property' A+ and A+ A+ and A+
8.  Average employee satisfaction 7.9 8.0
9.  ISO 14001 14/01/2021 01/04/2020

RetailResidential

Reporting principles

1.  Residential: Weighted average based on floor area for all standing investments with the 
exception of a part of the properties acquired/competed during the year (2021: 1 property, 
2020: 0 properties). The properties certified until 2020 (2021: 89% of the portfolio, 2020: 0% 
of the portfolio) have an energy-index and properties certified from 2021 onwards (2021: 11% 
of the portfolio, 2020: 0% of the portfolio) have a BENG certificate which is averaged per m2 
(kWh/m2 per year).  
Retail: Weighted average based on floor area for all standing investments. The properties 
certified until 2020 (2021: 98% of the portfolio, 2020: 0% of the portfolio) have an energy-
index and properties certified from 2021 onwards (2021: 2% of the portfolio, 2020: 0% of the 
portfolio) have a BENG certificate which is averaged per m2 (kWh/m2 per year).

2.  Residential: Weighted average based on floor area for all standing investments. 
Retail: Weighted average based on floor area for all standing investments.

3.  Residential: Average score given by a select sample for tenant satisfaction. 
Retail: Weighted average based on floor area for all comparison and convenience shopping 
centres with the exception of properties acquired recently (2021: 1 property, 2020: 0 
properties) and properties with an approved divestment proposal (2021: 0 properties, 2020: 1 
property). Average based on a three yearly measurement cyle.

4.  Total score per fund reported in the yearly GRESB Benchmark Report. 
5.  Weighted average based on floor area for all standing investments with the exception of a part of 

the properties acquired/completed during the year (2021: 6 properties, 2020: 0 properties).
6.  Weighted average based on floor area for all convenience assets (convenience shopping centres 

and supermarkets which are in scope of the strategic portfolio) with the exception of a part 
of the properties acquired during the year (2021: 3 properties, 2020: 0 properties) were the 
certification is not yet completed.

7.  Total score reported in the most recent PRI Assessment Report.
8.  Average score in the yearly Employee Satisfaction Survey.
9.  Date of issue of the most recent ISO 14001 certificate.
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Climate-Related Risks and 
Opportunities 
The Financial Stability Board (FSB) has launched the Task Force on Climate-related Financial 
Disclosures (TCFD) to develop recommendations on climate-related financial disclosures. The 
Task Force has indicated the physical, liability and transition risks associated with climate 
change and what constitutes effective financial disclosures across industries. Altera supports the 
recommendations of the TCFD and, in line with its recommendations, Altera reports on the four 
thematic areas. There may be duplications with other aspects of the ESG report that have been 
described earlier, but in order to report clearly and according to TCFD recommendations, the 
structure of this section is maintained. 

TCFD Framework

Governance

Strategy

Risk  
Management

Metrics  
and  

Targets

1. Governance 

The Management Board of Altera oversees all material financial risks and manages these risks in our 
portfolios. This includes climate-related risks that could exert a significant influence on the portfolio. 
ESG risks (i.e. climate related risks) have been included in the remuneration policy as part of the 
criteria for assessing the performance of the individual board members and identified staff members. 
The implementation of the climate policy has been delegated to the Research Manager ESG. 

• The Research Manager ESG works together with the Technical Managers, heads of asset 
management teams and ESG Project Manager to assess and manage any sustainability risks in the 
portfolio. The results are directly reported to the Management Board of Altera. 

• Climate related risks are included in the company’s risk policy and reporting frameworks and part 
of the due diligence at new acquisitions. 

• Other employees are made aware during training, which is given during a internal general meeting. 

The quarterly reports to the shareholders include both a general sustainability section and a fund-
specific section, which describes the major sustainability trends and the progress on sustainability-
related key performance indicators. Towards stakeholders we will report annually on the progress of 
this strategy in the TCFD-section in the Annual Report.

2. Strategy 

We have developed an in-house Climate Framework. This displays the integrated manner we climate-
related matters into account. It starts with a vision on both climate change mitigation and adaptation, 
which is being translated into policy. This subsequently is being implemented and measured. And 
finally, we show accountability for the results. This framework can be found on page 34. Altera has 
developed an ESG Strategy. A part of the Strategy is our commitment towards Paris Proof portfolios:

• Ambition: The Residential and Retail Fund will be Paris Proof before the year 2050.
• Realisation: We will draw up a roadmap for each portfolio to Paris Proof and implement the 

measures to achieve the objective. In addition, we show an annual reduction in intensity (kWh/m2 
and CO2/m2).

• Monitor: We will externally verify of our goals and the progress achieved by an independent 
auditor. We include all assets that are in our possession in the calculation.

• Transparency: From 2020 onwards, we will publish the average consumption figures in kWh/m2 
and CO2-emissions at portfolio level every year. These consumptions are disclosed in the annual 
ESG Strategy.

• Promote: We show leadership towards our stakeholders. We focus specifically on the 
shareholders, tenants and suppliers. In addition, we also work with local stakeholders and the real 
estate sector to make an impact on a larger scale.
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With regard to climate change, the plan indicates that Altera takes mitigating actions to reduce its 
impact by: 

• Saving: Focuses on the reducing energy demand of the buildings by implementing energy efficient 
measures.

• Generating: Focuses on the production of renewable energy, currently mainly by means of solar 
panels.

• Greening: Is the purchase of (the remaining required green electricity and gas (or available 
substitutes).

With regard to climate resilience, Altera aims to increase the adaptive capacity of its assets to 
adequately adjust to climate change in order to mitigate potential physical climate risks.

For both funds KPIs have been established to reduce the climate impact and to increase the 
adaptive capacity, such as lowering the average energy index, increasing the number of solar 
panels, increasing the percentage of green electricity and further integrate climate adaptive 
measures in business processes. These KPIs are described in the ESG Strategy and are also included 
in the Residential and Retail Investment Plans and different elements are reflected in the hold/sell 
analysis, the asset book and the Quality Assessment Model. 

3. Risk Management 

The first step is to identify and assess the climate-related risks. Subsequently, we disclose our risk 
by communicating the identified risks. Finally, we respond by minimising, mitigating or resolving the 
risks. Climate-related risks are included in the company’s risk management processes and included 
during the acquisition and hold/sell phase, in line with the requirements derived from the SFDR. 

Climate transition risks 
• Altera aims to reduce its transition risks by ensuring that the assets in portfolio comply with all 

applicable, current and prospective, laws and regulations. An example is that we already included 
natural gas-free houses in our schedule of requirements before this was included in Dutch law.

• Furthermore, our efforts to take mitigating actions to reduce the climate impact are made to 
ensure that we align our assets with the Paris Climate Agreement and the Dutch Climate Accord. 
This provides assurance to our shareholders that we are in full control of our assets. 

Physical climate risks
• In 2021, we have contracted Climate Adaptation Services (CAS) to conduct an extensive asset 

level risk assessment. CAS is one of the leading organisations in the field of climate adaptation 
and specialises in combining information about climate change with innovative communication 
and visualisation techniques. CAS is independent, uses high quality data sources and provides 
open source outputs, which limits the possibility of a black box. 

• CAS has determined the gross climate risk level of both residential and retail assets for the most 
important physical climate risks in the Netherlands, which are flooding, waterlogging, heat stress 
and drought. It thereby focuses on current and anticipated future risks.

• It should be noted that the climate risk scan of CAS determines the gross risks, which is the 
hazard (probability and geographical extent of an event) times the exposure (assets present 
in the affected area). The net risk (which is resistance or lack of resistance of the assets to the 
hazard) is not included in the risk analysis of CAS. 

• We currently assess different consultants and tools to ensure that Altera maintains control and 
moves forward on this topic.

4. Metrics and Targets 

The greenhouse gas emissions of the portfolios are calculated on the basis of the energy data. 
Reduction targets are set up to ensure that Altera is on the correct pathway to meet international 
guidelines and standards, such as the Paris Climate Agreement and the Dutch Climate Accord.

2021 2020
MT target  

(EOY 2024)

Greenhouse gas emissions
CO2 emissions in tonnes (total portfolio) 11,955 17,285 11,971 17,087 - -
CO2 emissions in kilogram (per m2) 24 61 - - <20 <52

Energy Labels + Energy Indices
Green energy labels (A-C), % of all assets 99% 95% 99% 94% 100% 100%
Green energy label A, % of all assets 67% 88% 55% 87% >75% >90%

RetailResidential
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Climate adaptation metrics and targets
• The conducted scan was a gross risk scan, which excluded asset-specific characteristics. For 

each of the assets with results ‘high’ or ‘very high’ an analysis is internally being conducted 
whether these findings can be verified at the asset. If the risks have been verified, we investigate if 
mitigating measures can be taken to reduce the risk, which we subsequently include in the multi-
annual maintenance budgets. 

• We currently assess different consultants and tools which can help us to determine the net 
climate risks on a asset-level to ensure that Altera maintains control and move forward on this 
topic. We plan to identify the potential impacts of the risks on 1) the asset value, 2) the expected 
capital and operational expenditures and 3) tenant satisfaction. 

• Some examples of interventions within the scope of Altera are the placement of green/blue roofs, 
sun blinds, rain barrels, and increase of green or water in gardens. 

• Furthermore, by working together with other real estate investors, municipalities and regional 
water authorities we can increase the resilience of the areas (neighbourhoods) where the assets 
are located. In this regard, we have joined Convenant BouwAdaptief, which provides us with the 
necessary tools and network to implement climate adaptive measures in cooperation with other 
stakeholders.

• Finally, we have included a climate risk in the hold/sell analysis and in the asset due diligence 
during the acquisition phase. When climate risks are high, extra measures will be included during 
the development of the asset.

Period Residential Retail

Asset-level net risk assessment EOY 2022 100% 100%

Inclusion of climate related risk in processes EOY 2024 Fully integrated in: maintenance plans, 
hold/sell-analysis, due diligence

Analysis of mitigating measures to reduce  
of net heat stress and waterlogging risks

EOY 2024 75% 75%

Communication on Progress UN Global 
Compact

CEO statement of continued support for the UN Global Compact and its ten 
principles

To our stakeholders
I am pleased to confirm that Altera Vastgoed reaffirms its support of the Ten Principles of the United 
Nations Global Compact in the areas of Human Rights, Labour, Environment and Anti-Corruption.

In our second annual Communication on Progress, we describe our actions to continually improve 
the integration of the Global Compact and its principles into our business strategy, culture and daily 
operations. We also commit to sharing this information with our stakeholders using our primary 
channels of communication.

Sincerely yours,

Mr. J.E.W. van der Bijl
CEO Altera Vastgoed

Description of actions or relevant policies related to Human Rights, Labour, 
Environment and Anti-Corruption and Measurement of outcomes

As of May 2020, Altera Vastgoed has joined the UN Global Compact as first Dutch institutional 
real estate investor. This is in line with the company’s commitment to socially responsible 
investment. The company regards sustainable and socially responsible policy by also giving due 
consideration to issues like human rights, labour, the environment and anti-corruption. In this 
second Communication on Progress, the company states which steps it took to implement the Ten 
Principles into the company policies and measures its outcomes.
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We have divided our Communication on Progress along the lines of our most important 
stakeholders: investors, tenants, business partners, management organisation (our employees) and 
the planet.

Investors
• First and foremost, we are compliant with current laws and regulations, including the EU and UN 

sanction lists. When we implement the Know Your Customer (KYC) and Anti-Money Laundering-
screens (AML), we focus on Ultimate Beneficial Owners (UBO).

• Furthermore, we mitigate country risks by following the JLL Transparency Index. We do not 
collaborate with investors that are listed in the bottom half of this list. When we engage in capital 
raising, we look for investors that are likeminded in relation to the existing investor group.

• Being a sustainable real estate investor is a central part of our business proposition. Investors 
choose for Altera, because they know we have incorporated Environmental, Social and 
Governance (ESG)-criteria into all our business processes. This includes the company code 
of conduct, CDD/KYC/AML policy, incidents regulations, integrity policy, privacy policy and 
screening and whistle blower regulations. 

• Our sustainability efforts are well recognised by international benchmarks, such as GRESB and 
UNPRI, which provides external assurance on our sustainability claims. We strive to maintain high 
ranks in these benchmarks; with our Residential portfolio, we have been awarded the GRESB 
global sector leader status for the second year in a row and received double A+ rating in UNPRI 
2020.

• We align ourselves with the ambitions of our investors. Several of our investors exclude 
companies in which they invest, based on the UN Global Compact. A yearly screening by a 
service provider shows that we do not have dealings with with companies based on these kinds of 
exclusion lists. We actively participate in questionnaires and due diligences conducted by current 
and prospective investors with respect to sustainability and good business practices.

Tenants
• We screen our residential tenants as part of the Dutch Anti-Money Laundering and Anti-Terrorist 

Financing Act schemes and we closely collaborate with governmental authorities in case of 
criminal misconduct, for example in the case of hemp cultivation.

• With respect to our retail tenants, we exclude doing business with them when the law prohibits it. 
When doing business with a company imposes a potential reputational risk for Altera Vastgoed, 
we deal with this on a case-by-case basis.

• Since the majority of the GHG emissions are Scope 3 emissions, we engage with our tenants 
on their energy and water consumption and their waste production. Yearly, we enquire their 
performance data and work together with them to reduce their emissions. Examples of activities 
are: inclusion of a green lease section in the leasing agreement, development and distribution of a 
‘tips & tricks’-brochure to seduce them to act more sustainably and renovation works to make the 
buildings more sustainable and resilient.

Business partners
• Our most important business partners are property managers, valuators, real estate agents, 

developers and other types of service providers. When above a certain threshold, they are 
being screened according to the Dutch Anti-Money Laundering and Anti-Terrorist Financing 
Act. Furthermore, we adhere to the IVBN (Association of Institutional Property Investors in the 
Netherlands) Integrity code.

• We are investigating the option to include a sustainability clause or annex in the agreements 
with our business partners. Here our business partners can state that they work in line with the 
Ten Principles of UN Global Compact, work to achieve the UN SDGs and/or other sustainability 
principles. Furthermore, they will be expected to explain which activities they undertake to act 
in line with our sustainability principles. Here, we work together with peers from other real estate 
investors and the IVBN.

Management Organisation
• First and foremost, we have joined forces with the UN Global Compact to have a principle- 

based approach towards sustainability and align ourselves further to the UN SDGs. We have 
communicated this internally and externally to create the possibility for our stakeholders to join 
us in this initiative.

• Besides making our assets more sustainable, we also behave as a responsible corporate citizen:
• We have developed a value creation model in which we explain our business model, identify 

our most important stakeholders, and calculate how we have created value for them. This we 
link to the UN SDGs. The Value Creation Model is published on page 8.

• For our management organisation we have implemented an ISO 14001-certified Environmental 
Management System (EMS), which we update annually.

• We prohibit discrimination and we aim to have a pluriform workforce. This has been included in 
our HR policy and a diversity and inclusion program is being set up. 

• We furthermore screen our employees prior and during employment, amongst others on anti-
corruption. 

By doing so we step by step narrow the gap and become an increasingly responsible and impactful 
responsible corporate citizen. 

Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs)

Altera is a strong proponent of the UN Sustainable Development Goals and has published about 
the company’s impact on the goals for three years. This year, we have updated our UN Sustainable 
Development Goals (UN SDGs) Impact Assessment, which can be found on page 44 in this Annual 
Report. 
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Assurance report of the independent 
auditor
To the shareholders and the Supervisory Board of Altera Vastgoed N.V.

Our conclusion
We have reviewed the sustainability information in the accompanying annual report for the year 
2021 of Altera Vastgoed N.V. (hereafter: ‘Altera’) at Amstelveen. A review is aimed at obtaining a 
limited level of assurance.

Based on our review nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the 
sustainability information does not present, in all material respects, a reliable and adequate view of:

• the policy and business operations with regard to sustainability; and
• the thereto related events and achievements for the year 2021 in accordance with the reporting 

criteria as included in the section ‘reporting principles’.

The sustainability information consists of sustainability data as included in section ‘Externally 
verified ESG KPIs’ in the chapter ‘ESG report’ on page 45 of the annual report. 

Basis for our conclusion
We have conducted our review on the sustainability information in accordance with Dutch law, 
including Dutch Standard 3000A ‘Assurance-opdrachten anders dan opdrachten tot contole 
of beoordeling financiële informatie’ (Assurance engagements other than audits or reviews of 
historical financial information (attestation engagements). Our responsibilities under this standard 
are further described in the section ‘Our responsibilities for the review of the sustainability 
information’ of our report.

We are independent of Altera in accordance with the ‘Verordening inzake de onafhankelijkheid 
van accountants bij assurance-opdrachten’ (ViO, Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, 
a regulation with respect to independence) and other relevant independence regulations in The 
Netherlands. This includes that we do not perform any activities that could result in a conflict of 
interest with our independent assurance engagement. Furthermore we have complied with the 
‘Verordening gedrags- en beroepsregels accountants’ (VGBA, Dutch Code of Ethics). 

We believe that the assurance evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our conclusion.

Reporting criteria
The sustainability information needs to be read and understood together with the reporting criteria. 
Altera is solely responsible for selecting and applying these reporting criteria, taking into account 
applicable law and regulations related to reporting. 

The reporting criteria used for the preparation of the sustainability information are the reporting 
criteria as disclosed on page 45 of the annual report. 

The absence of an established practice on which to draw, to evaluate and measure non-financial 
information allows for different, but acceptable, measurement techniques and can affect 
comparability between entities and over time.

Limitations to the scope of our review
The Sustainability Information includes prospective information such as ambitions, strategy, plans, 
expectations, estimates and risk assessments. Inherent to prospective information, the actual future 
results are uncertain. We do not provide any assurance on the assumptions and achievability of 
prospective information in the Sustainability Information.

The references to external sources or websites in the sustainability information are not part of 
the sustainability information as reviewed by us. We therefore do not provide assurance on this 
information.

Responsibilities of the management board and the supervisory board for the sustainability 
information
The management board is responsible for the preparation of reliable and adequate sustainability 
information in accordance with the reporting criteria as included in the section ‘reporting criteria’, 
including the identification of stakeholders and the definition of material matters. 

Furthermore the management board is responsible for such internal control as it determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of the sustainability information that is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

The supervisory board is responsible for overseeing the reporting process of Altera.
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Our responsibilities for the review of the sustainability information
Our responsibility is to plan and perform the review in a manner that allows us to obtain sufficient 
and appropriate assurance evidence for our conclusion.

Procedures performed to obtain a limited level of assurance are aimed to determine the plausibility 
of information and vary in nature and timing from, and are less in extent, than for a reasonable 
assurance engagement. The level of assurance obtained in review is therefore substantially less than 
the assurance obtained in an audit.

We apply the ‘Nadere voorschriften kwaliteitssystemen)’ (NVKS, regulations for quality management 
systems) and accordingly maintain a comprehensive system of quality control including 
documented policies and procedures regarding compliance with ethical requirements, professional 
standards and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements.

We have exercised professional judgement and have maintained professional scepticism 
throughout the review, in accordance with the Dutch Standard 3000A, ethical requirements and 
independence requirements.

Our review included among others:

• Performing an analysis of the external environment and obtaining an understanding of relevant 
social themes and issues, and the characteristics of the company;

• Evaluating the appropriateness of the reporting criteria used, their consistent application and 
related disclosures in the sustainability information. This includes the evaluation of the results of 
the stakeholders’ dialogue and the reasonableness of estimates made by the management board. 

• Obtaining an understanding of the reporting processes for the sustainability information, 
including obtaining a general understanding of internal control relevant to our review;

• Identifying areas of the sustainability information with a higher risk of misleading or unbalanced 
information or material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error. Designing and performing 
further assurance procedures aimed at determining the plausibility of the sustainability 
information responsive to this risk analysis. These procedures consisted amongst others of:
• Interviewing management (and/or relevant staff) at corporate (and business/division/cluster/

local) level responsible for the sustainability strategy, policy and results;
• Interviewing relevant staff responsible for providing the information for, carrying out internal 

control procedures on, and consolidating the data in the sustainability information; 
• Obtaining assurance information that the sustainability information reconciles with underlying 

records of the company;
• Reviewing, on a limited test basis, relevant internal and external documentation; 
• Performing an analytical review of the data and trends

• Evaluating the presentation, structure and content of the sustainability information;
• Considering whether the sustainability information as a whole, including the disclosures, 

reflects the purpose of the reporting criteria used.

We communicate with the Supervisory Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the review and significant findings that we identify during our review.

Amsterdam, 23 March 2022 

Deloitte Accountants B.V.

M. Heerschop
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Corporate governance
Company law, tax and supervision 
framework
Altera Vastgoed is a public limited liability company under Dutch law (naamloze vennootschap) 
with its registered office in Amstelveen, the Netherlands. The company is registered in the 
Commercial Register of the Chamber of Commerce under the number 27184452.

Altera Vastgoed fulfils the legal requirements (Section 28 of the Corporation Tax Act 1969) for fiscal 
investment institutions with an obligation to distribute profits and is therefore not liable to pay 
corporation tax.

Under section 2:67 of the Financial Supervision Act the Netherlands Authority for the Financial 
Markets (AFM) granted Altera Vastgoed NV a permit on 12 May 2014 to act as a manager of 
investment institutions within the meaning of section 1:1 of the Financial Supervision Act. With this 
permit (number 15001214) the company can act as a manager for investment institutions in real 
estate, offering units to professional investors.

Other code numbers

• LEI code of Altera Vastgoed NV 
724500 U1 GLBNBLC85D73

• RIAD code of Altera Vastgoed NV 
NL10032073

• ISIN code of Altera Residential 
NL0013267883

• ISIN code of Altera Retail 
NL0013267875

Outline of governance structure
The outline of the company’s governance structure is shown below.

Initiative/nomination Approval

Appointment and dismissal
Management Board S.B. GMS
Supervisory Board S.B. GMS

Supervisory Board
Medium-term (3-year) sectoral investment frameworks M.B./S.B. GMS per sector 
Investment plans within the scope of investment frameworks M.B. S.B.
Business Plan M.B. S.B.
Information Memorandum chapter 5 Principal Terms M.B./S.B. GMS

Share transactions
Entry of new shareholders within the scope of GMS frameworks M.B. S.B.
Issue of shares within the scope of GMS frameworks M.B. S.B.
Repurchase of own shares M.B./S.B. GMS

Portfolio transactions
Investments/divestments between 10% and 20% of the net
asset value of the relevant sector, or >€25 million

M.B. S.B.

Investments/divestments >20% of the net asset value of
the relevant sector

M.B./S.B. GMS per sector

Other
Amendments to articles of association M.B./S.B./GMS GMS
Adoption and approval of financial statements S.B. (preliminary 

advice)
GMS

Adoption of budget (operating expenses and management  
and fund costs)

M.B. S.B.

M.B. = Management Board
S.B. = Supervisory Board
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For resolutions on matters that are not sector-specific, control is exercised at company level; for 
sector-specific resolutions it is exercised at sector level.

For sector-specific matters such as portfolio transactions and the establishment of medium-term 
sectoral policy frameworks, a voting right applies in proportion to a shareholder’s interest in the 
relevant sector. For other matters, a voting right applies in proportion to a shareholder’s interest in 
the company. In principle, a majority of over 50% is sufficient. For the decision to list the company 
on the stock market, a majority of 95% of the issued capital is required.

For a number of non-sector-specific and sector-specific resolutions (including approval of chapter 
5 Principal Terms in the Information Memorandum, amendments to the articles of association, 
investment frameworks and investments equivalent to more than 20%), in which at least 75% of 
the issued capital of the company or of the sectoral shares must be represented, the following rules 
apply to the decision-making process:

• majority of ≥75%: resolution carried
• majority of >50% and <75%: resolution also carried if no more than two shareholders vote 

against
• minority of ≤50%: resolution not carried

Altera’s standards frameworks
We apply various standards frameworks in establishing our corporate governance, some of which 
result from legislation. As a public limited company with registered shares, Altera is subject to 
various corporate governance requirements that are prescribed by law in the Dutch Civil Code. As a 
manager for investment institutions investing in real estate, Altera is subject to obligations under the 
Financial Supervision Act.

In addition, to the extent applicable, we assess ourselves against non-mandatory standards 
frameworks such as the principles and best practice provisions of the Dutch Corporate Governance 
Code (Van Manen Committee, December 2016) and the INREV Corporate Governance Guidelines.

Dutch Corporate Governance Code

The Dutch Corporate Governance Code is intended for listed companies. It nevertheless has various 
principles and best practice provisions of relevance to Altera, and we have therefore chosen to 
assess our corporate governance against it.

We provide the following explanatory notes for the fulfilment of various best practice provisions:

• The members of the Management Board have not been appointed for fixed terms. Indefinite-term 
employment contracts have been entered into. For that reason no succession plan has been 
drawn up.

• The severance pay of one of the members of the Management Board is not limited to one year in 
his employment contract.

• No internal audit function has been appointed. The structure and operation of the risk control 
and management systems is assessed by the risk manager and the Chief Financial Officer. An 
independent service auditor issues a type 2 ISAE 3402 assurance report each year concerning 
the structure, existence and operation of a series of control measures.

• The Supervisory Board has not established any committees due to the size of the board, which 
consists of three members.

• The breakdown of the Management Board remuneration complies with section 2:383b of the 
Dutch Civil Code.

• Since the company is unlisted, a policy on bilateral contacts with shareholders and presentations 
to individual (prospective) investors is not relevant.

INREV Corporate Governance Guidelines

INREV has drawn up guidelines and best practices covering various aspects of property investment 
institutions, against which we periodically assess ourselves. We share the results of this assessment 
with the shareholders. Altera reached a score of 99%. INREV has subdivided the corporate 
governance aspect into the following seven subjects:

• Compliance with the law
• Compliance with constitutional terms
• Skill, care diligence and integrity
• Accountability
• Transparency
• Acting in investors’ interests
• Confidentiality
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Compliance Officer
As of 1 January 2020 Altera has nominated an Internal Compliance Officer.

Employees, Management Board members and Supervisory Board members are bound by a code 
of conduct. This code of conduct meets the requirements of the sector and has been drawn up in 
accordance with the guidelines of the Netherlands Association of Institutional Investors in Property 
(Vereniging van Institutionele beleggers in Vastgoed, Nederland – IVBN). The Compliance Officer 
ensures that all employees have confirmed their compliance with the code of conduct in writing 
each year.

Incident and whistleblower regulations are also in place. These are detailed on our website  
www.alteravastgoed.nl/en/about-altera/management-organisation.

Conflict of interest
Altera aims to avoid any form of conflict of interest. We therefore conduct no asset management for 
third parties (non-shareholders) and there are no ‘separate accounts’ pursuing the same strategy 
as our sectoral funds. A principle of our policy is that we will not participate or otherwise acquire 
interests in parties with which we maintain a commercial relationship.

IT management
Altera has outsourced the execution of its IT management to an external party. Altera's IT 
configuration is located in a private cloud using the latest Microsoft software. The back-up 
of data takes place in external datacentres at two different locations. Altera uses multi-factor 
authentication. Penetration tests in order to check the vulnerability of the IT systems are performed 
daily by a specific software tool. In addition a separate penetration test is performed at least once a 
year. 

Regulation under AIFMD
Since obtaining its permit on 12 May 2014, Altera Vastgoed NV, as the manager of the sector 
portfolios, has been regulated by the Netherlands Authority for the Financial Markets (AFM) under 
the Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive (AIFMD). The main areas covered by the 
regulations (and, by implication, the supervision) are:

• Risk management
• Liquidity management
• Conflict of interest
• Outsourcing
• Valuation
• Capital requirements
• Remuneration policy
• Transparency requirements

The business operations were modified in some areas with a view to obtaining the licence, including 
the remuneration policy and the recording of additional specific AIFMD checks in the administrative 
organisation. The members of the Management Board and the Supervisory Board have been 
screened by the AFM.

Depositary
The depositary plays a crucial role in supervision under the AIFMD regulations. Since 2014 we have 
engaged Intertrust Depositary Services BV for this purpose. The depositary main duties include:

• managing assets, which for property means that the depositary’s must verify his/her own 
ownership rights;

• checking cash flows;
• checking changes in the share capital (including valuation) and portfolio transactions (including 

policy tests).

The agreement signed with the depositary specifies the duties in more detail, including the 
information to be supplied by Altera and the corresponding deadlines.

http://www.alteravastgoed.nl/en/about-altera/management-organisation/
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Supervisory Board
In accordance with the law and the company’s articles of association, the Supervisory Board is 
tasked with supervising the policy of the Management Board, as well as the day-to-day operations 
of the company and its business. The Supervisory Board approves the investment plans for each 
sector, along with the business plan. In fulfilling their duties, the Supervisory Board members are 
guided by the interests of the company and its business and all stakeholders. The Supervisory Board 
also advises the Management Board.

The Supervisory Board works as a team, within which each member can act independently, 
impartially and equally, enjoying the confidence of their fellow Supervisory Board members, the 
Management Board members and the shareholders.

When filling a vacancy, the Supervisory Board must ascertain – taking account of the relevant 
provisions of the articles of association – that the required skills and knowledge are sufficiently 
represented within the Board.

The Supervisory Board comprises the following members:

• Guus Hoefsloot (b. 1950), Chairman of the Supervisory Board
• Heino Vink (b. 1974), Supervisory Board member
• Roelie van Wijk-Russchen (b. 1964), Supervisory Board member 
 
The CVs and rotation schedules of the members of the Supervisory Board are included in the 
Supervisory Board Report on page 16.

Management Board
The Management Board is responsible for directing the company, under the supervision of the 
Supervisory Board. The Management Board’s duties include developing, implementing and realising 
the strategy and the business and portfolio policies. The Management Board always acts within 
the parameters of the Information Memorandums, the investment frameworks and the articles of 
association. The duties and responsibilities of the Management Board are laid down in a set of 
regulations specially designed for this purpose.

The Management Board comprises the following members:

• Jaap van der Bijl (b. 1959), Chief Executive Officer
• Cyril van den Hoogen (b. 1963), Chief Financial Officer
• Erwin Wessels (b. 1963), Chief Investment Officer

Details of balanced male-female ratio
When nominating members for appointment to the Management Board or the Supervisory Board, 
an assessment is made of the extent to which the candidates fulfil the profile requirements. One of 
the main criteria is experience in the industry. A balanced ratio in the future will benefit from the 
promotion of larger numbers of women within the sector. The male-female ratio will be specified 
during the recruitment process. 

The ratio in our total workforce at the end of 2021 was 69% male and 31% female (2020: 67% and 
33% respectively). 
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Risk management
Altera strives for a low risk profile. We achieve this, among other ways, by:

• basing the selection of the property on explicit portfolio structures
• not applying leverage (or doing so at most temporarily, up to a maximum of 10%)
• not bearing any project development risk

An inventory is drawn up of relevant risks to business operations, and these are divided into 
strategic, operational, reporting and compliance categories. We have made an estimate of the 
influence of each defined risk on the key business objectives and the likelihood that the risk will 
arise. The risks were measured again for all processes in 2020 and since then the same has been 
done for individual subject areas such as fraud risks and ESG risks.

Altera has identified policy lines for the significant business risks that are appropriate to the choice 
of a low risk profile. The policy lines determine, among other things, the degree to which we accept 
these risks and how we should control them.

Whether and to what extent we consider these risks acceptable depends on a number of 
considerations, such as the risk premium, external demands and possible threats to continuity, 
as well as the costs associated with control. We draw a distinction between risks to business 
operations and risks to the portfolio.

The risks are controlled through a combination of company-wide measures (see the general control 
framework) and process-specific internal control measures.

A set of control measures is assessed by an external service auditor, who reports on his findings in 
an ISAE 3402 report. 

The risk management provides for continuous monitoring of the way in which the control is set up 
and functions in practice, including the direction by the management. In this way the description of 
the processes and control measures is also kept up to date. Risk is also controlled through process-
specific measures, which we explain in more detail below.

Main risks for Altera
Risk Potential effect

Failure to achieve the investment objectives for 
several years

Reduced funding from shareholders and 
outflow of capital

Insufficient diversification of each portfolio Increased property-specific risk 
Submission of relatively large numbers of 
redemption requests by shareholders

Slowdown in portfolio growth and funding 
bottlenecks

Valuation risk Incorrect net asset value and performance
Risk of fraud Damage to reputation and loss of income
Loss of status as a fiscal investment institution Levy of taxes on future profits
Compliance risk Damage to reputation

We have formulated a general framework for adequate risk management that limits the risks to a 
major extent.

Three lines of Defence
Risk management and compliance can be translated to a model of three lines of defence. The three 
lines of defence model for Altera is showed below.

Supervisory Board

Regulator (A
FM

/D
N

B)

Management Board

1st Line of Defence 2nd Line of Defence

Control

Risk Management

Compliance

3rd Line of Defence

Management 
Controls

Internal 
Control 

Measures

External 
Audit

Depositary

The third line of the model consists of the depositary and the external auditor (as Altera has no 
dedicated internal auditor) who both have a direct reporting line to the Management Board and the 
Supervisory Board. 



Risk management

57

The three lines of defence model for Altera is elaborated in more detail below. For each line of 
defence the documentation, the responsibility and the reporting line is shown.

Line of defence Documentation Responsibility Reporting line

1. Business 
Operations

Information Memorandums, 
Investment plans and 
process description

Individual 
employees 
in their daily 
processes

When a finding occurs, quarterly 
reports, investment plan, 
evaluation of control processes 
with Board of Directors

2. Control, Risk 
Management & 
Compliance

Information 
Memorandums, Investment 
plans, legislation, process 
description

Head of 
Control & Risk 
Management 
and Compliance 
officer

Periodic risk management 
reporting (including incidents) 
and findings by compliance 
officer to Board of Directors and 
Supervisory Board (if applicable)

3. Supervision Information Memorandums, 
Investment plans, 
regulations and internal 
reportings

Depositary and 
external auditor 
(as specified in 
legislation)

Board of Directors, Supervisory 
Board and/or AFM (if applicable)

General control framework
The key items of the general control framework are:
• Professional organisation of sufficient size
• ‘Tone at the top’, focused on the interests of the shareholders and on acting with integrity
• Separation of duties and two-signature system for contracts and payments
• Information Memorandum
• Establishment of risk management with interim testing of its operation
• Definition of strategy, operationalised in Investment Plans
• Decision-making processes based on written proposals and carried out in a multiform management team
• Accessibility of information across departments
• Transparency in reporting
• Supervision by Supervisory Board and AFM and auditing by external auditor and depositary
• Transactions only conducted with reputable parties
• Customer due diligence
• Pre/during employment screening
• Code of Conduct (IVBN and Altera’s internal code), incident and whistleblower policies

Below is an explanation of the risk management, subdivided into the following risk categories: 

• Strategic risks
• Product risk
• Investment risk

• Operational risks
• Investment risk
• Risk of fraud
• Valuation risk
• Continuity risk
• Emergency risk
• Fiscal risk
• Environmental risk
• Climate risk
• Pandemic risk
• Geopolitical risk

• Reporting risks • Compliance risks

 

Strategic risks 
Product risk

Product risk is defined as the risk that the product characteristics no longer meet the requirements 
of the shareholders, so that in the long term the funding could become insufficient. 
The product characteristics are set out in the Information Memorandum. We submit changes in the 
Principals Terms (chapter 5 of the Information Memorandum) to shareholders for their approval. This 
ensures that the investment products (sectoral funds) are clearly described and the characteristics 
are approved by the shareholders. We also compare the characteristics to the INREV best practices 
on the basis of a self-assessment, the results of which are shared with the shareholders.

Investment risk

Investment risk on the strategic level is defined as the risk that we are unable to achieve our 
investment objectives in the long term as a result of strategic policy decisions.  
Based on research, we have described in the investment plans how the investment objectives can 
be achieved. In the sectoral policy frameworks, strategic principles are formulated and subsequently 
translated into target values for relevant aspects of policy (e.g. diversification based on the age of 
portfolio, locations) for the medium and long term on the basis of the vision defined for the sector 
concerned. This serves as a guideline for operating within the required risk profile.
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Operational risks 

Investment risk

Investment risk on the operational level is defined as the risk that the investment objectives cannot 
be achieved as a result of the operational implementation of strategic policy decisions. This could 
potentially affect current and prospective shareholders’ assessment of Altera.

The investment plans for each sector are the starting point on the operational level. We control the 
investment risk as follows:

• Optimisation of the portfolio through, among other things, diversification based on various 
relevant segments and characteristics (rental maturity schedule, property size, etc.).

• Rejuvenation of the portfolio in order to counteract economic and technical obsolescence.
• Improving the sustainability of the existing properties.
• Detailed evaluation of all properties based on financial and non-financial aspects through annual 

hold-sell analyses (including SWOT analyses) and Quality Assessment Model.
• Assessing potential investment opportunities against strategic principles and financial 

acquisition criteria determined in a consistent manner.
• Control of the risk of not being fully invested, on the one hand by adhering to the 10% limit for 

cash at banks and on the other through a roll-forward mechanism for acquisition (acquisitions 
running ahead of new entries and/or divestments).

The interest risk is limited because no structural leverage is pursued. The influence of interest rate 
fluctuations on property valuation is a market risk that Altera accepts. We do not use financial 
derivatives.

Risk of fraud

The risk of fraud is defined as the risk that Altera will suffer financial and/or reputational damage as 
a result of fraudulent conduct.

Property investments are capital-intensive, and individual properties are not listed on the market. 
Furthermore, there are few barriers to entry in the sector. Hence there is an additional risk of fraud 
due to collusion among employees, suppliers and purchasers. Key control measures, in addition to 
the above-mentioned general framework, for the processes of acquisition, divestment and operation 
are described below.

In order to meet the requirements of the Anti-Money Laundering and Anti-Terrorist Financing Act a 
policy has been formulated and the screening activities are outsourced. For customer due diligence 
we also use data from LexisNexis.

Acquisition
• On the basis of policy it is determined which investments are desirable for Altera and which are 

not (the assessment framework is predefined and recorded).
• Financial acquisition criteria in accordance with a fixed methodology. Internal valuation model 

underpinned by fixed formulas and principles matching the acquisition criteria.
• Assessment of the score of the acquisition according to Altera’s Quality Assessment Model.
• Division of roles between a) deal sourcing/negotiation, b) testing market conformity of rents and 

returns, c) assessment of portfolio management concerning the desirability of the property and 
the forecast cash flows, d) contractual formalisation, e) financial documentation, f) investment 
decision, g) retrospective costing.

• Professional organisation with expertise in property and the related market conformity and 
standards. Assessment of market conformity partly on the basis of the independent judgement of 
the Research department.

• Phased decision-making process (initial registration, initial investment check, investment 
proposal).

• Recording of the entire transaction and the property details in an investment proposal that 
requires the approval of the management team (and if greater than €25 million also the approval 
of the Supervisory Board; if greater than 20%, also the approval of the General Meeting of each 
sector).

• If an investment proposal diverges from the parameters, the proposal is submitted to the 
Supervisory Board.

• Newbuild and existing properties are assessed against Schedules of Requirements, which are 
frequently updated to incorporate new insights.

• Contractual formalisation by the company lawyer.
• Structural completion is assessed by external building consultants.
• External valuation of the acquired property in the quarter in which the property is acquired.
• Annual retrospective costing in the first three years following completion.
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Divestment
• Process of annual hold-sell analyses in which properties under consideration for divestment are 

indicated.
• If we expect a reasonable number of bidders, sale by tender is the appropriate way to find the 

‘more than willing buyer’ and thereby maximise the return from the sale. If a limited number of 
bidders is expected, a private transaction may be the most appropriate way.

• A divestment proposal is drawn up by the Portfolio Management department, including 
underlying calculations and consideration of why the property is no longer satisfactory. The sale 
strategy is also addressed.

• We test the sale price against the most recent external valuation.
• Approval of the divestment proposal is in accordance with the investment proposal. In this phase, 

the process is the same as that for acquisitions.

Operation
• Long-term estimates for maintenance with reference to technical baseline measurements.
• Detailed operational budget for each property.
• Expenditure is only permitted on the basis of approved budgets or agreed deviations, and with 

the use of a tendering process.
• Retrospective costing is performed for each property.
• Leases are recorded both within the company and by external property managers.
• External property managers are visited to test the operation of procedures and check underlying 

documentation. We receive ISAE 3402 reports from the external property managers.

Valuation risk

Valuation risk is the risk that the external appraisers issue an incorrect valuation of the properties. 
This can lead to an inaccurate representation of the net asset value and the performance. Sale 
decisions may then be based on an incorrect value.

We have divided the valuation of the properties in each sector portfolio between at least three 
external valuation agencies. We change the valuation agencies for the individual properties 
every three years. We carry out comprehensive checks of the property and rental data used by 
the appraiser. We also analyse the valuation outcomes in detail by carrying out comparisons of 
appraisers and different periods and conducting internal analyses.

For external valuations we use the standards frameworks of IFRS, IVS, RICS, MSCI and NRVT.

Continuity risk

Continuity risk is defined as the risk that Altera suffers financial damage as a result of discontinuity 
through employee exits, the loss of important suppliers and failure of computer systems.

The effects of employee exits remain limited through maximum mutual interchangeability of 
activities. This is based on a clear set of processes and systems, ensuring that employees can 
temporarily take over each other’s work.

We work with a number of external property managers in each sector, thereby limiting any 
dependency.

In the field of IT, the risk of discontinuity is limited by extensive backup procedures for all data files. 
Altera's IT configuration is located in a private cloud using the latest Microsoft technology. The 
back-up of data takes place in external datacentres on two different locations. Altera uses multi-
factor authentication. Penetration tests in order to check the vulnerability of the IT systems are 
performed daily by a specific tool.

Emergency risk

Emergency risk is defined as the risk that properties will be destroyed or persons will suffer injury 
due to emergencies (such as fire) for which Altera may be held liable and would suffer financial loss 
equivalent to the reconstruction value of the property plus consequential damage.

All properties are insured against fire and other risks on the basis of the reconstruction value. 
The reconstruction values follow from valuations in accordance with the standards stated in 
section 7:960 of the Dutch Civil Code, so there is no risk of shortfall in coverage. For terrorism, the 
standard coverage as provided by the Dutch Terrorism Risk Reinsurance Company (Nederlandse 
Herverzekeringsmaatschappij voor Terrorismeschaden - NHT) applies. The company has also taken 
out business liability insurance.

Emergencies in the company’s own office are covered under Continuity risks above.
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Fiscal risk

Altera fulfils the legal requirements (section 28 of the Corporation Tax Act 1969) for fiscal 
investment institutions with an obligation to distribute profits. This means that it fulfils various 
shareholder quality requirements and the obligation to distribute profits (full distribution of 
taxable results within eight months of the end of the financial year). Where project development 
risk is incurred in developments for the company’s own portfolio, according to the rules of the 
tax authority, this must take place in a subsidiary that is liable to pay corporation tax. Our policy 
is to transfer project development risk to specialised project developers. We continually monitor 
compliance with the requirements imposed on fiscal investment institutions.

There is also a political risk that the legal provisions relating to fiscal investment institutions may 
be liable to change. If the regime facility for fiscal investment institutions were to be discontinued, 
restructuring and adoption of a fiscally transparent structure of mutual funds would be a possible 
solution.

Environmental risk

Property must comply with stringent environmental legislation. For this reason, all properties are 
subjected to an environmental baseline measurement, and all necessary work is subsequently 
carried out. Properties to be acquired undergo an extensive due diligence procedure. This is in line 
with the requirements that are derived from the SFDR and the recommendations of the Task Force 
on Climate-related Financial Disclosures.

Climate risk

Climate changes may negatively impact the investments made by the Fund. Global warming may 
lead to; inter alia, an increase of heat, drought and rainfall, which may have a direct impact on the 
Properties that are not resilient to such consequences sufficiently. Additionally, a serious natural 
disaster, such as a hurricane or tsunami, could severely disrupt the global, national and/or regional 
economies.

Pandemic risk

The outbreak of COVID-19 in December 2019 and its subsequent variants poses a downside risk 
to the Dutch and global economy. It is to be expected that the COVID-19 pandemic will impact 
the GDP growth, as full year GDP forecasts will probably be adjusted down. The extent to which 
the outbreak of COVID-19 keeps impacting the global economy will depend on when the situation 
is brought under control. Tourism, food and beverage sectors and the cultural sectors are most 
seriously affected. It cannot be ruled out that other sectors, including the real estate sector will be 
affected by COVID-19 and possible new pandemics.

The coronavirus outbreak resulted for the comparison segment in lower market values, lower market 
rents and a loss of income due to bad debt provision and write-offs. In the convenience segment 
the impact was far less. Although a pandemic such as COVID-19 and the related measures taken by 
governments may be regarded as unique, it cannot be ruled out that at some point in the future a 
new pandemic may occur which could negatively affect the ability of Altera to generate returns.

Geopolitical risk

An unstable geopolitical climate and continued threats of terrorism could have a material effect 
on general economic conditions, market conditions and market liquidity. A negative impact 
on economic fundamentals may increase the risk of default of particular investments made by, 
negatively impact market value, increase market volatility, all of which could have an adverse effect 
on the investment performance of Altera’s funds.

Reporting risks 
Reporting risks are concerned with not reporting by the due dates, or the reporting of inaccurate 
information, as a result of which incorrect decisions could be taken by the company itself or by the 
shareholders.

We have an extensive system of procedures and internal control measures to limit these risks. 
We periodically check whether the reports meet the information needs of the shareholders. 
Every quarter we have the properties valued externally, so that the net asset value attributed to 
shareholders is based on recent market data.
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Compliance risks
The regulations concerning property are extensive and complex, and increase every year. 
Compliance is recognised as a specific risk area. We are familiar with the current regulations and 
keep abreast of new regulations. We fulfil the regulations associated with the AIFMD licence.

When acquiring property, we take account of financial effects and other factors if properties do not 
yet comply with these regulations. In the case of new regulations, we assess the extent to which the 
existing portfolio complies with these regulations and take measures where necessary.

We monitor integrity by actively and continually working on the integrity awareness of the 
employees in the organisation, the code of conduct, direct control and pre/during employment 
screening. In order to meet the requirements of the Anti-Money Laundering and Anti-Terrorist 
Financing Act a policy is drawn up and the screening activities are outsourced. We also use the 
LexisNexis databases for customer due diligence.

Sensitivity analysis
Best practice provision 1.4.2 iv of the Corporate Governance Code stipulates that the Management 
Board must report on sensitivity to material changes in external conditions. The effect of the 
changes below on the annual result and equity is shown for each sector:

Change

Residential Retail
Effect in  
€ x mln

Effect in  
% of equity

Effect in  
€ x mln

Effect in  
% of equity

Direct  
investment income
Gross rental income 10% 5.5 0.2% 3.6 0.6%
Occupancy rate 10% 7.1 0.3% 4.3 0.7%
Operating expenses 10% 1.6 0.1% 0.8 0.1%

Indirect  
investment income
Theoretical rent and 
market rent

1% 19.2 0.8% 5.9 1.0%

Gross initial yield 0.1% pt 51.7 2.2% 8.1 1.3%

The effect of lease expiries, based on the portfolios at year-end 2021, is shown in the sector reports 
included elsewhere in the annual report, which contain the charts for secured rent over the period 
2022-2031.

The diversification of the gross initial yield across the various properties is shown in a chart in the 
sector reports.

In-Control Statement
Altera Vastgoed has based the wording of the ‘In-Control Statement’ below on the Dutch Corporate 
Governance Code 2016, best practice provision 1.4.3.

The Management Board certifies that:

i.  the report provides sufficient information on any deficiencies in the operation of the internal 
risk management and monitoring systems;

ii.  the aforementioned systems provide reasonable assurance that the financial reports are free of 
material misstatement;

iii.  preparation of the financial reporting on a going-concern basis is justified having regard to the 
current state of affairs; and

iv. the report sets out the material risks and uncertainties that are relevant with regard to the 
expected continuity of the company for a period of 12 months after the preparation of the 
report.

We have identified the risks of relevance to Altera by means of the Coso system. The resulting 
control measures were inspected internally during the reporting year in terms of their structure, 
existence and operation. No relevant deficiencies were observed during this inspection.

Amstelveen, 23 March 2022

Management Board of Altera Vastgoed NV
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Residential
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08/02/2021
Acquisition of 70 apartments in 
center of Tilburg (De Bankier)

30/08/2021
Disposal of 151 non-strategic 
homes in Deurne, Eerbeek, 
Groesbeek and Malden

13/07/2021
Construction of NDSM project at 
Amsterdam Marina started

24/09/2021
Multi-family homes in Rotterdam 
Nesselande district taken into operation

01/06/2021
Sustainability challenge Altera  
Real Estate and The Green Village

30/04/2021
Acquisition of 36 apartments 
in The Hague

08/04/2021
61 multi-family homes in The Hague  
taken into operation

18/02/2021
Last 4 single-family homes in Uithoorn 
taken into operation

02/03/2021
REBO Real Estate Management 
named as Residential Property 
Manager of the Year 2020

16/02/2021
Residential project De Groene Kaap in 
Rotterdam taken into operation

04/06/2021
Kop van Laak multi-family project in 
The Hague taken into operation

14/06/2021
Highest point reached on 148 
apartments 't Zand in Utrecht

30/06/2021
Dutch pension fund commits to 
residential fund for €54.8 million

15/11/2021
Phase 1 of Robijnhof residential and 
care complex in Leiden completed

09/11/2021
Multi-family project The Ambassador 
in The Hague taken into operation

27/10/2021
Altera launches pilot with in-shower 
heat exchanger by Sanura

22/10/2021
Multi-family project Vijverhof in 
The Hague taken into operation

31/12/2021
Dutch insurance company commits 
residential fund for €5.2 million

31/12/2021
Dutch pension fund commits residential 
fund for €87.5 and €12.0 million

14/12/2021
Satisfaction and involvement grows 
among residential tenants

Timeline Altera 
Residential 2021

31/03/2021
Dutch pension fund commits  
residential fund for €12.0 and €5.0 million
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Market structure
• Dominance of regulated housing and 

the owner-occupied sector; very small 
deregulated rental sector 

• Strong demographic basis; in most 
municipalties population and number of 
households are growing till 2040

• Geographic differentiation in demographic 
developments; Randstad and adjacent 
areas grow, fringes of the country stay 
behind

Market trends
• Limited influence of COVID-19 on 

residential market 
• Continuing rise of housing shortage
• Focus on affordability (<€1,200) of all 

market players grows
• More regulation in rental segment, also 

for the deregulated part of it: limited rent 
growth expected

• Smaller floor areas to maintain affordability, 
but space requirement might be influenced 
by COVID-19

• Drift to major cities, but geographical range 
of big cities becomes greater

• Changing parking rules and requirements, 
flexibility in parking space supply needed

• Sustainability is essential 

Strategy 2021 Policy objective (3 years)

Core Randstad and adjacent areas 80% and 20% 75 - 80% and 20 - 25%
Share apartments vs. single family houses 80% and 20% 75 - 80% and 20 - 25%
Rejuvenation; share of constructed after 2010 and 2020 67% and 18% ≥70% and ≥25%
Quality score 80 ≥79
Rent levels (in # units)
• €753 - 1,200 75% 70 - 75%
• €753 - 1,600 95% 90 - 95%
• > €1,600 4% <5%

Specific target group policy aimed at ...
housing needs (housing characteristics and living environments) appropriate 
for intended households (composition of households including age)

Sustainable, social and transparent 
with focus on ...
reduction in energy consumption, sustainable generation, climate adaptation 
and mitigation, increased tenant satisfaction, moderate rent policy 

Continuous rejuvenation of the 
portfolio ...
to stay future proof and in line with our policy objectives

Strategy
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Portfolio characteristics
Year-end 2021 Year-end 2020

Portfolio characteristics
Operational portfolio €1,942 mln €1,507 mln
Secured pipeline (excluding revaluation) €524 mln €455 mln
Average year of construction 2009 2007
Theoretical annual rent €70.9 mln €60.4 mln
Theoretical annual rent/value of portfolio 3.7% 4.0%
Average monthly rent €1,072 €1,027
Number of complexes 100 98
Number of lettable units 5,295  4,743 
Occupancy rate 98% 99%

Year-end 2021 Year-end 2020

Segmentation of operational portfolio
Apartments
Value of portfolio €1,565 mln €1,152 mln
Theoretical annual rent/value of portfolio 3.6% 3.9%
Occupancy rate 98% 98%
Average year of construction 2014 2012

Single-family homes 
Value of portfolio €377 mln €355 mln
Theoretical annual rent/value of portfolio 3.8% 4.4%
Occupancy rate 99% 99%
Average year of construction 1993 1993
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Portfolio structure
Property type

Rent levels Quality score of portfolio 

Year of construction

20%

80%

15%

Geographic

>2010
2000 - 2009
1990 - 1999
1980 - 1989

Apartments
Single-family homes

Randstad
Adjacent areas
Other

7%

10%

68%

20%

80%

<1%

>€1,600

€1,200 - €1,600

€1,000 - €1,200

€900 - €1,000

€800 - €900

€753 - €800

€650 - €753

27%

28%

2%

17%

20%

4%

2% 74% of homes in the mid-range segment (€753 - €1,200)

Average quality 
score of 80

74%

The apartment segment is dominant at 80% 68% of the portfolio is from ≥2010 The clear majority of it is in the Randstad region

100

90

80

70

60

50

Location Total scoreAssetMarket

Multi-family homes
Single-family homes
Total portfolio
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Key figures
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

3-year  
2019-2021

5-year  
2017-2021

10-year 
2012-2021

Income return 2.7% 2.7% 3.0% 3.3% 3.6% 2.8% 3.1% 3.6%
Capital growth 12.8% 6.2% 9.8% 11.9% 13.5% 9.6% 10.8% 6.1%

Total property return 15.7% 9.1% 13.0% 15.6% 17.6% 12.6% 14.2% 10.0%
Management and fund costs -0.3% -0.4% -0.4% -0.4% -0.4% -0.4% -0.4% -0.4%
Impact of cash and leverage -0.3% -0.1% -0.2% -0.1% -0.4% -0.2% -0.2% -0.2%
Other effects 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.1% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Fund return (IFRS) 15.2% 8.6% 12.4% 15.1% 16.9% 12.0% 13.6% 9.5%

Fund return (INREV) 16.1% 8.5% 12.2% N/A N/A 12.2% N/A N/A
Dividend return 2.3% 2.3% 2.6% 2.7% 3.1% 2.4% 2.6% 3.1%

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Other
Average occupancy rate 98% 99% 99% 99% 98%
Occupancy rate at year-end 98% 99% 99% 99% 98%
Tenant movements 13% 13% 14% 15% 15%
Net/gross rental income 81% 78% 78% 79% 78%
Gross initial yield at year-end 3.7% 4.0% 4.1% 4.4% 4.8%
Vacant value ratio 87% 91% 92% 92% 91%

Average number of outstanding shares (x mln) 985.3  921.4  862.4  797.2  723.5 
Number of outstanding shares at year-end (x mln) 1,025.2  955.7  903.6  851.5  770.9 
Total investment income per share (€)  0.298  0.159  0.210  0.229  0.225 
Net asset value per share IFRS (€)  2.255  2.001  1.886  1.722  1.536 
Net asset value per share INREV (€) 2.282 2.009 1.895 1.732 N/A
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“ We can't wait for 
summer!”

In the third quarter of 2021 Altera welcomed its new residents in the newly build multi-family 
complex Newport Nesselande in Rotterdam. These sustainable homes are located directly on the 
Zevenhuizerplas, a lake at the north-east tip of Rotterdam that has become one of the recreational 
gems of the Netherlands. Janelle and her boyfriend Tom have spent a lot of summer days with 
friends here.

One time they were taking a dip in the water, looked at the flats and reminiscing on how cool it 
would be to live there themselves. Soon after Janelle saw a Facebook ad for that same flat.

What enticed you to live here?

“ My boyfriend and I actually wanted to wait until summer to live together. But we could not let this 
chance pass us by. I yearned for the sea – I'm from Zeeland originally – and Tom has a lot of friends 
in Rotterdam. So this is the perfect compromise. We registered for the home and it all went really 
quickly from there. ”

What was the process after registration like?

“ It all went very smoothly. Altera had hired an agency (Wooove) to handle the assessment and 
rental process. They used an online portal where we could submit all the documents and were very 
available to us if we had any other questions in the meantime. Even though the delivery was a bit 
later than was originally planned, we were kept in the loop about the whole process via e-mail.”

So, how do you like living here so far?

“ It's amasing! This is the most beautiful little spot, here by the water. There's also a little square 
below us with a Jumbo supermarket, Kruidvat chemist, Gall & Gall, a sushi place... Everything you 
desire is within walking distance of our flat. There's free parking, the community is pleasant and 
beautiful with neat homes and polite residents. We don't feel like we're living in the city, and I mean 
this in the most positive way possible.”

Were certain measures taken when it comes to sustainability?

“ I'm no pro when it comes to these things, but I do know that we had to take it into account when 
choosing our floors. It was important that the floor should be a good heat conductor.”

Do you want to share an anecdote with us?

“ Being here during New Year's Eve was very cool. We are on the 16th floor and could see the 
fireworks of our neighbours opposite go off. Right now we can't wait for summer, just enjoying the 
beach and our balcony.”
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Residential market trends
COVID-19
Two years of COVID-19 did not get a hold on the residential market in the Netherlands. 
Fundamentals like a steady demographic growth on the one hand, and lagging of new construction 
caused by a continuous housing shortage on the other hand.

Demographic development
In 2021 the growth of the population recovered after a dip in 2020. Especially a positive migration 
balance was on the relatively high level of 2019 again. But there was also a small birth surplus, 
although lower than the years before 2020. 

All demographic prognoses show a moderate growth of population and number of households till 
2040. 

Although in the first phase of COVID-19 the four big cities lost some inhabitants, all four had a small 
population growth in 2020 and 2021. The agglomerations of the big cities showed still the largest 
population growth, mainly because areas around the four core cities showed a rapid growth.

Population growth per year in # x 1,000 
(source: CBS)
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Housing construction
Although there is a widespread consensus about the necessity of more new housing, the 
construction market didn’t succeed in realising a higher production level. Since the redundancy 
wave of the last housing crisis, there is a shortage of construction workers. Together with the 
commodity problems, the nitrogen issues, and the shortage of land where new housing is permitted, 
this ensures a low volume of new houses. Where an annual production of at least 90,000 houses 
is needed, only 70,000 was realised. So instead of less shortage, the housing shortage keeps on 
growing.

Delivery of new homes 2000-2021 
(source: CBS)
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Development of rents in the Netherlands (index 2007=100)
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Spectacular rise in purchase price
High demand and low supply lead to the most spectacular housing price growth in this century. 
Both the absolute selling price and the price per square meter showed an annual rise above 20%.

Rise in purchase price 2014-2021 
(source: NVM)
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Regional differences are still present, especially the price level differs from region to region, with the 
Randstad Metropolitan Area, and the four big cities within, as frontrunners. However, in 2021 the 
price development shows a somewhat different picture. 

Price difference compared to year before

10 – 15%
15 – 20%
20 – 25%
30 – 35%

In general prices rose more in the Northern part of the country and of the Randstad Area, on the 
fringes of Randstad in the provinces of Gelderland, Flevoland and Overijssel. On the other hand 
the rise was less, but still mostly more than 15%, in the Southern part of the country and of the 
Randstad.
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Affordability
The slow development of wages and therefore household income caused a lag between income 
and rent development between 2000-2013. After that, rent and income developed similar, so the 
affordability of deregulated rental homes was quite even in the last five years. 

Trends in rent relative to household income 
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However, to enter the market might be quite difficult, because transaction prices rose quickly in the 
last two years. This is not specific for this part of the market. In the much larger owner occupier 
market, prices have gone up far more, and the affordability of that part is also under pressure. 

Regulation
In general we refer to the rental market with a rent above €752.33 a month (2022: €763.47) as the 
deregulated segment. More and more this part of the market is influenced by rules of the national 
or local government. From May 1st 2021 till May 1st 2024 the maximum yearly rent increase is 
nationwide inflation (of the year before) +1% in both the regulated and deregulated segment. Local 
governments, especially of the big four, tend to regulate price levels and future price development in 
their ground lease contracts, or development permits. Their aim is to realise and keep more houses 
in the mid rental segment (from €763 to around €1,200), but some kind of regulation enhances 
the risk for investors. Especially the rules of the city of The Hague, with a maximum income level for 
houses in the mid rental segments, are reducing the target group that much, that it causes distrust 
amongst institutional investors. 

Also the rising real estate transfer tax makes a solid business case in residential real estate more 
difficult. Instead of stimulating the construction of more houses, these regulations might have the 
opposite result. 

High investor demand
In 2021 there was still a high investor demand for residential real estate in the Netherlands. That 
didn’t result in a high investment volume. On contrary, the investment volume in 2021 was the 
lowest in five years. The lack of sufficient supply caused this lower volume. As said before, new 
construction was hesitant, and was mostly for the more profitable owner occupier segment, and 
owners of investment products still have confidence in the market, so they keep their products for 
their own investment portfolio. 

Outlook
Although there are quite a few uncertainties, there is one thing for sure: housing shortage will 
continue and will play a dominant role in 2022 again. This ensures a further capital growth, but we 
expect a somewhat lower level than the years before because of:

• Influence of regulations on rent development and size of the target group
• Rising interest rates

Nevertheless, we expect 2022 again to be a good year for residential investment. Despite the rent 
regulation, rental income will grow because of the rising inflation. This means that together with a 
moderate capital growth, a small recovery of the income return might be possible.
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Residential Sector balance sheet

(amounts x €1,000)
Notes to the financial 

statements 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Assets

Investments
Property in operation 1  1,936,733  1,502,115 
Property pipeline 1  339,250  333,623 
Participating interest 2  5,267  4,442 
Other investments 3 -  30,234 

 2,281,250  1,870,414 

Other fixed assets 
Tangible fixed assets 4 1,690  1,724 

Current assets 
Accounts receivable 6  454  465 
Other receivables 7  1,942  2,960 
Liquidities 8  59,992  64,280 

 62,388  67,705 

Total assets  2,345,328  1,939,843 

(amounts x €1,000)
Notes to the financial 

statements 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Equity + liabilities

Equity
Issued share capital 9  512,623  477,852 
Paid-in surplus 10  872,390  759,762 
Revaluation reserve 11  823,908  584,959 
Other reserves 12  103,468  90,187 

13  2,312,389  1,912,760 

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities 15  3,978  3,781 

Current liabilities
Lease liabilities 15  11,093  11,076 
Creditors and other liabilities 17  17,868  12,226 

 28,961  23,302 

Total equity + liabilities   2,345,328  1,939,843 
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Residential Sector profit and loss account
(amounts x €1,000) Notes to the financial statements 2021 2020

Theoretical gross rental income 18  66,807  60,542 
Vacancy 18  -1,640  -680 
Other 18  896  943 
Revenue from service charges 19  1,537  1,424 
Service charges 19  -1,662  -1,471 
Operating expenses 20  -13,494  -13,372 

Net rental income  52,444  47,386 

Investment revaluation result 21, 22  245,872  107,730 
Result on disposals 23  4,936  -3,208 

 250,808  104,522 

Result from participating interest 2  961  489 
Management and fund costs 24  -6,889  -6,359 
Other income 25  452  766 

 -5,476  -5,104 

 
Net operating result  297,776  146,804 

Other expenses 26 - -
Interest income/expenses 27  -498  -360 

Net result  297,278  146,444 

Direct investment income 28  45,760  41,620 
Indirect investment income 29  251,518  104,824 

Total investment income  297,278  146,444 
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Notes to 2021 results

Highlights of 2021
• Total fund return of 15.2%, which is the second highest performance in the last 10 years
• No Corona impact on returns and cash flow
• Stable high occupancy rate of 98% 
• Portfolio outperformed MSCI benchmark over 2021
• 703 residential units added to operational portfolio and 155 units sold
• Secured pipeline of €524 million of which €286 million already paid
• Shares issued for a total amount of €178 million

Returns
This year the fund achieved a total fund return of 15.2%, which is second best in the last 10 years 
and also far above 2020 (8.6%). 

The property return amounted to 15.7% (2020: 9.1%): 2.7% income return and 12.8% capital 
growth. The increase of the transfer tax from 2% to 8% was absorbed by the lasting scarcity in the 
residential market. The income return of 2.7% is in line with 2020 and the dominator effect of the 
upgrade was compensated. The capital growth of 12.8% (2020: 6.2%) can be attributed for 17.1% 
to the rise of the vacant value, -5.1% to the increase of the yields and a positive impact of 0.7% of 
acquisitions and dispositions.

The contribution to the total property return from increases in the value of paid instalments for 
projects yet to be completed, amounted to 0.5%. 

10-year annual property return
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In 2021 Altera Residential achieved an outperformance for all investments of 0.3% in the MSCI 
benchmark. On a 5-years average the performance is slightly lower than the benchmark due to a 
lower capital growth in 2018.

Residential:  
all investments

 Altera MSCI Netherlands Property Index
Income return  Capital growth  Total Income return  Capital growth  Total 

2021 2.7% 12.8% 15.7% 2.9% 12.2% 15.4%
2020 2.7% 6.2% 9.1% 2.9% 5.3% 8.3%
2019 3.0% 9.8% 13.0% 3.2% 10.1% 13.6%
2018 3.3% 11.9% 15.6% 3.4% 14.7% 18.6%
2017 3.6% 13.5% 17.6% 3.8% 12.6% 16.9%
3-year 2.8% 9.6% 12.6% 3.0% 9.2% 12.4%
5-year 3.1% 10.8% 14.2% 3.2% 10.9% 14.5%
10-year 3.6% 6.1% 10.0% 3.8% 6.2% 10.3%
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For standing investments, total returns for 2021 are 0.6%-pt lower (2020: -0.6%-pt), due to the 
positive impact of the revaluation of the pipeline portfolio.

The dividend return in 2021 of 2.3% was in line with 2020 (2.3%). 

Direct investment income
We ended 2021 with a total investment income of €297.3 million, double the 2020 figure of €146.4 
million. The direct investment income increased by 9.9% to €45.8 million as a result of seven 
new properties (705 units) taken into operation during the year. The indirect investment income 
increased by 139.9% to €251.5 million.

Direct investment income in 2021 can be compared as follows to the previous year. 

Changes in direct investment income In € mln Effect

Direct investment income 2020 41.6
Completions and acquisitions in 2021 5.0 12.0%
Completions and acquisitions in 2020 1.2 2.8%
Divestments 2021 and 2020 -2.3 -5.6%
Rental increase 1.4 3.3%
Higher management costs -0.5 -1.2%
Other net effects -0.6 -1.4%

Direct investment income 2021 45.8 9.9%

The rise in direct investment income flows particularly from the completions of projects in 2021 as 
well as the effect of the properties that were completed in 2020 and operated for a full year in 2021. 

A major shortage remains in the mid-range segment of the rental market. This enabled us to maintain 
the occupancy rate at a high level of 98%, slightly lower than the 2020 level of 99% due to the 
initial letting of the largest property in the portfolio, De Groene Kaap in Rotterdam (356 units). And 
vacant units (13% tenant movements) were almost immediately rented out. 

The gross-net ratio (net rental income divided by gross rental income) of 81% was above the 
regular level of 78% due to temporarily lower maintenance costs in 2021.

Indirect investment income
In 2021 the portfolio value increased by 12.8%. The vacant values of residential units increased 
by 17.1% (national figure supplied by Statistics Netherlands/Dutch Land Register: +20.4%). The 
appraisal value divided by the vacant property value (vacant value ratio) decreased from 91% at the 
end of 2020 to 87% end of 2021.

Gross initial yields (with costs payable by the purchaser) decreased in 2021 due to high demand of 
investors: from 4.0% at year-end 2020 to 3.7% at year-end 2021.

The table below shows the spread of the changes in value of the properties that were in operation at 
the beginning and end of the year.

Changes in value  
of investments in 
operation for full year

Change in value in  
% vs year-end 2020

Number of
properties

Change in value in 
2021 in € mln

Change in value in 
2020 in € mln

Between -5% and 0% -0.9% 1  -0.3  -2.4 
Between 0% and 5% 3.6% 3  1.4  14.4 
Between 5% and 10% 7.6% 27 39.6  46.6 
Between 10% and 15% 12.8% 30 64.2  9.5
>15% 19.4% 32 68.8 -

Total 12.0% 93 173.7  68.1 

Almost all properties (92 out of the 93) that operated for the full year were upgraded in 2021 
(2020: 93 out of 96). A total of 32 properties were upgraded by more than 15% in 2021, with a 
total effect of €68.8 million; in 2020 there were no upgrades above 15%. The revaluation of the 
standing investments in 2021 amounted to 11.0% for the apartments and 15.6% for single-family 
homes (2020: 4.9% and 6.6% respectively). 

Altera changes the external appraisers for each property every three years: 44 properties in 2021. 
Overall, the change was associated with a 3.7% upgrade in the respective quarter (2020: 30 
properties increased in value by 0.8%). The upgrade is in line with the portfolio average rise in 
value.
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The spread of the valuation of the properties in operation at year-end 2021 and year-end 2020 in 
terms of the gross initial yield (with costs payable by the purchaser) is as follows:

Spread of gross initial yield (average: 3.7%)

Less than 3.0%

3.5 - 4.0%

3.5 - 4.0%

4.0 - 4.5%

4.5 - 5.0%

More than 5.0%

6%
2%

24%
10%

53%
36%

13%
32%

3%
17%

1%
3%

2021 2020

In 2021 the impact of the valuation of pipeline projects amounted to €47.3 million (2020: €34.7 
million) based on external valuations.

Trends in rents and operating expenses
First rentals of new properties are progressing well. In 2021 we signed 1,332 leases (2020: 799). Of 
these, a total of 703 were for the first rental of newly completed properties (2020: 198).

With effect from 1 July 2021 we increased rents by an average of 2.0% with inflation for 2020 at 
1.4%. In the previous financial year rents were raised on 1 July 2020 by 2.9% with inflation at 2.6%. 
The deregulation rental limit was frosen at €753 per month. At year-end 2021, Altera had a total of 
113 homes remaining in this segment (year-end 2020: 143).

Total operating expenses (including service charges for vacant properties) relative to the theoretical 
rental income decreased due to lower maintenance expenses and other expenses.

Operating expenses 2021 2020

Maintenance expenses 7% 9%
Fixed expenses 4% 4%
Management expenses 2% 2%
Other 5% 7%

Total 18% 22%

Rental arrears of more than 90 days at year-end 2021 amounted to 0.7% of annual rent, lower than 
the level of year-end 2020 (0.9%).
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Customer satisfaction

Subject Altera Benchmark Altera’s position

Satisfaction with the property 7.7 7.3 2
Satisfaction with environment 7.6 7.5 3
Satisfaction with investor 7.1 6.9 3
Satisfaction with property manager 6.4 6.5 6

Each year we measure the customer satisfaction of our tenants for various subjects. For that 
purpose we take part in a wide tenant satisfaction survey conducted by an external provider with 
the participation of ten IVBN-affiliated residential investors. The combined results constitute the 
benchmark. On the subject of ‘the property’, Altera ranked second. We also outperformed in terms 
of ‘Satisfaction with the environment’ and ‘Satisfaction with the investor’ with a third position. We 
will work on improvements in the year ahead in terms of satisfaction with the property manager 
(complaints handling, repair requests, service charges). 

Portfolio transactions 
Seven newly completed complexes were added to the portfolio, comprising of 703 homes:

Investments taken into 
operation in 2021

Number  
of homes Housing type

Start of 
operation

Annual rent  
(in € mln)

Year of 
construction

The Hague
Eisenhowerlaan 39 Apartments October 0.8 2021
Leeghwaterplein 155 Apartments October 1.8 2021
Waldorpstraat 77 Apartments June 0.9 2021
Ockenburghstraat 23 Apartments April 0.4 2021
Rotterdam
Siciliëboulevard  49 Apartments September 0.7 2021
Brede Hilledijk  356 Apartments February-April 5.9 2021
Uithoorn
Patrijs (remaining units 
of in total 30)  4 

Single-family  
homes January 0.1 2020

Total  703   10.6  

The rental of the newly completed properties went well, also due to the use of online rental 
resources, but COVID-19 made visits more complicated and therefore the initial letting as well.  
At year-end 2021 95% of the 356 units in Rotterdam De Groene Kaap were let.
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In August 2021 the following properties (151 homes) which no longer fit in Altera’s strategy, were 
divested:

Properties divested in 2021
Number  

of homes Housing type
Annual rent  

(in € mln)
Month  
of sale

Deurne
Veenmossingel and Wollegras  32 Single-family 0.3 August
Eerbeek
Odinkerf et al.  26 Single-family 0.3 August
Groesbeek
Manserf  38 Single-family 0.4 August
Malden 
Dravik et al. 55 Single-family 0.6 August

Total  151  1.6  

Following transactions in the operational portfolio and the transfer of properties form the pipeline 
to the operational portfolio, the number of residential units in operation increased from 4,743 to 
5,295. Taking into account the pipeline, the portfolio will increase in the coming years to 6,800 
units.

In 2021 five properties (818 units) were added to the secured pipeline: 

Projects added to secured  
pipeline in 2021

Number  
of homes Housing type

Annual rent  
(in € mln)

Year of 
construction

Almere
Oosterwold  174 Single-family 2.1 2024
Amsterdam
NDSM  181 Apartments 2.7 2024
The Hague
Bertrand Russelllaan  36 Apartments 0.6 2022
Tilburg
De Bankier  70 Apartments 0.8 2023
Zaandam
Vrodest  357 Apartments 0.8 2023-2025

Total  818  7.0  

With the inclusion of the eight projects (698 homes) added in previous years, we have a secured 
pipeline of €523.8 million (1,516 units), of which €286.1 million has already been paid.

The current portfolio in operation (€1.59 billion) plus the market value of the pipeline (€0.6 billion) 
results in a total portfolio of €2.5 billion. 

Other notes
At the end of 2021 the number of shareholders was 39 (2020: 37), an increase of two as a result of 
three new entrants and one redeeming investor. This number excludes five new shareholders who 
have signed the entry agreement and will enter as soon as the committed sums are required for the 
acquisitions. Among these, we welcomed the first non-domestic investor in Altera Residential.

In 2021 entries amounted to €177.6 million and redemptions of €30.2 million (2020: €103.0 million 
of entries and no redemptions).



Residential

80

“ I want to stay here 
forever!”

In Ridderkerk, at the Nieuwe Maas, de Lek and de Noord junction, stands a 17-story block of flats. 
The Tourmalijn building was developed and built by Stebru. This part of Ridderkerk used to be an 
industrial area, primarily concerned with the repair of ships. But the heavy industry made way for a 
small residential area, where Bas Stange and his wife are enjoying their retirement.

Can you tell us more about the apartment you live in?

“ Absolutely. The first time we walked in here to view some apartments, I immediately knew that I 
wanted to stay here forever. The view is amasing. For starters, we live by the water, so there's never 
a dull moment. We also have a view of the windmills at Kinderdijk, which are a UNESCO World 
Heritage Site. This is quite unique. If things work out, this will be our final home.”

How do you experience living here in terms of accessibility?

“ Facilities such as public transport, shops and medical care are located quite far from our flat. Quite 
a few older people live here, so this could pose a problem especially for them. One of the benefits 
we do have is that the water bus between Dordrecht and Rotterdam stops right at the base of 
our building. Within half an hour you're in the centre of Rotterdam. There's also a small ferry that 
travels between Ridderkerk, Kinderdijk and Krimpen aan de Lek, which we regularly use for a day 
of cycling and hiking.”

How sustainable is the flat you live in?

“ According to the energy company we would benefit from lowering our energy bill and paying €40 
to €50 per month. So the place is extremely well insulated. Common areas are powered by solar 
panels on the roof.”

Have you ever 
experienced any defects?

“ We have radiators in the bathroom to dry our clothes, 
but we never use them. Two years into our residence here I got 
soaked in the rain and put my trousers on one of the radiators. The place began 
to smell within twenty minutes. Apparently there were three holes in the radiator that were 
spouting oil all over the wall. I reported the defect and the issue was resolved fairly quickly. The 
repairman even cleaned the wall meticulously, it's like it never happened! 
 
When we started living here, I volunteered to be a representative of the people living here. Because 
of this, I regularly talk to the property manager. For example, it can be windy here, so the front 
door of the building was often left standing open, which not only made a mess but it also made the 
people living here feel uneasy. We then asked the manager to replace this door with a sliding door. 
Now we have a sliding door.”

Do you want to share an anecdote with us?

“ We are quite enamoured with the Greek island of Samos. During our first year living here, we were 
on holiday in Samos. So we were on the beach and suddenly we got a message from an unknown 
number saying 'Hey Bas, guess where I am?', with a picture. Turns out this was our neighbour who 
lived some floors higher. It was on the island where we first met the neighbours we had been living 
with in the same building for quite a while, so that was really funny.”
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ESG
With a view to its sustainability strategy, Altera works on the basis of three pillars that have been set 
out on page 33 of this annual report. The KPIs per pillar achieved in 2021 are set out hereafter.

ESG Strategy

1. Our Sustainable Real Estate

Saving 
Various improvements were implemented in 2021 and several sustainable assets have been added 
to the portfolio. This increased the sustainability of the portfolio Since 2015, the portfolio has been 
almost entirely have a green energy label (99% label A, B or C). Currently, 67% of our residential 
units have A labels and the objective is to increase this percentage to more than 75% at the end of 
2024. 

Generating 
In recent years solar panels have been introduced for the generation of renewable energy. Every 
year an increasing number of apartment buildings are fitted with collective systems, which means 
that the cost-of-living for tenants are substantially reduced. All single family homes were equipped 
with solar panels and the multi-family where possible. The number of solar panels is expected to 
expand over the coming years due to acquisitions. In 2021, there were 14,490 solar panels in our 
residential portfolio. We aim to increase this to more than 16,000 at the end of 2024. 

Greening 
Altera works with its property managers to purchase green energy (electricity and gas) for the 
common areas. In 2021, 67% of the electricity consumed in common areas was accounted for by 
green electricity. Altera is trying to exert as much influence as possible to increase the share of 
green electricity to 100% by the end of 2024. In addition, Altera aims to ensure that the purchase of 
electricity by the owners’ associations (VvEs) involved is grom renewable sources. 

Since 2018, gas-free building has been a requirement for Altera in the Schedule of Requirements 
for new homes. At the end of 2021, 34% of residential properties were free from natural gas. From 
now on this percentage is expected to increase fast and the aim is to have more than 45% of the 
portfolio free of natural gas at the end of 2024. 

 2021 2020 2019
Strategy  

(EOY 2024)

KPI
% of Green energy labels (A-C) 99% 99% 99% 100%
% of A labels 67% 55% 52% >75%
Average Energy Index 1.07 1.11 1.13 N/A
Average BENG 2 80 kWh/m2 N/A N/A N/A
% free of natural gas 34% 25% 18% >45%
Number of solar panels 14,490 14,000 5,520 >16,000

Acquisition of sustainable properties
In 2021, seven properties with a high sustainability quality were added to the residential portfolio, 
resulting in an improvement in the sustainability performance. The average GPR score of the new 
properties is 7.5. The addition of the new properties contributed positively to the average GPR 
score of the residential portfolio.
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Data coverage 
From 2018 onwards, Altera took measures to increase the structural collection of consumption data 
at property level. This provides insight into the sustainability of the property portfolio including 
optimisations, and enables benchmarking. In the coming policy period 2022-2024, particular 
attention will be paid to the collection of consumption data pertaining to water and waste. 

Data coverage 2021 2020 2019 Strategy (EOY 2024)

Energy 99% 99% 100% 100%
Greenhouse gas 100% 99% 100% 100%
Water 100% 97% 91% 100%
Waste 100% 96% 91% 100%

Metrics
Altera average  
(per houshold)

Dutch average  
(per houshold)

Percentage  
reduction

Electricity 2,360 kWh 2,741 kWh -14%
Natural gas (where available) 869 m3 1,239 m3 -30%
Distict heating (where available) 24 GJ 35 GJ -33%
Water 84 m3 99 m3 -14%
Non-recyclable 923 kg 400kg +133%

GPR 
The entire residential portfolio is GPR-certified. The average GPR score (weighted on the basis 
of floor space) is 6.6. The GPR score provides Altera with a clear picture of the sustainability 
performances of each property, making it possible to focus on measures aimed at improvement. 

2. Alignment of interests of our Stakeholders

GRESB 
Altera participates in the annual GRESB survey. In 2021 (results for 2020) the residential portfolio 
achieved a total score of 94 points, which equals to a score of 5 stars. With this score the Altera 
residential portfolio claimed the lead position in the category of non-listed residential real estate 
in the Netherlands, and obtained for the second year in a row the prestigious Global Sector 
Leader status. For the coming years, Altera strives for continuous improvement of the total score 
and preservation of the leading position. From the analysis, we can conclude that assets are very 
sustainable, Altera is well organised in terms of management (policies and reporting), but that data 
quality can be improved further. Initiatives to improve in these fields have started in 2021 in order 
to continue outstanding GRESB results.

GRESB 2021 2020 2019 Strategy (EOY 2024)

Total score 94 96 93 -
Number of stars 5 5 5 5

sector leader 2021

R E A L  E S T A T E
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Tenant satisfaction and engagement
Each year, we measure customer satisfaction levels among our tenants with regard to various 
subjects. That is why we take part in a wide tenant satisfaction survey conducted by an external 
provider with the contribution of several IVBN-affiliated residential investors. The combined 
results constitute the benchmark. Altera will work on improvements in the year ahead in terms of 
satisfaction with the property manager (complaints handling, repair requests, service charges). The 
average residential NPS score is 7.1 for 2021. This score is calculated as the average score given by 
a select sample for satisfaction with the owner of the rented property.

We strive to reduce the energy and water consumption and waste production in our portfolios. We 
actively engage with our tenants to stimulate them to reduce their environmental impact. 

Sustainability covenant
We have developed a sustainability covenant, which serves as a green lease section in our leasing 
agreements. Included are the measures to be taken by both the tenant and Altera to increase the 
sustainability of the rented property. The sustainability covenant is included in all new leasing 
contracts (both with new acquisitions and mutations). 

Examples

Sanura Flatmate
Altera Residential organised in 2021 together with the Green Village in Delft a Sustainability 
Challenge. Six entrepreneurs presented their inventions regarding climate adaptation and 
mitigation. One of these inventions was the Sanura Flatmate. This is an innovative new type of 
in-shower heat exchanger that can be easily connected to a standard shower tap. The system uses 
heat from the used shower water to warm up the cold pipes, and thus the new shower water. During 
the Provada, a collaborative agreement was signed between Altera Residential and Sanura and, we 
have installed Sanura Flatmates at our complexes in Haarlem (single-family homes) and Hoofddorp 
(multi-family homes). This means that we contribute directly to accelerating the energy transition 
and reducing CO2-emissions.

MyPup parcel delivery points 
At eleven residential apartments buildings, Altera has deployed MyPup parcel delivery points. 
These are unmanned pick up points, where the parcel flow is taken over by MyPup. One courier 
delivers the parcels to the apartment complex. Residents are immediately informed and can pick up 
the parcel when it suits them. This reduces transportation movements and the associated carbon 
emissions. Furthermore, we expect a positive effect on the tenant satisfaction. 

Iwell
In 2020, we have started a pilot with iwell: a system which stores solar energy in a battery. When 
there is a lack of sufficient renewable energy, the system intervenes to provide stored renewable 
energy. This ensures the continuous availability of renewable energy. At the same time, the peak 
pressure on the electricity grid and any associated costs are reduced. We continued this project in 
2021 and currently, the iwell-system is implemented at 10 asset locations.
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 NDSM B10 –  
Making affordable 
rental housing a reality
Once the largest shipyard in the Netherlands, NDSM Wharf has been transformed into a thriving 
residential area, characterised by its industrial architecture, entrepreneurial spirit and creative 
hotspots. Bart Visscher, Head of Acquisition at Altera, sat down with Martijn Luchjenbroers, 
Director at VolkerWessels, to discuss the unique attraction of the 'Nautical NDSM' 
residential project, where Altera has been working on the NDSM B10 project. 

Situated at the ever-changing Amsterdam IJ waterfront, the industrial-turned-
residential area provides unexpected attractions, from pop-up restaurants to 
waterside hangouts and art spaces. 

Martijn Luchjenbroers: “It's great to see such a large area getting a whole new 
interpretation. It is very diverse, the majority being housing, but there are also 
restaurants and shops. The location is approximately 75% residential and 
25% non-residential. The level of facilities is very important for the liveliness 
and liveability. Along with the presence of the ferry, which takes you to the 
heart of Amsterdam in 10 minutes, which makes this a unique place.” 

Just like the scale of the project. In the coming years, this nearly 440,000 
m2 site (which equals 63 soccer fields) will be transformed into an area 
where people can live, work and play. In addition to the reallocation 
of existing buildings, many new buildings will be constructed by 
various VolkerWessels companies, including Wessels Zeist and IBB 
Kondor. The pure character of the area will be preserved during the 
development. 
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Affordable rental housing

Under project name NDSM B.10, Altera acquired 157 apartments that meet the conditions arising 
from the 'Action Plan More Medium Rent' of the Municipality of Amsterdam. The aim of this scheme 
is to realise affordable rental housing for those tenants who are not entitled to social housing or 
have a household income on the basis of which more expensive free sector housing is not feasible. 
Altera also purchased 24 high-end private sector homes, 965 m2 of commercial space and 90 
parking spaces in the project. The combined 181 rental properties range in size from 42 to 125 m2. 
The project has a low EPC and will be equipped with PV panels and a heat and cold storage and 
heat pump installation. 

Bart Visscher: “Altera is an important player when it comes to the realisation of medium-rent 
housing. When realising these projects, Altera often seeks contact with housing corporations 
to coordinate the housing products. It is not unusual for us to realise projects with housing 
corporations within the same development. In this way, we do our part to get the flow going. We 
believe it is important to give priority to people who leave social housing when allocating homes. 
This means that social housing becomes available again.” 

Adaptive strategy

Prices are obviously under pressure, also and especially for medium-rent housing. At the B10 location, 
the municipality has lowered the price of land so that medium-rent housing is becoming a reality. For 
Volker Wessels, the entire multi-year project came down to having an adaptive strategy in place. 

Martijn Luchjenbroers: “Large-scale projects like these have their own dynamics so you need to 
have flexible strategies in place based on real-time insights that allow for constant reassessment 
of the context that surrounds us and opportunities that exist. In addition, two years ago we were 
confronted with the outbreak of COVID-19, which suddenly changed the world as we know it. That's 
when good cooperation between developer, builder and municipality comes into play.”

Bart Visscher: “The bottom line is that affordable rental housing has come within reach of teachers, 
firemen and nurses. Without this, it would not have been possible to realise this housing project. 
Initially, rent levels would have averaged about €1600. Now the average is about €1100. The good 
cooperation between VolkerWessels and Altera helped bring this project about – a unique project 
at a unique location.” 

Martijn Luchjenbroers: “With the realisation of Nautical NDSM we are taking an important step in 
the development of the NDSM shipyard. We are proud that with this project we can contribute to the 
affordable housing supply in the middle rental segment in Amsterdam.” 

NDSB B10
The B10 site is located on the NDSM wharf, an area development where a new residential (approx. 
5,000 homes) and work area will be realised until 2030. The area is part of the northern banks of the 
IJ west. The planned construction is in the hands of Bouwcombinatie IBB Kondor/Kondor Wessels 
Amsterdam. 

Read more
BMB ontwikkeling:   www.bmb.nl
Leven op de NDSM:   www.levenopndsm.nl
NDSM:     www.ndsm.nl
VolkerWessels:    www.volkerwessels.nl

https://www.bmb.nl/
https://www.levenopndsm.nl
https://www.ndsm.nl
https://www.volkerwessels.nl
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Residential portfolio year-end 2021
City Address Year of construction Rentable units Theoretical rental level in € mln Occupancy rate

Apartments
Alkmaar *** Paternosterstraat 1985  72 0.6 98%
Almere Kapitein de Langestraat 1995  87 0.9 98%
Amersfoort De Bosuil 2020 114 1.6 100%
Amstelveen Nicolaas Tulplaan 2014  113 1.8 100%
Amstelveen Maimonideslaan 2017  84 1.2 100%
Amstelveen * Laan van de Helende Meesters 2014  48 1.0 100%
Amstelveen Chr. Huygenshof 2018  103 1.6 100%
Amsterdam Blankenstraat 2011  68 1.4 98%
Amsterdam * *** Faas Wilkesstraat (Zeeburgereiland) 2019  86 1.4 97%
Amsterdam *** Oostelijke Handelskade #2 2013  108 2.3 98%
Amsterdam *** Oostelijke Handelskade #1 2013  61 1.0 96%
Amsterdam *** Oostelijke Handelskade #3 2016  66 1.2 100%
Amsterdam * *** Tollensstraat, Dichtershofje 2015  69 1.4 99%
Amsterdam *** Tollensstraat 2017  52 1.0 97%
Apeldoorn Molenstraat 2005  44 0.5 100%
Baarn Stationsweg, et al. 1985  22 0.2 100%
Brielle M.H. Trompstraat 2020 72 0.9 100%
Den Bosch * Kanseliersplein 2019  91 1.3 98%
The Hague Eisenhowerlaan 2021  39 0.8 82%
The Hague Dr Lelykade 2016  47 0.7 96%
The Hague Loevesteinlaan 2009  61 0.7 98%
The Hague Laan van Wateringse Veld 2009  64 0.8 97%
The Hague * Leeghwaterplein, Leemansplein 2021 155 1.8 100%
The Hague Waldorpstraat, Calandstraat 2021 77 0.9 100%
The Hague Ockenburghstraat 2021 23 0.4 100%
Dordrecht Van Eesterenplein 1994  96 1.0 99%
Dordrecht Overkampweg 2012  33 0.4 97%
Gouda Plateelstraat 2015  40 0.5 100%
Gouda Winterdijk 2012  36 0.4 99%
Gouda Vest, Verloren Kost 2018  30 0.4 100%
Haarlem Disselkade 2015  25 0.5 100%
Harderwijk Bachdreef 1994  41 0.5 100%
Heemskerk N. Hennemanpad, Raadhuisstraat 2019  60 0.7 100%

* Including some retail or office space 
** 50% interest 
*** Leasehold (not perpetual)
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City Address Year of construction Rentable units Theoretical rental level in € mln Occupancy rate

Heemskerk Ganzenveer 2006  27 0.3 100%
Heerhugowaard Jade 2005  56 0.7 98%
Hendrik Ido Ambacht * Ring, Avelingen 1997  32 0.4 98%
Hilversum Van Linschotenlaan 2018  55 0.7 100%
Hoofddorp Markenburg 1992  54 0.5 98%
Hoofddorp Ter Veenlaan 2008  69 0.8 100%
Hoofddorp Burg. Van Stamplein 2017  63 0.8 100%
Maarssen Waterstede 2005  60 0.8 100%
Maarssen Bisonspoor 2017  60 0.7 100%
Nijmegen Irene Vorrinkstraat 2011  53 0.7 100%
Nijmegen Irene Vorrinkstraat 2015  28 0.3 100%
Nijmegen Irene Vorrinkstraat 2017  27 0.3 100%
Oegstgeest Rozenlaan 2006  44 0.6 97%
Ridderkerk Drierivierenlaan 2018  66 0.8 100%
Rotterdam * Brede Hilledijk, et al. 2021 356 5.9 95%
Rotterdam Hesseplaats 2011  58 0.7 100%
Rotterdam Mauritsweg 2013  75 1.1 94%
Rotterdam Siciliëboulevard 2021 49 0.7 100%
Schiedam *** Olof Palmeborg, et al. 2005  66 0.7 97%
Son en Breugel Molenstraat 2018  48 0.6 100%
Utrecht Diamantweg 2012  28 0.4 100%
Utrecht Huis te Zuylenlaan 2006  39 0.5 95%
Utrecht Operettelaan 2008  22 0.3 95%
Utrecht Burchtplein, Zuiderburcht 2011  38 0.5 100%
Utrecht * Vlechtdraadhof 2017  66 0.8 99%
Waalwijk Engelsestraat 2018  60 0.7 100%
Wormerveer Houtkade, Krommenieerweg 1997  36 0.4 97%
Zeist Antonlaan, Geiserlaan 2019  40 0.6 100%
Zoetermeer ** Noordwaarts, et al. 1989  48 0.4 96%
Zoetermeer Haussmannruimte 2004  44 0.6 100%
Zwolle Van der Capellenstraat 1986/2009  104 1.0 98%

4,058 56.6 98%
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City Address Year of construction Rentable units Theoretical rental level in € mln Occupancy rate

Single-family homes
Almere Eeuwenweg 1997  35 0.4 100%
Amersfoort Glorie van Hollandgaarde, et al. 1995  29 0.3 100%
Assen Papayapad, Perzikstraat 2005  33 0.4 100%
Bemmel Gersthof 1987  21 0.2 100%
Best Plataan, Salderes 1985  36 0.4 100%
Blaricum Gooischedreef, et al. 2016  31 0.4 100%
Breda Kerkuil, Blauwvoet, Havik 1988  39 0.4 95%
Breda Deinzestraat, Bornemstraat 1989  36 0.4 100%
Deventer Esdoornlaan, Espad 1986  40 0.4 100%
Doorn * Simon Vestdijkhof et al. 1986  36 0.4 100%
Haarlem Chris Soumokilstraat, et al. 1988  93 1.1 99%
Haarlem Vrijheidsweg, Sutan Sjahrirstraat 1988  30 0.3 96%
Harderwijk Bachdreef 1994  15 0.2 100%
Hoevelaken Beekhof, Schalenhoek 2017  28 0.4 100%
Hoofddorp Achtermeerstraat 2018  35 0.5 100%
Maassluis Stellingmolen, Walmolen, Bergmolen 1988  23 0.3 96%
Nieuw-Vennep Koperslager, Grutter, Tolgaarder, Baker 1987  46 0.5 100%
Oosterhout Admiraalsdam, Herendam, Drostendam 1988  51 0.5 98%
Oosterhout Max Havelaardreef, et al. 1996  38 0.4 95%
Rosmalen Alverborch, Zalmborch, et al. 1985  40 0.5 100%
Sassenheim Evert van Dijkpad, Parmentierpad 1986  31 0.4 100%
Soesterberg Gemini, Mercury 1986  60 0.7 100%
Tilburg Abdij van Bernestraat, et al. 1988  32 0.3 97%
Tilburg Harmelenstraat, et al. 1991  24 0.3 100%
Tilburg Kerkdrielstraat 1990  24 0.3 100%
Uden Abdijlaan, Klemvogel 1988  42 0.5 98%
Udenhout Helmkruid, Anemoon 1986  22 0.2 100%
Udenhout Anemoon, Kamille, Sint Janskruid 1988  14 0.2 100%
Uithoorn Patrijs, Knobbelzwaan 2019  30 0.4 100%
Utrecht Sáo Vicentedreef, Londrinadreef, et al. 2018  30 0.4 100%
Valkenswaard De Meule, De Maalsteen, De Meelkuip 1985  35 0.4 100%
Valkenswaard De Meule 1987  14 0.2 100%
Voorhout Kruidenschans, Lavendelweg, et al. 1987  47 0.5 100%
Waalwijk C. Koemanstraat, G. Frisiusstraat 2019  26 0.3 100%
Waalwijk Rembrandtpark 1986  31 0.3 97%
Zevenaar Monnetstraat, Spaakstraat 1985  40 0.4 100%

1,237 14.4 99%
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Rentable units Theoretical rental level in € mln Occupancy rate

Total appartements and single family homes  5,295 71.1 98%
Minus: 50% interest in Zoetermeer - -0.2

Total of all segments  5,295 70.9 98%
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Secured pipeline
Secured pipeline (€524 mln of which €286 mln already paid); all projects in construction phase

City Location Year of completion Rentable units Theoretical rental level in € mln

Almere Goudplevierweg 2022 174  2.1
Amstelveen Burg. Rijnderslaan 2023 124 2.8
Amsterdam Elzenhagensingel 2022  184  2.8 
Amsterdam Kraanspoor, Werfkade 2024 181 2.7
Den Bosch Branderijstraat 2022 54 0.8
Leiden Robijnhof 2023 160 1.9
The Hague Bertrand Russelllaan 2022 36 0.6
Tilburg Magazijnstraat 2023 70 0.8
Uithoorn Marktplein 2022 28 0.5
Utrecht W.F. Hermansstraat 2022 47 0.6
Utrecht A. Blamanstraat 2022 47 0.6
Utrecht P. Picassostraat 2022 54 0.7
Zaandam Houtveldweg et al. 2023-2025 357 5.0

1,516 21.9
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31/03/2021
German investment  
manager backs Altera retail 
fund for €7.0 million

02/11/2021
Altera contracts ALDI for 
Bieshof in Dordrecht

21/07/2021
Disposal of retail property 
on Karrestraat in Breda

03/05/2021
Acquisition of single 
supermarket in Nijmegen

08/06/2021
Altera webinar on food 
and Convenience Retail

06/05/2021
Jumbo expands and new tenant 
Zuivelhoeve at Utrecht Mereveldplein 30/09/2021

Dutch pension fund backs Altera 
retail fund for €50.0 million

12/10/2021
Disposal of 2 comparison 
assets in city center of 
Breda and Haarlem

18/10/2021
Verhage expanding in 
Bieshof convenience 
centre in Dordrecht

30/09/2021
Italian investor backs Altera 
retail fund for €10.5 million

17/12/2021
Acquisition of 
Brouwhorst convenience 
centre in Helmond

03/12/2021
Disposal of comparison asset 
in city center of Apeldoorn

23/12/2021
Disposal of comparison 
asset in Uden

27/12/2021
Disposal of specialty 
centre in Utrecht

Timeline Altera 
Retail 2021
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Market structure
• Attractive investment products due to 

favourable risk/return ratio 
• Convenience retail is need driven, providing 

the basic needs of customers
• Convenience retail is less cyclically sensitive 

because of its need-driven character
• Positive trend in fundamentals for 

Convenience even during COVID-19

Market trends
• COVID-19 creates a lasting market split 

between Comparison and Convenience 
retail

• After COVID-19 shopping recovers, but 
consumers shop closer to home and for 
shorter periods

• Food retail saw turnover stabilise after peak 
year 2020 due to the forced closure of 
restaurants and bars

• Turnover recovery for non-food, with part of 
it permanently shifted to online

• Strong demand for Convenience: yields are 
decreasing mainly for supermarkets but also 
for convenience centres

• Share of retail in shopping areas decreasing 
due to addition of several functions, 
particularly in comparison shopping areas

Strategy 2021 Policy objective (3 years)

Focus on convenience retail 84% 100%
Phasing out comparison and specialty shopping 16% 0%

Convenience driven strategy ... 
for continued stable return with minimum risk 

Lower average size of convenience ... 
with stable tenants characterised by longer lease contracts and higher retention rate 

Always strong spending potential ...
as this is aligned with revenue potential

Stable sector mix ...
with increase of supermarkets and need-driven retail

As convenient as possible ...
because the success of a convenience retail centre or stand-alone supermarket 
strongly depends on the ease for the consumer to visit it

Strategy
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Portfolio characteristics
Year-end 2021 Year-end 2020

Portfolio characteristics
Operational portfolio €592 mln €603 mln
Theoretical annual rent €42.7 mln €44.1 mln
Theoretical annual rent/value of portfolio 7.2% 7.3%
Number of properties 39 42
Number of leases  549  567 
Contract rent versus market rent +3% +4%
Residual term of current leases  3.8 year  3.8 year 
Average rent per m2 €201 €208
Occupancy rate 93% 94%

Year-end 2021 Year-end 2020

Segmentation of operational portfolio
Convenience shopping
Value of portfolio €495 mln €447 mln
Theoretical annual rent/value of portfolio 6.8% 7.1%
Occupancy rate 95% 95%

Comparison shopping
Value of portfolio €97 mln €130 mln
Theoretical annual rent/value of portfolio 9.2% 8.2%
Occupancy rate 88% 89%

Specialty shopping 
Value of portfolio N/A €26 mln
Theoretical annual rent/value of portfolio N/A 6.5%
Occupancy rate N/A 100%
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Portfolio structure

Remaining rental income

2022

2023

2024

2025

2026

2027

2028

2029

2030

2031

95%

83%

68%

50%

33%

18%

13%

11%

4%

1%

Property type

84%

16%

45%

62%

18%

8%

4%
3%

3%

Size per property

Convenience retail
Comparison retail

>€50 mln (2)
€25 mln - €50 mln (6)
€15 mln - €25 mln (5)
€5 mln - €15 mln (11)
<€5 mln (15)

Tenant sectors

3%10%
20%10%

23%

15%

15%

39%

21%

Food
Fashion
Other non-food
Services and catering 
Non-retail (parking, residential)

Top 5 tenants

Ahold-Delhaize
Jumbo
A.S. Watson
Lidl
Plus
Others

Portfolio consists mainly of 
convenience properties (84%)

Spread over larger and smaller properties

At least 68% of the current leases are due to run until 2024
The average residual term is 3.8 years

Average quality 
score Total portfolio 
of 77 and 
Convenience 79

Food is the largest sector Top 5 tenants together: 38%

Quality score of portfolio

100

90

80

70

60

50

Location Total scoreAssetMarket

Convenience
Total portfolio
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Key figures
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

3-year  
2019-2021

5-year  
2017-2021

10-year 
 2012-2021

Income return 5.7% 5.6% 5.8% 6.0% 6.2% 5.7% 5.9% 6.1%
Capital growth -0.2% -9.6% -0.4% 0.7% 0.4% -3.5% -1.9% -2.6%

Total property return 5.5% -4.5% 5.4% 6.7% 6.6% 2.0% 3.8% 3.4%
Management and fund costs -0.3% -0.4% -0.4% -0.4% -0.4% -0.4% -0.4% -0.4%
Impact of cash and leverage 0.0% 0.0% -0.1% -0.2% 0.0% 0.0% 0.1% 0.0%
Other effects -0.1% -0.5% 0.1% 0.3% 0.1% -0.2% 0.0% 0.0%

Fund return (IFRS) 5.1% -5.4% 5.0% 6.4% 6.3% 1.4% 3.4% 3.0%

Fund return (INREV) 5.2% -5.5% 5.8% N/A N/A 1.7% N/A N/A
Dividend return 5.5% 5.5% 5.4% 5.9% 5.9% 5.5% 5.6% 5.7%

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Other
Average occupancy rate 94% 93% 93% 93% 93%
Occupancy rate at year-end 93% 94% 93% 93% 93%
Net/gross rental income 82% 80% 84% 85% 85%
Gross initial yield at year-end 7.2% 7.3% 7.1% 7.2% 7.5%

Average number of outstanding shares (x mln)  637.6  638.9  602.2  641.5  680.0 
Number of outstanding shares at year-end (x mln)  638.8  629.8  638.9  593.2  680.0 
Total investment income per share (€) 0.046 -0.055  0.051  0.067  0.064 
Net asset value per share IFRS (€)  0.948  0.952  1.063  1.068  1.063 
Net asset value per share INREV (€)  0.958  0.961  1.073  1.069 N/A
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“ ALDI: ample parking space at  
ground level is key”

ALDI is the clear market leader in the hard-discount field, and has around five hundred supermarkets across the 
Netherlands. Erwin Wessels, CIO of Altera, sipped a cup of delicious ALDI Moreno coffee with Rutger Mulder, 
Managing Director Real Estate and Expansion of ALDI Netherlands at the Breukelen-based ALDI offices. 

ALDI is one of the leading international retailers. The discounter focuses on the essence: offering its 
customers in nine European countries reliable and high-quality products against the lowest possible 
price. Rutger Mulder: “ALDI started in the Netherlands in the 1970s and of course the supermarket 
landscape is changing, but we are the inventor of the hard discount store and want to remain 
so.” The ALDI real estate department prefers to own all the retail properties. Rutger Mulder: 
“Ownership will bring us the very best retail store locations, including existing locations. We 
often buy retail in development only to realise the best location after a number of years. 
One of the important things here is to have ample parking space at ground level.” District 
shopping centre Bieshof Dordrecht, owned by Altera, is a good example of this. 

Interaction between retailer and owner

Rutger Mulder explains that as a hard discount retailer, ALDI is a different kind 
of supermarket than a full-service supermarket. “ALDI has some 1,700 articles, 
while full-service supermarkets may have around 10,000 to 15,000 articles. The 
frequency of visits to a discounter is somewhat lower and car use is higher, so 
our customers come by car more often. That’s why ground level stores are very 
important to us.” Erwin Wessels: “That’s the interaction between retailer and 
owner and how we can reach an optimum together. We know this is one of 
the important elements for ALDI. We have seen again and again that a well-
functioning supermarket in your shopping centre automatically creates a plus 
for the rest of the shopping centre. We simply need each other.”
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Parking space at ground level is key

Rutger Mulder: “There are few large investors who understand that the best thing for a 
supermarket is to have an entrance at the front and at the back for parking your car. Altera has this 
understanding. The availability of parking space at ground level will positively impact turnover.” 

Ambitions are high

ALDI has clear ambitions for growth in opening new stores. Rutger Mulder: “There is room for 
growth, especially in the Randstad area, and we plan to open a lot of physical stores in the next 
few years.” Erwin Wessels: “This contradicts those who talk about the end of physical stores. We 
firmly believe that physical convenience stores will continue to exist and it is good to see that large 
retailers, such as ALDI, think alike.” Rutger Mulder: “But only if supermarkets will be situated in the 
best locations. This is a prerequisite for success. A pleasant, easily accessible supermarket with 
plenty of parking spaces at ground level will invite consumers to enter the store for shopping. That is 
why we have invested heavily in improving and expanding our real estate in recent years.”

Transformation

In 5 years’ time, ALDI stores have been transformed into beautiful, sustainable and well-architected 
supermarkets at the right locations. Rutger Mulder: “With a team of 25 people, our real estate 
department is working hard to realise this. As a retailer we are also keen to develop stores ourselves, 
from the purchase of land to the building phase, including the Zwijndrecht ALDI, where we extended 
the underground car park, allowing customers to reach the store easily. Shopping centres such as 
those in Zwijndrecht and Dordrecht that are close to the main road with plenty of parking space are 
very important to us. ALDI stores like being in those kinds of shopping centres!”

Focus on growth and innovation

Altera has a clear focus on further growth of convenience in its portfolio. ALDI Süd has now opened 
its first cashless supermarket Shop&Go shop in Greenwich, London. To access the shop, customers 
must download and use the ALDI Shop&Go app. In 2022, ALDI will test a cashless supermarket in 
Utrecht in House Modernes, on the corner of Oudegracht and Lange Viestraat. Groceries are paid 
for automatically, without scanning. The system only follows the movements of the customer and the 
article. The trial will last twelve months and must, according to ALDI, show whether this technology 
'simplifies processes for customers and employees'. Erwin Wessels: “Altera is closely monitoring this 
and happy to facilitate ALDI in this process going forward.”

About ALDI
ALDI is the inventor of discount and has around five hundred shops across the Netherlands. These 
shops are managed by six regional head offices. Over 10,000 ALDI employees in The Netherlands 
are the beating heart of this growing organisation. ALDI has a carefully selected range of fresh, long-
life and non-food products.

Websites:
www.aldi.nl
www.aldi.nl/over-ons/over-aldi/hoe-het-allemaal-begon

https://www.aldi.nl
https://www.aldi.nl/over-ons/over-aldi/hoe-het-allemaal-begon.html
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Retail market trends
Strong growth of economy due to increased consumption
The economic growth in 2021 reached 4.5%. This is a considerable increase compared to 2020. 
In 2020, the economy had actually shrunk by no less than 3.8% due to the COVID-19 pandemic. 
The increased consumption by households that resulted from a more open society was the reason 
for the strong growth of the economy in 2021. It was also one of the drivers of inflation. Since the 
economy opened up, demand has systematically outstripped supply and this is driving up prices.

From the summer 2021 onwards, gas prices in the Netherlands rose, until last November inflation 
reached its highest point in 40 years: goods and services were 5.2% more expensive than a year 
earlier. By far the largest part of the increase is due to energy prices.

The rising contagion has brought the large support measures by the government for companies 
back in November 2021. The effect of these support measures is a number of bankruptcies that 
is unprecedentedly low. Never before has the labour market been tighter than it is now. Since 
this spring, there have even been more vacancies than unemployed people. In December 2021, 
unemployment fell to a level of 3.8%. At the start of the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020, there was a 
sharp increase in unemployment: from 4.0% in February to 5.5% in August 2020. Subsequently, 
unemployment fell almost all the time until the end of 2021 (source: CBS).

Consumer spending vs consumer confidence 
(source: CBS)
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Consumer confidence drops but still 
growing retail sales
Many people are spending a relatively large part of their income on energy costs due to inflation, 
which is leading to lower consumer confidence. Consumer confidence dropped from -3 in March to 
-25 in December and is therefore below the average of the past twenty years (-8). 

Despite the low level of consumer confidence, retail turnover has increased. On average, retail 
turnover increased by 4.4% in 2021 compared to 2020. Turnover in non-food increased by 2.5%, 
with the largest increase being realised by shops in fashion and shoes, despite a poor start in 
2021 due to the lockdown. Due to the strong increase in turnover for DIY (Do-It-Yourself) and 
consumer electronics in 2020 as a result of COVID-19, there was now a decrease compared to this 
successful year. Within food, sales increased by 0.6%, despite the already strong growth in 2020. 
Both supermarkets and fresh food retailers increased their turnover. Online turnover showed the 
strongest growth in 2021, which occurred mainly at the time of the lockdowns that forced non-food 
retailers to close. On average, online sales increased by 23.6% in 2021 (source: CBS). 

Online food turnover also showed a stronger increase as a result of COVID-19. The share of online 
supermarket sales compared to total supermarket turnover increased less rapidly, because the 
physical supermarkets also showed a strong increase in turnover. In 2020 the share of online 
supermarkets increased from 3.3% in 2019 to 5.0%. In 2021, growth seems to stabilise more and 
the share of online supermarkets increased only slightly from 5.0% to 5.4%. (source: Supermarkt & 
Ruimte, November 2021).

Stable rental prices for Convenience 
Overall, the average market rents remained more or less stable in 2021. Despite the fact that both 
food and non-food showed a positive development of turnover, a difference in the development of 
market rents is visible when looking at convenience and comparison shopping areas. Convenience 
retail areas, with a large share of food, proved to be more stable during the COVID-19 pandemic. 
Market rents therefore remained stable or increased slightly. The comparison shopping areas are 
under more pressure, causing market rents to drop slightly. 

Changes in rent and vacancy Dutch retail 
(source: MSCI and Locatus)
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Occupancy rate is increasing for all 
types of retail locations 
Despite the lockdown and the resulting lower turnover in non-food as a result of COVID-19, the 
occupancy rate in 2021 increased. The occupancy rate (based on number of retail units) increased 
from 92.5% at the beginning of 2021 to 93.2% at the end of the year. 

The main reason for the increase in the occupancy rate is the fact that a large number of properties 
were withdrawn from the stock in 2021. Although it is often impossible to find out what the new 
function of a property is, it can be assumed that in most cases it is a residence. This seems to be the 
main explanation for the declining vacancy rate: the overstrained housing market. 

This only applies to comparison and specialty shopping areas, as the number of properties in 
convenience retail areas has actually increased. Nevertheless, the occupancy rate in convenience 
retail areas has increased just as much (from 92.1% to 93.1%). The explanation for this is the good 
performance of food retail and need-driven shops and their high share in convenience retail areas. 

The occupancy rate is significantly higher in convenience retail centres (+3.2%) compared to the 
comparison shopping centres. 

Occupancy rate as a percentage of retail units
(source: Locatus)
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Investment market
The retail investment volume in 2021 is lower than a year earlier. In 2021, the RETT (Real Estate 
Transfer Tax) increased by 2% to 8%. As a result, there was a peak in retail transactions in the last 
quarter of 2020, but there were virtually no transactions in the first two quarters of 2021. In the 
third and fourth quarters, the number of transactions increased again. 

Because of the stable income also during the COVID-19 period, the majority of investments in Dutch 
retail in 2021 were convenience retail centres and supermarkets (also convenience). That is why 
there was yield compression for convenience retail throughout the year. The number of transactions 
in comparison retail is increasing, partly because comparison retail has become more attractive 
after a long period of negative capital growth. As a result, yields in comparison retail are showing 
some stabilisation after years of rising. 

Negative capital growth and an income return that is under pressure for comparison retail lead 
also in 2021 to negative capital growth. In contrast, both capital growth and income return for 
convenience retail are more positive, leading to a positive total return in 2021. The difference in 
total return between convenience and comparison retail, whereby convenience retail realised a 
more positive total return, has been increasing since 2016. As a result of COVID-19, this difference 
increased further.

Occupancy rate EOY 2020 and 2021 per type of shopping centre
(source: Locatus)
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Evolution of total property return Retail
(source: MSCI, 2021)

16%

14%

12%

10%

8%

6%

4%

2%

0%

-2

-4

-6

-8

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Convenience Comparison

Outlook
Predictions are still uncertain because the course of COVID-19 and thus the impact on retail can 
hardly be estimated. Restrictive measures have a direct negative impact on non-food spending. The 
year 2022 started with a lockdown, which will depress growth in the short term. How much the growth 
will be depressed depends on the length of the lockdown and how COVID-19 will develop further. 
For 2022, the outlook is that the economy will continue to grow strongly. How much growth will be 
depressed depends on the length of the lockdown as well as on how COVD-19 will further develop.

If the labour market remains tight, wages and prices will continue to rise and inflation will remain 
higher. The rise in wages lags behind inflation, which has an impact on purchasing power and thus 
consumer spending. It has already been shown that food is not sensitive to cyclical fluctuations and, 

after two years of strong growth, a stabilisation of sales is expected. For non-food 2022 remains 
uncertain, because of declining purchasing power, but also because of the unpredictable course of 
COVID-19. 

As a consequence, rents are expected to further decrease in comparison shopping areas (with a 
large share of non-food) while the vacancy rate will increase further due to expected bankruptcies 
within non-food once the government support measures end. The rents are expected to stay 
stable of slightly increase in convenience retail centres (with a large share of food). Because of the 
increasing differentiation in performance between comparison versus convenience retail, we see the 
market split as an ongoing trend in 2022.
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Retail Sector balance sheet

(amounts x €1,000)
Notes to the financial 

statements 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Assets

Investments
Property in operation 1  572,026  566,300 
Participating interest 2  20,429  37,204 

 592,455  603,504 

Other fixed assets 
Tangible fixed assets 4  450  551 
Capitalised lease incentives 1 / 5  407  519 

857  1,070 

Current assets 
Accounts receivable 6  709  501 
Other receivables 7  2,425 39,853
Liquidities 8  36,552  22,436 

 39,686  62,790 

Total assets   632,998  667,364 

(amounts x €1,000)
Notes to the financial 

statements 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Equity + liabilities

Equity
Issued share capital 9  319,410  314,922 
Paid-in surplus 10  392,473  388,766 
Revaluation reserve 11  78,541  66,042 
Other reserves 12  -184,594  -169,806 

13  605,830  599,924 

Non-current liabilities
Other provisions 14  9,659  9,659 
Lease liabilities 15  1,536  1,554 

11,195 11,213

Current liabilities
Lease liabilities 15  97  112 
Liabilities to banks 16 - -
Creditors and other liabilities 17  15,876  56,115 

 15,973  56,227 

Total equity + liabilities   632,998  667,364 
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Retail Sector profit and loss account
(amounts x €1,000) Notes to the financial statements 2021 2020

Theoretical gross rental income 18  41,944  49,387 
Vacancy 18  -2,337  -3,309 
Other 18  -1,014  -737 
Revenue from service charges 19  3,635  2,728 
Service charges 19  -4,035  -3,077 
Operating expenses 20  -6,265  -8,599 

Net rental income  31,928  36,393 

Investment revaluation result 21, 22  13,613  -63,249 
Result on disposals 23  1,947  -4,918 

 15,560  -68,167 

Result from participating interest 2  -15,408  -142 
Management and fund costs 24  -2,051  -2,471 
Other income 25  113 -

 -17,346  -2,613 

 
Net operating result  30,142  -34,387 
Other expenses 26 -190  -105 
Interest income/expenses 27  -234  -683 

Net result  29,718  -35,175 

Direct investment income 28  31,023  34,683 
Indirect investment income 29  -1,305  -69,858 

Total investment income  29,718  -35,175 
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Notes to 2021 results

Highlights results 2021
• Fund return increased to 5.1% (2020: -5.4%) with improved capital growth of -0.2%  

(2020: -9.6%) 
• Income return increased to 5.7% (2020: 5.6%) with lower impact of COVID-19 than in 2020
• Outperforming MSCI benchmark over 1, 3 and 5 years
• Portfolio predominantly positioned in convenience segment (84%; end of year 2020: 74%) 
• Six properties were divested for a total net amount of €39 million
• Three properties (two supermarkets and a medium size convenience centre) were added to the 

portfolio for an amount of €28 million
• Average occupancy rate on 94% (year-end: 93%)
• Leases signed worth an annual rent of €12.8 million 
• Total of €39 million worth of entries in share capital and redemptions of €31 million

Returns
Our convenience strategy paid out in 2021 with good returns and a limited impact of COVID-19. 
The fund return increased to 5.1% (2020: -5.4%) by a minimal downgrade of -0.2% (2020: -9.6%). 
The income return increased to 5.7% (2020: 5.6%) due to less impact of COVID-19 (-0,2%) such as 
rent reductions and bad debt provisions than in the previous year (-0.3%). The yield compression 
in the convenience segment resulted in an upgrade of 3.9% (2020: -0.9%). The downgrade in the 
comparison segment was still high (-16.3%: 2020: -27.1%). Due to divestments this year and earlier 
years, the impact of the comparison segment decreased (17% of the retail portfolio). 

10-year annual property return

10%

5%

0%

-5%

-10%

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2020 2012-
2022

6.1%

-2.6%

20192018

Income return Capital growth

2021

6.0%

0.7%

6.2%

-2.9%

6.5%

-4.1%

6.6%

-3.9%

6.2%

0.4%

6.2%

-2.6%

5.6%

-9.6%

5.7%

-0.2%

6.4%

-2.8%
-0.4%

5.8%

Altera outperformed the MSCI ‘all investments’ benchmark over one, three and five years in 2021 
due to higher income return and capital growth.

Retail:  
all investments

 Altera MSCI Netherlands Property Index
Income return  Capital growth  Total Income return  Capital growth  Total 

2021 5.7% -0.2% 5.5% 4.5% -3.3% 1.1%
2020 5.6% -9.6% -4.5% 4.7% -8.7% -4.3%
2019 5.8% -0.4% 5.4% 4.8% -2.8% 1.9%
2018 6.0% 0.7% 6.7% 4.9% 0.0% 4.9%
2017 6.2% 0.4% 6.6% 5.3% 0.4% 5.7%
3-year 5.7% -3.5% 2.0% 4.7% -5.0% -0.5%
5-year 5.9% -1.9% 3.8% 4.8% -2.9% 1.8%
10-year 6.1% -2.6% 3.4% 5.3% -2.8% 2.4%
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The return on standing investments of 5.6% (2020: -4.7%) is slightly higher than the portfolio as a 
whole of 5.5% (2020: -4.5%). The gain on divestments (€1.9 million) outweighed the impact of the 
first valuation of the acquisitions including the impact of 8% real estate transfer tax (€1.5 million). 

The dividend return of 5.5% was in line with 2020 (5.5%).

Direct investment income
The average occupancy rate remained stable on 94%. Of the rent in 2021 97% was paid by the 
tenants, as a result of the favourable tenant mix of Altera. The COVID-19 impact in 2021 amounted 
to €1.0 million for rent reductions granted to tenants and €0.4 million net additions to the provision 
for bad debts (2020: €0.4 million respectively €1.6 million). The net/gross ratio increased from 80% 
to 82%. 

Compared to 2020 the theoretical gross rental income decreased from €49.4 million to €44.6 
million in 2021, mainly due to the impact of divestments at the end of 2020. 

The changes in direct investment income were as follows:

Changes in direct investment income In € mln Effect

Direct investment income 2020 34.7
Acquisitions in 2021 and 2020 0.4 1.1%
Divestments in 2021 -0.6 -1.8%
Divestments in 2020 -4.1 -11.7%
Rent reductions -0.4 -1.2%
Lower management costs 0.4 1.2%
Other net effects 0.6 1.7%

Direct investment income 2021 31.0 -10.7%

The average contract rent is slightly above the market rent. The difference between market rent and 
contract rent narrowed to 2.6% in 2021 (2020: 3.4%). 

Indirect investment income
The portfolio decreased in value in 2021 by -0.2% due to a lower rental value (effect of -0.4%), a 
lower initial yield (effect of 0.5%) and the effect of properties which were not a full year in operation 
of -0.3%. The gross initial yield (theoretical rent divided by the appraisal value) of 7.2% at the end 
of 2021 was 0.1% lower than at year-end 2020 (7.3%). 

The attribution of the revaluation in 2021 and 2020 is as follows per segment:

Attribution revaluation In € mln
2021 

In % of segment In € mln
2020

In % of segment

Convenience 18.6 3.9% -4.3 -0.9%
Comparison -21.2 -16.3% -65.7 -27.1%
Specialty 1.3 4.9% 0.1 0.3%

Total -1.3 -0.2% -69.9 -9.6%

Based on the attribution of the returns, the strategy of Altera to invest predominantly in the 
convenience segment proves to be solid. 

The spread of changes in value over the properties that were in operation throughout the year is 
detailed in the table below. In 30 of the 36 properties the value increased in 2021; in 2020 that 
was the case in 21 of the 40 properties. The effect of downgrades of more than -10% decreased: in 
2021 there were two properties with an effect of €-17.3 million; in 2020 there were six properties 
with an effect of €-36.5 million.
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Changes in value 
of investments in 
operation for full year

Change in value in
% vs year-end 2020

Number of 
properties

Change in value
2021 in € mln

Change in value 
2020 in € mln

<-10% -47.2% 2 -17.3 -36.5
Between -10% and -5% -6.2% 1 -3.1 -10.7
Between -5% and 0% -3.0% 3 -4.7 -4.0
Between 0% and 5% 2.6% 7 3.1 2.4
Between 5% and 10% 7.8% 13 10.6 5.8
>10% 18.0% 10 12 1.1

Total 0.1% 36 0.6 -41.9

In 2021 as a whole 12 investments changed appraiser, with a downgrade of -7.3%. In 2020 there 
were 13 with a -4.4% downgrade. 

The spread of the valuation at year-end 2021 and the valuation at year-end 2020 in terms of the 
gross initial yield (with costs payable by the purchaser) is shown below:

Spread of gross initial yield (average: 7.2%)

Less than 5.5%

5.5 - 6.0%

6.0 - 6.5%

6.5 - 7.0%

7.0 - 8.0%

More than 8.0%

11%
4%

14%
2%

26%
40%

7%
9%

20%
14%

2021 2020

22%
31%

Trends in rents and operating expenses
Movements in theoretical rental income in 2021 are described below:

Developments in theoretical rent 2021 2020

Indexation 1.7% 1.9%
Rent adjustment (excluding indexation) -1.3% -2.0%
Portfolio transactions -3.5% -14.3%

Change over the year -3.1% -14.4%

Leases were signed with a total of 190 tenants in 2021, with annual rent amounting to €12.8 
million. In 2020 we recorded €10.5 million with 161 tenants. As part of COVID-19 arrangements, 
169 addenda were negotiated (of which up to year-end 2021 126 have been signed) by tenants for 
payment reliefs. Rent reductions were combined with an extension of the lease length.

Rental transactions are summarised as follows:

Rental transactions 2021 2020

Number of leases and renewals signed 190 161
Number of m2 59,875 44,641
New annual rent €12.8 mln €10.5 mln
Of which from previously vacant properties €1.6 mln €0.6 mln
Future cash flow of leases signed €31.0 mln €23.6 mln
New rent versus market rent used by appraisers 7.8% 0.8%

The average residual lease term at the end of 2021 was 3.8 years and in line with 2020 (3.8 years).
Rent arrears exceeding 90 days of 4.6% were significantly higher than year-end 2020 (3.1%) due 
to COVID-19. Of the gross level of these arrears of €2.6 million an amount of €1.9 million has been 
provided for.
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Total operating expenses (including service charges for vacant properties) decreased relative to the 
theoretical rental income from 17% to 16% due to less maintenance expenses.

Operating expenses 2021 2020

Maintenance expenses 3% 4%
Fixed expenses 4% 4%
Property management expenses 2% 2%
Other 7% 7%

Total 16% 17%

Portfolio transactions and upgrades
In 2021 we acquired two supermarkets in Nijmegen and Lisse and a medium size convenience 
centre in Helmond for a total amount of €28.1 million. 

Investments in 2021
Number 

of tenants
Net lettable  

space (in m2)
Property  

type
Annual rent  

(in € mln)
Month  

of transfer

Nijmegen
Meijhorst 1 1,436 Convenience 0.3 April
Lisse
Madelief 1 1,442 Convenience 0.2 July
Helmond 
Brouwhorst 24 6,929 Convenience 1.2 December

Total 26 9,807  1.7  

Six properties were divested for a total net amount of €38.8 million:

Divestments in 2021
Number 

of tenants
Net lettable  

space (in m2)
Property  

type
Annual rent  

(in € mln)
Month  

of transfer

Apeldoorn
Hoofdstraat 1 227 Comparison 0.1 December
Breda
Ginnekenstraat 1 562 Comparison 0.1 October
Karrestraat 1 393 Comparison 0.2 July
Haarlem
Grote Houtstraat 1 279 Comparison 0.1 October
Uden
Brabantplein 15 3,430 Comparison 0.6 December
Utrecht 
Kaap de Goede Hooplaan 14 15,903 Specialty 1.7 December

Total 33 20,794  2.8  

The share of the convenience segment increased from 74% at the end of 2020 to 84% at the end of 
2021 resulting in a significant improvement of the return risk profile. According to Altera’s strategy, 
the remaining properties in the non-convenience segments will be divested in the coming two years. 

Other notes
In recent years, the shareholder base of Altera Retail has become more diversified with 20 non-
domestic investors, representing 51% of the equity. In 2021 entries amounted to €39.2 million 
and redemptions in an amount of €31.0 million (2020: €38.3 million of entries and redemptions 
of €47.0 million). At the end of 2021 the number of shareholders of 28 was one less than year-end 
2020 as a result of two new entrants and three redeeming investors (2020: 29). 
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ESG
With a view to its sustainability strategy, Altera works on the basis of three pillars that have been set 
out on page 33 of this annual report. The KPIs per pillar achieved in 2021 are set out hereafter. 

ESG Strategy

1. Our Sustainable Real Estate

Saving 
Various improvements were implemented in 2021 and several sustainable assets have been added 
to the portfolio. This increased the sustainability of the portfolio. A total of 95% of the portfolio is 
completely green (label A, B or C) with the aim to increase this share to 100% by the end of 2024. 
Currently, the share of retail properties with an A-label is 89% and the objective is to increase this 
percentage to more than 90% by the end of 2024. 

Generating 
Altera aims to install 3,000 solar panels before end of year 2024. The power of these solar panels 
are being fed into the retail assets, predominantly for the common areas and partly for the tenants. 
We currently investigate innovative concepts in which lightweight solar panels can be installed.

Greening 
Altera works with its property managers to purchase green energy (electricity and gas) for the 
common areas. In 2021, 73% of the electricity consumed in common areas was accounted for by 
green electricity. Altera is trying to exert as much influence as possible to increase the share of 
green electricity to 100% by the end of 2024. In addition, Altera aims to ensure that the purchase of 
electricity by the owners’ associations (VvEs) involved is completely 'green'.

 2021 2020 2019
Strategy  

(EOY 2024)

KPI
% of Green energy labels (A-C) 95% 94% 89% 100%
% of A labels 88% 87% 82% >90%
Average Energy Index 0.72 0.74 0.81 N/A
Average BENG 2 164 kWh/m2 N/A N/A N/A

Acquisition of sustainable properties 
In 2021, three properties with a good sustainability performance were added to the retail portfolio. 
These properties will be provided with a BREEAM certificate, to gain insight into the degree of 
sustainability and the measures to be taken that lead to improvements. 

Data coverage 
Altera took measures in 2021 to increase the structural collection of data at property level. This 
provides insight into the sustainability of the property portfolio including measures for further 
optimisation, and enables benchmarking.

Data coverage 2021 2020 2019 Strategy (EOY 2024)

Energy 100% 100% 100% 100%
Greenhouse gas 100% 100% 100% 100%
Water 98% 13% 36% 100%
Waste 100% 14% 42% 100%
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BREEAM
In 2021, Altera Retail has completed the recertification of the portfolio with the BREEAM-In-
Use certification. The BREEAM-NL-In-Use certification method is used to objectively measure 
sustainability for the entire retail portfolio. Altera is developing roadmaps per asset (green multi-
annual maintenance budget) to optimise the sustainability potential of the assets. This will be 
beneficial for different ESG-elements. 

Since the certification of the total retail portfolio in 2018, the portfolio has become more 
sustainable, which is also reflected in various supermarkets and shopping centres that have 
risen from a score of 'pass' or 'acceptable' to 'good’. The percentage of Convenience assets with 
a BREEAM level Good or higher increased from 48% before the recertification to 65% after the 
recertification.

2. Alignment of interests of our Stakeholders 

GRESB
Altera participates in the annual GRESB survey. In 2021 (results for 2020) the retail portfolio 
achieved a total score of 92 points, which equates to a score of 5 stars. With this score the Altera 
retail portfolio claimed the third position in the category of unlisted Dutch real estate funds. 
However, the benchmark is tightened annually and Altera strives for continuous improvement of 
the maintenance of a frontrunner position. From the analysis, we can conclude that assets are very 
sustainable, Altera is well organised in terms of management (policies and reporting), but that data 
quality can be improved further. Initiatives to improve in these areas started in 2021 in order to 
continue receiving outstanding GRESB results.

GRESB 2021 2020 2019 Strategy (EOY 2024)

Total score 92 88 91
Number of stars 5 5 5 5

Tenant satisfaction 
The research firm Strabo carried out a survey for Altera to investigate satisfaction levels among 
tenants. The research was conducted in 14 shopping centres, which resulted in a total response rate 
of 83%. Altera achieved an average NPS score of 6.7 in terms of tenant satisfaction. The NPS score 
is calculated as the average score for the recommendation of the property by the tenant. The aim is 
to further improve this score through active asset management and to achieve even higher levels of 
satisfaction among tenants.

sector leader 2021

R E A L  E S T A T E

Residential Retail

sector leader 2021

R E A L  E S T A T E

Residential Retail

sector leader 2021
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Residential Retail
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City Address
Year of 
construction Tenant(s) or formulas Number

Net lettable 
space in m2

Theoretical rental 
level in € mln

Occupancy  
rate

Convenience retail 
Convenience centres Large 
Houten Het Rond 1998/2008 Hema, Albert Heijn, Jumbo, Lidl, et al. 93  28,181 6.1 82%
Uithoorn Zijdelwaardplein 1994 Albert Heijn, Jumbo, Blokker, et al. 50  13,565  2.8 97%
Waddinxveen Gouweplein 2014 Albert Heijn, Jumbo, C&A, Lidl, Hema, et al. 57  18,521  4.1 97%
Zwolle Van der Capellenstraat 1986/2009 Albert Heijn, Lidl, Action, Hema, et al. 54  17,439  3.9 93%

254 77,706 16.9 91%
Convenience centres Medium
Amstelveen Westwijkplein 1985 Albert Heijn, Vomar, Kruidvat, et al. 35  8,510  1.9 100%
Dordrecht Van Eesterenplein 12-133 1994 Plus, Albert Heijn, Blokker, Hema, Kruidvat, et al. 33  9,044  1.9 98%
Helmond Brouwhorst 1987 Albert Heijn, Jumbo, Biedroneczka, Kruidvat, et al. 24 6,929 1.1 97%
Hoofddorp Markenburg 1-147A 1992 Blokker, Albert Heijn, Dirk vd Broek, Kruidvat, et al. 28  8,049 1.8 99%

120 32,532 6.7 99%
Convenience centres Small
Culemborg Koopmansgildeplein 1-16 2004 Lidl, Plus, Kruidvat, et al. 7 4,184 0.8 100%
Leusden Maximaplein 2011 Dirk vd Broek, Trekpleister, et al. 5  2,315  0.4 100%
Utrecht Doornburglaan 2001 Albert Heijn, Kruidvat, Blokker, Etos, et al. 17  3,746  0.8 100%
Utrecht De Meern Mereveldplein 1969 Jumbo, Albert Heijn, Kruidvat, et al. 17  5,084  1.0 100%
Wormerveer Marktplein, Krommenieerweg 1997 Albert Heijn, Coop, Kruidvat, Blokker, et al. 15  5,701  1.2 98%

61 21,030 4.2 100%
Supermarkets 
Alkmaar ** Paardenmarkt 2 1985 Jumbo 1  2,027  0.4 100%
Badhoevedorp Zeemanlaan 2-2a 1972 Albert Heijn, Gall & Gall 2  2,150  0.4 100%
Brummen Ambachtstraat 32-38 1995 Jumbo, et al. 3  1,681  0.2 100%
The Hague Weimarstraat 118 <1970 Albert Heijn 1  1,228  0.2 100%
Epe Markt 15 1995 Albert Heijn, Gall & Gall 2  2,079  0.4 100%
Heemstede Blekersvaartweg 57 1995 Albert Heijn 1  1,913  0.4 100%
Hilversum Stephensonlaan 45-49 1956 Jumbo 1  1,795  0.2 100%
Kapelle Biezelingsestraat 1 1999 Albert Heijn, et al. 2  1,594  0.2 100%
Lisse Madelief 8, 10 2008 ALDI 1  1,442  0.2 100%
Naarden Evert de Bruijnstraat 78-82 1996 Plus 1  1,366  0.2 100%

Retail portfolio year-end 2021 * 50% interest 
** Leasehold (not perpetual)
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City Address
Year of 
construction Tenant(s) or formulas Number

Net lettable 
space in m2

Theoretical rental 
level in € mln

Occupancy  
rate

Nijmegen Meijhorst 7001 2021 Albert Heijn 1 1,436 0.3 100%
Oosterhout Arkendonk 53-55 1979 Albert Heijn 1  1,860  0.3 100%
Putten Postweg 4-6 1995 Jumbo 1  1,707  0.3 100%
Rockanje Dorpsplein 14, 18, 20, 25 1998 Plus, et al. 4  1,601  0.3 100%
Utrecht Burg. Reigerstraat 55-57 <1970 Albert Heijn, et al. 2  999  0.2 100%
Voorthuizen Hoofdstraat 155 1994 Jumbo, Kruidvat 2  1,928  0.4 89%
Wateringen Struyck van Bergenstraat 2 1992 Albert Heijn 1  1,530  0.3 100%
Zeist Antonlaan 2019 Hoogvliet 1  2,114  0.4 100%
Zoetermeer ** Broekwegzijde 148-150 1980 Albert Heijn 1  1,486  0.3 100%
Zwijndrecht Hof van Holland 140-144 2020 ALDI 1  1,319  0.3 100%

30 33,255 5.9 99%

Total convenience retail   465 164,523 33.7 95%

Net lettable space = number of m2 of lettable space according to NEN 2580 (excluding residential units)  
Supermarket: if >75% total rental income is generated from the supermarket
Number of leases: excluding homes above stores, antennae and in-store payment terminals
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City Address
Year of 
construction Tenant(s) or formulas Number

Net lettable 
space in m2

Theoretical rental 
level in € mln

Occupancy  
rate

Comparison retail
Centres
Amersfoort St Jorisplein 2000 The Sting, H&M, Kruidvat, C&A, et al. 23 16,754 5.0 85%
Zoetermeer * Stadshart Passage 1989 Douglas, Zeeman, Action, Bristol, Casa, et al. 55  23,515 4.4 84%

78 40,269 9.4 84%
Minus: 50% interest in Zoetermeer  -2.2

7.2 85%
Car parks 
Amersfoort St Jorisplein 2000 Q-Park 1 N/A  1.0 100%
Zoetermeer * Stadshart Passage 1989 N/A N/A N/A - 100%

1 N/A  1.0 100%
Single shops
Den Bosch Marktstraat 6 and 8, et al. 1999 Bever, Esprit, et al. 3  2,666  0.7 100%
Den Bosch Markt 105 <1970 Paprika, et al. 2  415  0.1 100%

5 3,081 0.8 100%

Total comparison retail   84 43,350 9.0 88%

Total of all segments    549 207,873 42.7 93%
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Industrial
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Finalising winding 
down of Industrial 
portfolio
The (former) shareholders of Altera Industrial decided on 10 April 2019 to wind down the Industrial 
portfolio. On 22 November 2019 ten properties were sold, and the sale of the remaining property, 
the Hema distribution centre in Utrecht, was planned for 2020. This sale was executed on 6 May 
2020 and the remaining shares were redeemed on 1 June 2020. On 17 December 2020 all shares 
of Altera Industrial were withdrawn. On 17 December 2021 an advance of €9.3 million was paid to 
the former shareholders. In the first half of 2022 a final payment will follow and the fund will then be 
de-listed from the AFM register. 

Notes to the results and the balance 
sheet
As there were no activities in 2021, there are no figures in the 2021 profit and loss account. The 
total balance sheet amount diminished after the advance payment of €9.3 million to the former 
shareholders on 17 December 2021. 
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Industrial Sector balance sheet

(amounts x €1,000)
Notes to the financial 

statements 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Assets

Investments
Property in operation 1 - -
Participating interest 2 - -

- -

Other fixed assets 
Tangible fixed assets 4 - -
Capitalised lease incentives 1 / 5 - -

- -

Current assets 
Accounts receivable 6  195  97 
Other receivables 7  12  290 
Liquidities 8  335  9,494 

 542  9,881 

Total assets   542  9,881 

(amounts x €1,000)
Notes to the financial 

statements 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Equity + liabilities

Equity
Issued share capital 9 - -
Paid-in surplus 10 - -
Revaluation reserve 11 - -
Other reserves 12 - -

13 - -

Non-current liabilities
Other provisions 14 - -
Lease liabilities 15 - -

- -

Current liabilities
Lease liabilities 15 - -
Liabilities to banks 16 - -
Creditors and other liabilities 17  542  9,881 

 542  9,881 

Total equity + liabilities   542  9,881 
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Industrial Sector profit and loss account
(amounts x €1,000) Notes to the financial statements 2021 2020

Theoretical gross rental income 18 -  1,563 
Vacancy 18 - -
Other 18 - -
Revenue from service charges 19 -  -28 
Service charges 19 -  -5 
Operating expenses 20 -  -94 

Net rental income -  1,436 

Investment revaluation result 21, 22 -  700 
Result on disposals 23 -  2,620 

-  3,320 

Result from participating interest 2 - -
Management and fund costs 24 -  -88 
Other income 25 - -

-  -88 

 
Net operating result -  4,668 
Other expenses 26 - -
Interest income/expenses 27 -  -83 

Net result -  4,585 

Direct investment income 28 -  1,265 
Indirect investment income 29 -  3,320 

Total investment income -  4,585 
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Financial 
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2021
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Balance sheet
(amounts x €1,000) Notes 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Assets
Investments
Property 1  2,848,009  2,402,038 
Participating interest 2  25,696  41,646 
Other investments 3 -  30,234 

 2,873,705  2,473,918 

Other fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets 4  2,140  2,275 
Capitalised lease incentives 5  407  519 

 2,547  2,794 

Total fixed assets   2,876,252  2,476,712 

Current assets
Accounts receivable 6  1,358  1,063 
Other receivables 7  4,379  43,103 
Liquidities 8  96,879  96,210 

 102,616  140,376 

Total assets   2,978,868  2,617,088 

(amounts x €1,000) Notes 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Equity + liabilities
Equity
Issued share capital 9  832,033  792,774 
Paid-in surplus 10  1,264,863  1,148,528 
Revaluation reserve 11  902,449  651,001 
Other reserves 12  -81,126 -79,619

13  2,918,219  2,512,684 

Non-current liabilities
Other provisions 14  9,659  9,659 
Lease liabilities 15  5,514  5,335 

15,173 14,994

Current liabilities
Lease liabilities 15  11,190  11,188 
Liabilities to banks 16 - -
Creditors and other liabilities 17  34,286  78,222 

 45,476  89,410 

Total equity plus liabilities   2,978,868  2,617,088 
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Profit and loss account
 
(amounts x €1,000) Notes 2021 2020

Gross rental income 18  104,656  107,709 
Revenue from service charges 19  5,172  4,124 
Service charges 19 -5,697 -4,553
Operating expenses 20 -19,759 -22,065

Net rental income   84,372  85,215 

Positive investment revaluation result 21  276,172  121,034 
Negative investment revaluation result 22 -16,687 -75,853
Result on disposals 23  6,883 -5,506

 266,368  39,675 

Result from participating interest 2 -14,447  347 
Management and fund costs 24 -8,940 -8,918
Other income 25  565  766 

Net operating result   327,918  117,085 

Other expenses 26 -190 -105
Interest expenses 27 -732 -1,126

Net result   326,996  115,854 

Direct investment income 28  76,783  77,568 
Indirect investment income 29  250,213  38,286 

Total investment income   326,996  115,854 

Statement of other  
comprehensive income
(amounts x €1,000) 2021 2020

Net result  326,996  115,854 
Other comprehensive income - -

 326,996  115,854 
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Statement of changes in equity
(amounts x €1,000)

Issued share 
capital

Paid-in 
surplus

Revaluation
reserve

Other 
reserves Total

2021
Balance as at 1 January 2021  792,774  1,148,528  651,001 -79,619  2,512,684 

Direct investment income - - -  76,783  76,783 
Indirect investment income - -  250,289 -76  250,213 

Total comprehensive income - -  250,289  76,707  326,996 

Issued shares  62,235  154,505 - -  216,740 
Repurchased shares -22,976 -38,170 - - -61,146
Distributed interim dividend - - - -56,723 -56,723
Dividend distributed in respect 
of previous financial year

- - - -20,332 -20,332

Total capital transactions with 
shareholders

 39,259  116,335 - -77,055  78,539 

Negative revaluations from other 
reserves

- -  20,945 -20,945 -

Realised revaluations to other 
reserves

- - -19,786  19,786 -

Total other changes in equity - -  1,159 -1,159 -

Balance as at 31 December 2021  832,033  1,264,863  902,449 -81,126  2,918,219 

(amounts x €1,000)
Issued share 

capital
Paid-in 
surplus

Revaluation
reserve

Other 
reserves Total

2020
Balance as at 1 January 2020  801,236  1,110,302  589,957  -50,362  2,451,133 

Direct investment income  -  -  -  77,567 77,567
Indirect investment income  -  -  38,390 -104  38,286 

Total comprehensive income  -  -  38,390  77,463  115,853 

Issued shares  46,003  95,323  -  -  141,326 
Repurchased shares -54,465 -57,097  - -5,259  -116,821
Distributed interim dividend  -  -  - -57,236 -57,236
Dividend distributed in respect 
of previous financial year

 -  -  - -21,571 -21,571

Total capital transactions with 
shareholders

 -8,462  38,226  - -84,066  -54,302

Negative revaluations from other 
reserves

- -  1,647 -1,647 -

Realised revaluations to other 
reserves

- -  21,007  -21,007 -

Total other changes in equity - -  22,654  -22,654 -

Balance as at 31 December 2020  792,774  1,148,528  651,001  -79,619  2,512,684 
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Cash flow statement
(amounts x €1,000) 2021 2020

Cash flow from operating activities
Net result  326,996  115,854 
Less: indirect investment income  250,213  38,286 

Direct investment income  76,783  77,568 
Less: interest expenses bank loans -600 -917
Less: expenses lease liabilities in management costs -528 -518

77,911  79,003 
Change in retained earnings of participating interest 7  76 
Capitalisation and amortisation of lease incentives 112  112 
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets (owned assets) 238  271 
Decrease or increase in receivables 38,430 -37,596
Decrease or increase in creditors and other liabilities 
and provisions

-43,937  50,111 

72,761  91,977 

Cash flow from investing activities
Investments in properties and other investments -256,193 -158,094
Divestment of properties and other investments 107,188  183,017 
Investments in tangible fixed assets -424 -84

-149,429  24,839 

(amounts x €1,000) 2021 2020

Cash flow from financing activities
Repayment of bank loans or loans granted - -50,000
Interest expenses bank loans -600 -917
Interest expense lease liabilities -40 -43
Repayment lease liabilities -485 -465
Dividend -77,055 -78,807
Share issues 216,740 141,326
Placement costs -190 -105
Repurchase of own shares -61,146 -116,822
Compensation received from new shareholders 113 -

77,337 -105,833

Net cash flow 669  10,983 

Balance of liquidities as at 1 January  96,210  85,227 
Balance of liquidities as at 31 December  96,879  96,210 

Increase or decrease in liquidities  669  10,983 
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Notes to the Financial Statements
General

Altera Vastgoed N.V. was established on 31 December 1999. The articles of association were last 
amended on 16 December 2020. The company’s registered office is in Amstelveen, the Netherlands 
(KvK 27184452). Altera Vastgoed N.V. complies with the conditions incumbent on fiscal investment 
institutions with an obligation to distribute profits under section 28 of the Corporation Tax Act 
1969. For this reason, no current or future corporation tax is payable. Altera is a sectoral property 
investment fund that enables shareholders to acquire an interest in the sectors of their choice by 
purchasing letter shares. For this reason, the balance sheet and profit and loss account have been 
divided into the following three sectors: Residential, Retail and Industrial.

Basis of presentation

With regard to its accounting policies Altera Vastgoed applies the International Financial Reporting 
Standards as endorsed by the European Union and effective at the reporting date of 31 December 
2021. The financial statements have also been prepared in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the 
Dutch Civil Code and the Financial Supervision Act. The breakdown of the balance sheet and profit 
and loss account complies with recommendations made by industry associations as far as possible.

Adoption of new and revised IFRS Standards as effective

In the current year, no new IFRS Standards have become effective. The following amendments have 
become effective for the financial statements 2021:

IFRS Standard Content Effect on financial statements

Amendment IAS 39 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2 Not material
Amendment IFRS 4 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2 Not material
Amendment IFRS 4 Extension of the Temporary Exemption  

from Applying IFRS 9 to 1 January 2023
Not material

Amendment IFRS 7 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2 Not material
Amendment IFRS 9 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2 Not material
Amendment IFRS 16 COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions Not material

New and revised IFRS Standards in issue but not yet effective

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations had not yet come into 
force in 2021 and are therefore not yet being applied by the company.

IFRS standard Content Date of introduction
Effect on financial 
statements

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 2023 financial 
statements

Not material

Amendment IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: 
Proceeds before Intended Use

2022 financial 
statements

Not material

Amendment IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent 
Liabilities and Contingent 
Assets: Onerous Contracts - 
Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

2022 financial 
statements

Not material

Amendment IFRS 3 Business Combinations: 
Reference to the 
Conceptual Framework

2022 financial 
statements

Not material

Amendment IFRS 16 COVID-19 Related Rent 
Concessions beyond 
30 June 2021

2022 financial 
statements

Not material

IFRS 17 Insurance contracts
The standard will replace IFRS 4 on accounting for insurance contracts and has an effective date 
of 1 January 2023. This new standard introduces new ways of calculating insurance contracts and 
primarily impacts financial statements of insurance companies. We expect the application of this 
standard to have no material effect on the financial statements. 

Amendments
We expect that the application of the amendments has no material effect on the financial 
statements.
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Accounting policies for the valuation of 
assets and liabilities

General

Assets and liabilities are carried at face value, unless stated otherwise in the Notes.

Property

Investments in property are measured at fair value, i.e. the market value less purchasing expenses. 
On initial measurement purchasing expenses capitalised at the time of purchase are charged against 
indirect investment income during the quarter in which the acquisition takes place. Property is 
not depreciated. Every quarter all properties are valued by external appraisers. The market value 
is defined as the value in an arm’s-length transaction in a rented state; for residential properties 
this concerns the sale of a complex to a third party, if this value is higher than the value in the event 
of continued operation. Valuations are performed in accordance with the applicable appraisal 
standards of the International Valuation Standards Council (IVS) and the Regulations for Business 
Property (plus Addendum for Corporate Property) of the Netherlands Register of Real Estate 
Valuers (Nederlands Register Vastgoed Taxateurs - NRVT). The appraisers employ the discounted 
cash flow (DCF) methods and the gross or net initial yield. Redevelopments are also recognised at 
fair value.

Pipeline projects for which the legal ownership is obtained on account of the transfer of the land (or 
economic ownership on the granting of the ground lease) are also valued by an external appraiser.

Projects for which no land has yet been transferred are valued internally; if the internal valuation 
of such a project is lower than the expected development costs, a provision is recognised for this 
expected loss. An expected gain is not recognised.

All non-perpetual leaseholds are considered to be a lease and therefore a right-of-use asset is 
recognised under the properties. The right-of-use asset for the leasehold is measured at fair value. 

Capitalised lease incentives are deducted from the market value and presented as a separate item.

The positive and negative revaluations resulting from the external valuations are recognised as 
indirect investment income; the same applies to negative revaluations of pipeline projects for which 
no land has yet been transferred.

In determining the fair value of the investments, the company uses property market observables as 
much as possible. IFRS 13 recognises three levels for the application of fair value:

• Level 1: valuation based on market prices listed in active markets;
• Level 2: valuation based on (external) observable information;
• Level 3: valuation based fully or partly on information that is non-observable (externally).

The valuation of direct property generally does not qualify for the first two levels, on account of 
limitations in the homogeneity of the properties coupled with a limited number of investment 
transactions. The company has qualified the valuation of property investments as level 3.

Participating interest

The participating interest in B.V. Beleggingsmaatschappij Stadscentrum Zoetermeer is accounted for 
by the equity method. This participating interest consists mainly of property measured at market value.

Other investments

The other investments concern the granting of loans secured on property. If these loans are held 
until maturity, they are valued at amortised cost. If the loans are not held until maturity, they are 
valued at market value, calculated using the discounted cash flow method.

Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are valued at cost, less depreciation based on useful life. Costs of furnishings 
and fittings are depreciated over a seven-year period; hardware is depreciated over three years and 
software over three or five years.

For all leases (excluding leasehold) a right-of-use asset is recognised under the tangible fixed 
assets. The right-of-use assets are valued at cost, less depreciation based on the lease period of the 
contract. Lease incentives are recognised as part of the measurement of the right-of-use asset. 

For short-term leases (lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low-value assets (such as 
personal computers, laptops, small items of furniture and telephones), Altera has opted to recognise 
a lease expense on a straight-line basis as permitted by IFRS 16.
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Loans

Loans are held until maturity and are therefore valued at amortised cost.

Capitalised lease incentives

Incentives provided for tenants are capitalised during the period in which the tenant receives the 
incentive. The capitalised lease incentive is subsequently amortised over the term of the relevant 
lease and deducted from the fair value determined by the external appraisers.

Accounts receivable and other receivables

These assets are valued at amortised cost, less a bad-debt provision.

Revaluation reserve

If the market value of a property is higher than the historical cost, including investments, a 
revaluation reserve is recognised.

Other provisions

If the contractually agreed purchase price of turnkey pipeline projects is higher than the fair value 
at the balance sheet date, a provision is recognised for this difference. If this purchase price is 
lower than the fair value, the difference is accounted for under the ‘Investments’ item. This item also 
includes estimates of possible subsequent payments on purchased property and expected losses on 
pipeline projects for which no land has yet been transferred.

Lease liabilities

Altera assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. Altera 
recognises a lease liability in respect of all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for 
short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low-value 
assets (such as telephones). For these leases, Altera recognises the lease payments as an operating 
expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more 
representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid 
at the commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be 
readily determined, Altera uses its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:

• Fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives 
receivable;

• Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate 
at the commencement date;

• The amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;
• The exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options;
• Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option 

to terminate.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the balance sheet. It is subsequently measured 
by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability and by reducing the 
carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made. 

Altera remeasures the lease liability whenever:

• The lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting in 
a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability is 
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate.

• The lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment 
under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting 
the revised lease payments using an unchanged discount rate (unless the lease payments change 
is due to a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used).

• A lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, 
in which case the lease liability is remeasured based on the lease term of the modified lease by 
discounting.
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Accounting policies for determining the 
result

General

Income is accounted for when the service has been provided. Expenditure is allocated to the year to 
which it relates.

Gross rental income

Gross rental income concerns the rents charged to the tenants during the reporting year, excluding 
value-added tax and service charges.

Service charges

Service charges are divided into the service charges levied on tenants and costs charged to the 
service cost accounts in respect of these tenants. The balance concerns the service charges for 
vacant properties charged to the owner.

Operating expenses

Operating expenses are expenses which can be attributed directly to the properties. These 
expenses are subdivided into maintenance, fixed expenses (including property tax, other charges, 
ground lease and insurance), management expenses and other expenses (including rental charges, 
additions to and withdrawals from the bad-debt provision).

Investment revaluation result

The investment revaluation result concerns unrealised changes in the value of property and other 
investments. These revaluation results arise in part from external appraisals (see the accounting 
policy for property) and are broken down into positive and negative revaluations. Revaluation 
results are recognised in the profit and loss account.

Result on disposals

The result on disposals concerns the realised changes in value, i.e. the difference between the sales 
proceeds less selling expenses and the most recent carrying amount (the most recent market value 
determined by an external appraiser).

Management and fund costs

In the profit and loss account management costs and fund costs are generally allocated to the 
sector funds based on the average assets under management. Management costs include costs for 
personnel, office, IT and research. Fund costs include costs for external valuations of the properties, 
supervisory costs (Supervisory Board, external regulators, audits) and advisory costs.

Other income

Other income is income which does not belong to any other category. This includes, besides the 
income on other investments, a charge for shareholders contributing cash on entry as compensation 
for transfer tax payable on the purchase of existing properties.

Tax on profit

Altera complies with the conditions incumbent on fiscal investment institutions with an obligation 
to distribute profits under section 28 of the Corporation Tax Act 1969. For this reason, no current or 
future corporation tax is payable.

Accounting policies for the cash flow 
statement
 
The indirect method is used for the cash flow statement. The cash flow from operating activities is 
based on the direct investment income, which is subsequently adjusted for costs that do not qualify 
as expenditure and revenues that do not qualify as income, as well as changes in current assets and 
liabilities.
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Other notes

Accounting estimates and opinions

Investments are valued by external appraisers; see the accounting policies for property. The value of 
the investments totalled €2.9 billion at year-end 2021. It is inherent in the valuation process that the 
values determined in this way may differ from the values to be realised in transactions with willing 
buyers. This applies in particular to periods of low liquidity in the market. Positive and negative 
variations may balance each other out at the portfolio level.

The valuation is particularly sensitive to changes in the yields and market rent used.

In the valuation of other balance sheet items the relative importance of estimates is limited. The bad-
debt provision for accounts receivable is determined on an item-for-item basis in accordance with 
the static method.

Financial instruments

The volume of financial instruments in the financial statements is limited and comprises only 
non-derivative financial assets (other investments, accounts receivable, other receivables and 
liquidities) and non-derivative financial liabilities (debts to shareholders and creditors and other 
liabilities) in accordance with IFRS 9 (2014). With the exception of the other investments, all 
financial instruments are measured at amortised cost. The other investments are measured from 
initial recognition at fair value through the profit and loss account.

Financial instruments are summarised by category in the table below, with the carrying amounts 
being stated together with the fair value of the instruments concerned.

Notes Fair value level
Carrying amount  

year-end 2021
Fair value  

year-end 2021
Carrying amount 

year-end 2020
Fair value  

year-end 2020

Financial assets measured at fair value through the profit and loss account
Other investments 3 3 - -  30,234  30,234 

Accounts receivable and other receivables
Accounts receivable 6 2 1,358 1,358  1,063  1,063 
Other receivables 7 2 4,379 4,379  43,103  43,103 
Liquidities 8 1  96,879  96,879  96,210  96,210 

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Lease liabilities 15 2  16,704  16,704  16,523  16,523
Liabilities to banks 16 2  -  -  -  - 
Creditors and other liabilities 17 2 34,286 34,286 78,222 78,222
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Financial risks

Since Altera is only funded with loan capital to a limited extent, and at most temporarily, it is not exposed to interest rate risk or refinancing risk. Credit risk as a result of bad debt is managed by applying 
strict rules for the monitoring of debtors and the assessment of creditworthiness on the signing of leases and the acquisition of properties. The risk of investor exits is limited to 20% per year per sector 
portfolio. The pipeline, along with the operational portfolio, is subject to market risks.

External conditions, including market movements and changes in rent, affect the company’s results. The effect of the changes below on the annual result and equity is as follows:

Change Effect in € x mln Effect in % of equity

Residential
Direct investment income
Gross rental income 10% 5.5 0.2%
Occupancy rate 10% 7.1 0.3%
Operating expenses 10% 1.6 0.1%

Indirect investment income
Theoretical rent and market rent 1% 19.2 0.8%
Gross initial yield 0.1% pt 51.7 2.2%

Retail
Direct investment income
Gross rental income 10% 3.6 0.6%
Occupancy rate 10% 4.3 0.7%
Operating expenses 10% 0.8 0.1%

Indirect investment income
Theoretical rent and market rent 1% 5.9 1.0%
Theoretical rent and market rent 5% 29.7 4.9%
Gross initial yield 0.1% pt 8.1 1.3%
Gross initial yield 0.5% pt 38.4 6.3%
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The effect of lease expiries in Altera Retail, based on the sector portfolio and tenant base at year-end 2021, notwithstanding the risk of bankruptcy, is as follow:

Movements in lease expiries Retail <1 year 2022 2-5 years 2023-2026 >5 years ≥2027

In € mln 2.6 24.2 13.1
Same in % of contract rent year-end 2021 6% 57% 37%

Based on available references and other sources, the external appraisers use property-specific assumptions for key value-determining factors such as the reletting time, market rent and yields. These 
assumptions have been assessed by the company for consistency and reasonableness.

The main determining factor for the appraisal value is the yield applied. In determining the yield, the external appraiser uses investment references as a basis. The substantiation of the valuations depends on 
the availability and quality of these references. Due to the limited number of investment transactions, the number of references is accordingly lower than during periods with a large number of transactions. 
In this case, it also becomes more difficult to compare the property to be valued with these references in terms of the quality of the location, the property and rental situation. This affects the reliability of the 
appraisal values. Deviations in the appraisal value versus the price at which a transaction could be conducted are at most 5% in a relatively liquid market.

Below is a representation of the distribution of the gross initial yield (theoretical rental income divided by the appraisal value plus costs) by sector for Altera.

Distribution of gross initial yield by portfolio value at year-end 2021
Residential Retail

Lowest Highest Lowest Highest

Gross initial yield for 10% portfolio value with lowest yield 2.8% 3.2% 5.1% 5.4%
Same for next 15% portfolio value 3.2% 3.4% 5.4% 5.9%
Same for next 25% 3.5% 3.6% 6.0% 6.4%
Same for next 25% 3.6% 3.9% 6.4% 8.0%
Same for next 15% 3.9% 4.2% 9.0% 9.0%
Same for last 10% 4.3% 5.0% 10.5% 12.7%
Average gross initial yield 3.7% 7.2%



Financial Statements 2021

130

Russian invasion of Ukraine

On 24 February 2022 Russia invaded Ukraine and the impact of this war seems to increase with 
every day. Besides the devastating impact on the lives of people directly affected, it poses a threat 
to international stability and on the global economy. 

Although Altera has neither Russian or Ukrainian assets or shareholders, the conflict will impact the 
economy of which Altera’s business is part of. The most severe threat is the impact on inflation due 
to sharp increases of energy prices, which already started in 2021; and disruptions of the supply 
chains. Although our rental contracts have indexation clauses, it may be uncertain if high inflation 
can be completely passed on to the tenants. Cost of living for residential tenants is increasing 
and this may have a negative effect on the rent collection. The spending power of consumers may 
decrease and then result in lower turnover for retailers. Moreover, high inflation constitutes a driver 
for a higher interest rate. Although Altera has no leverage, higher interest rates may influence the 
yields for investments such as real estate.

The EU has imposed sanctions on specific organisations and persons as a consequence of the 
Russian invasion of Ukraine. Altera is investigating whether certain tenants of Altera Retail may be 
associated to these sanctions.

In conclusion, the conflict increases the uncertainty regarding the market value of Altera’s properties 
and rental income. For the impact of potential yield fluctuations and rental income on the equity, 
reference is made to the table on page 128.

COVID-19

In 2021 the COVID-19 pandemic continued to affect the global economy and there remains 
uncertainty and volatility related to the impact of COVID-19. Where relevant, the impact of the 
COVID-19 pandemic and resulting uncertainties on the company’s results, balance sheet and cash 
flows have been considered and are reflected in amounts reported.

COVID-19 did not negatively impact the residential market and the results of the sub-fund Altera 
Residential in 2021, including the rent collection.

The retail market was impacted by COVID-19 in 2021 again, especially in the comparison segment 
in which ‘non-essential stores’ where more impacted by the measures taken by the government 
during certain periods in 2021 than for the convenience need-driven retail segment. For some 
outstanding receivables from tenants in the retail sector, additional provisions have been made 
especially in the non-essential branches.

Whilst the valuation reports reflect the external appraisers assessment of the impact of COVID-19 
at the valuation date, we consider an uncertainty if the COVID-19 pandemic may develop in 2022. 
It may impact the key valuation assumptions in the real estate valuations. The impact of potential 
fluctuations in these assumptions are detailed in the sensitivity tables on page 128.

Based on the analyses of management, there is no impact of COVID-19 on the going concern of 
the company given the equity position, forecasted cash flows and shareholder base. All relevant 
processes and procedures were performed by the company during the pandemic. Furthermore 
Altera has no loan covenants as per December 31, 2021.
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Notes to the balance sheet
(amounts x €1,000, unless stated otherwise)

1. Property

Residential in operation  Residential Pipeline Retail Industrial Total
Changes 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Balance as at 1 January  1,502,115  1,433,539  333,623  220,764  566,300  689,955 -  56,200  2,402,038  2,400,458 
Acquisitions - -  224,580  138,600  28,074  4,051 - -  252,654  142,651 
Additional investments  2,670  4,554 - -  869 -2,229 - -  3,539  2,325 
Reclassifications  266,050  60,448 -266,050 -60,448 - - - - - -
Sales -38,126 -66,187 - - -38,827 -57,310 - -59,520 -76,953 -183,017
Revaluations  203,618  69,724  47,097  34,707  15,409 -68,315 -  3,320  266,124  39,436 
Right-of-use assets leasehold  406  37 - -  89  36 - -  495  73 
Lease incentives - - - -  112  112 - -  112  112 

Balance as at 31 December  1,936,733  1,502,115  339,250  333,623  572,026  566,300 - -  2,848,009  2,402,038 

The properties were valued by CBRE, Colliers, Cushman & Wakefield, Jones Lang LaSalle and MVGM. 

Residential Retail Total
Appraised value 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Appraised value (excluding pipeline)  1,922,805  1,488,594  571,105  565,580  2,493,910  2,054,174 
Capitalised lease incentives - - -407 -519 -407 -519
Capitalised right-of-use assets leasehold  13,928  13,521  1,328  1,239  15,256  14,760 

 1,936,733  1,502,115  572,026  566,300  2,508,759  2,068,415 

Under IFRS 13, the company classifies the valuations of the property investments as level 3: valuation fully or partly based on information that is not (externally) observable.
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In addition to input of a factual nature (contract rent, remaining rental period, square footage), external appraisers use estimates which they base on references in the property market. The main market 
variables, differentiated by rental market and investment market, include:

• Rental market: market rent, estimated vacancy period, and, specific to residential properties, tenant movements.
• Investment market: initial yields for gross initial yield/net initial yield valuations and discount rate and exit yield for DCF valuations.

The average gross initial yield (theoretical rent as a percentage of the appraisal value, plus costs) by sector is shown below: 

Gross initial yield 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Residential 3.7% 4.0%
Retail 7.2% 7.3%

 
The spread of gross initial yields at year-end is detailed on page 129 of the Financial Statements.

The contract rent versus the market rent by sector is shown below: 

Contract rent versus market rent 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Retail 2.6% 3.5%

The rental and property data of a factual nature are detailed in the sector reports contained elsewhere in the annual report. 

Right-of-use assets leasehold
Residential Retail Industrial Total

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Balance as at 1 January  13,521  13,484  1,239  1,203 - -  14,760  14,687 
New contracts - - - - - - - -
Renewal or extension options  314  360  50 - - -  364  360 
Revaluation  93  91  39  36 - -  132  127 
Disposals - -414 - - - - - -414

Balance as at 31 December  13,928  13,521  1,328  1,239 - -  15,256  14,760 
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The right-of-use assets consist of all non-perpetual leaseholds which are part of the investment 
property. The right-of-use assets leasehold are measured at fair value.

The leasehold can be bought out for seven residential properties in Amsterdam. Altera submitted 
the buyout request to the municipality of Amsterdam before the end of 2019. The calculated lump-
sum payment for the buyout of the leasehold is expected to be €10.7 million. The fair value of the 
right-of-use assets of this leasehold is deemed to be equal to the buyout amount. Altera intends 
to buy out the leasehold at this calculated value and expects to pay the amount as soon as the 
municipality of Amsterdam will have finalised this process.

2. Participating interest

Changes 2021 2020

Balance as at 1 January  41,646  42,879 
Result from participating interests -14,447  347 
Dividend distributed -1,503 -1,580

Balance as at 31 December  25,696  41,646 

 
Altera Vastgoed N.V. has a 50% interest in B.V. Beleggingsmaatschappij Stadscentrum Zoetermeer. 
The figures for this joint venture on a 100% basis are shown below (in € mln). 

Joint Ventures (100%) 2021 2020

Investments 50.9  86.5 
Other assets 0.8  1.3 

51.7  87.8 

Current liabilities 0.3  1.3 

Net rental income  3.0  3.0 
Indirect investment income -31.9 -2.3

Total income -28.9  0.7 

3. Other investments

The other investments relate to a contracted leasehold for a residential project in Zaandam and an 
investment in a residential location in Almere. These investments were conditional with a sale back 
guarantee until the necessary permits became final. The necessary permits became final in 2021 
and therfore the other investments were transferred to investment property. 

Changes 2021 2020

Balance as at 1 January  30,234  17,114 
Investments -  13,120 
Divestment -30,234 -
Revaluation - -

Balance as at 31 December -  30,234 
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4. Tangible fixed assets

The tangible fixed assets are divided into the categories owned assets and right-of-use assets.

The owned assets relate to IT (hardware and software) and furnishings and fittings. These assets are valued at cost, less depreciation based on useful life. Hardware is depreciated over three years and 
software is depreciated over three or five years. Furnishings and fittings are depreciated over seven years.

The right-of-use assets relate to leased property for own use and leased vehicles. These assets are valued at cost, less depreciation based on the lease period of each individual contract. 

Owned assets Right-of-use assets
IT Furnishing and fittings  Property in own use Leased vehicles Total

Breakdown of asset categories 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Balance as at 1 January  183  278  367  459  1,312  1,589  413  420  2,275  2,746 
Investments  424  75 -  9  50  16  130  189  604  289 
Early termination leasing - - - - - - -9 -12 -9 -12
Depreciation -140 -170 -98 -101 -307 -293 -185 -184 -730 -748

Balance as at 31 December  467  183  269  367  1,055  1,312  349  413  2,140  2,275 

Owned assets Right-of-use assets
IT Furnishing and fittings Property in own use Leased vehicles Total

Breakdown at year-end 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Accumulated investments  2,217  1,793  1,118  1,118  1,946  1,896  904  783  6,185  5,590 
Accumulated depreciation -1,750 -1,610 -849 -751 -891 -584 -555 -370 -4,045 -3,315

Total  467  183  269  367  1,055  1,312  349  413  2,140  2,275 
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5. Capitalised lease incentives

The average residual term of the capitalised lease incentives is 4.4 years (year-end 2020: 5.3 years). 
Of these incentives, €0.3 million has a term of more than one year (year-end 2020: €0.4 million).

6. Accounts receivable

A provision of €2.3 million has been deducted from the rents receivable at year-end 2021 (2020: 
€2.1 million). The accounts receivable (after deduction of the provision for impairment losses) are 
as follows:
 

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Outstanding less than 90 days  1,153  1,048 
Outstanding more than 90 days  205  15 

 1,358  1,063 

7. Other receivables

The other receivables include a receivable of €1.1 million, resulting from a year-end share 
transaction in Altera Residential; payment is settled on 28 January 2022. The other receivables 
have a term of less than one year.

8. Liquidities

Liquid assets are freely available to the company, with the exception of an amount of €820,000 that 
is designated as a capital requirement under the AIFMD regulations, bank balances of service charge 
accounts (year-end 2020: €0.8 million).

9. Authorised and issued share capital

The authorised share capital consists of 4.0 billion shares of a par value of €0.50 each. The distribution of the authorised capital among the letter shares (sectors) is shown below: 

Authorised capital Residential Retail Offices Industrial Total

Balance as at 1 January 2020  1,050,000  550,000  200,000  200,000  2,000,000 
Changes in 2020  200,000 -  -200,000 - -

Balance as at 31 December 2020  1,250,000  550,000 -  200,000  2,000,000 

Changes in 2021 - - - - -

Balance as at 31 December 2021  1,250,000  550,000 -  200,000  2,000,000 
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Issued capital
Residential Retail Industrial Total

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Balance as at 1 January 477,852 451,778 314,922 319,447 - 30,011 792,774 801,236 
New entries 41,382 26,074 20,853 19,929 - - 62,235 46,003 
Repurchased -6,611 - -16,365 -24,454 - -30,011 -22,976 -54,465 

Balance as at 31 December 512,623 477,852 319,410 314,922 - - 832,033 792,774 

From 30 September 2019 share transactions take place at the INREV net asset value, which in Altera’s case means the IFRS net asset value plus an adjustment reflecting the capitalised acquisition costs 
minus the amortisation (5 years). This adjustment is presented directly in the equity as paid-in surplus. 

Residential Retail
Share issues 2021 2020 2021 2020

Nominal share capital  41,382  26,074  20,853  19,929 
Lowest price (in €)  2.001  1.942  0.922  0.961 
Highest price (in €)  2.282  2.009  0.958  0.961 
Average price (in €)  2.146  1.976  0.939  0.961 

Transactions in own shares 
(nominal value)

Residential Retail Industrial Total
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Balance as at 1 January 4,544 4,544 58,481 34,027 - 80,258 63,025 118,829 
Acquired by company 6,611 - 16,365 24,454 - 30,011 22,976 54,465 
Reissued -6,611 - -11,961 - - - -18,572 -
Withdrawal - - - - - -110,269 - -110,269 

Balance as at 31 December 4,544 4,544 62,885 58,481 - - 67,429 63,025 
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10. Paid-in surplus

Changes
Residential Retail Industrial Total

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Balance as at 1 January  759,762  682,813  388,766  392,938 -  34,551  1,148,528  1,110,302 
New entries  136,190  76,949  18,315  18,374 - -  154,505  95,323 
Repurchase of own shares -23,562  - -14,608 -22,546  - -34,551 -38,170 -57,097

Balance as at 31 December  872,390  759,762  392,473  388,766 - -  1,264,863  1,148,528 

 
11. Revaluation reserve

Changes
Residential Retail Industrial Total

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Balance as at 1 January  584,959  499,863  66,042  69,720 -  20,374  651,001  589,957 
Negative revaluations from other reserves -1,012 -2,661 -90,498 -87,105 - -96 -91,510 -89,862

Balance as at 1 January including negative revaluations  583,947  497,202 -24,456 -17,385 -  20,278  559,491  500,095 

Revaluations in financial year  251,518  104,824 -1,229 -69,753 -  3,320  250,289  38,391 
Result on disposals versus acquisition price -15,217 -18,079 -4,569  62,683 - -23,598 -19,786  21,006 

Balance as at 31 December including negative revaluations  820,248  583,947 -30,254 -24,455 - -  789,994  559,492 

Negative revaluations from other reserves  3,660  1,012  108,795  90,497 - -  112,455  91,509 

Balance as at 31 December  823,908  584,959  78,541  66,042 - -  902,449  651,001 
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12. Other reserves

Changes
Residential Retail Industrial Total

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Balance as at 1 January 90,187 69,593 -169,806 -103,059 - -16,896 -79,619 -50,362
Direct investment income 45,760 41,620 31,023 34,683 - 1,265 76,783 77,568
Transfer from revaluation reserve -2,648 1,649 -18,297 -3,392 - 96 -20,945 -1,647
Proceeds of sales 15,217 18,079 4,569 -62,684 - 23,598 19,786 -21,007
Distributed interim dividend -33,552 -30,124 -23,171 -25,847 - -1,265 -56,723 -57,236
Dividend distributed in respect of previous financial year -11,496 -10,630 -8,835 -9,403 - -1,538 -20,331 -21,571
Shareholder acquisition costs - - -190 -104 - - -190 -104
Transferred to paid-in capital - - - - - -5,260 - -5,260
Interest expenses lease liabilities - - - - - - - -
Release of compensation for transfer tax and for redemptions - - 113 - - - 113 -

Balance as at 31 December 103,468 90,187 -184,594 -169,806 - - -81,126 -79,619

Pursuant to Part 9, Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code, the company is required to create a revaluation reserve for value increases for the separate assets where the netting of increases and decreases in value is 
not permitted. Decreases in value as a result of a lower market value compared to historical cost must be charged to the other reserves. It is partly for this reason that the other reserves for the Retail sector is 
negative. For the distribution of dividend, however, only the sum total of the other reserves and the paid-in surplus for the sectors combined is relevant. 

Dividend per share (in € x 1)
Residential Retail Industrial

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Interim dividend distributed 0.034 0.032 0.036 0.040 0.000 0.021
Dividend in respect of previous financial year 0.012 0.012 0.014 0.015 0.000 0.026

Dividend distributed in financial year 0.046 0.044 0.050 0.055 0.000 0.047  
Still to be distributed at year-end 0.012 0.012 0.012 0.014 0.000 0.000
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Composition at year-end
Residential Retail Total

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Realised revaluation 108,988 93,771 -93,607 -98,176 15,381 -4,405 
Distributed from realised revaluation -20,000 -20,000 - - -20,000 -20,000 
Negative revaluation -3,660 -1,012 -108,795 -90,498 -112,455 -91,510 
Release of compensation for transfer tax 6,102 6,102 10,944 10,944 17,046 17,046 
Dividend to be distributed 12,209 11,496 7,852 8,835 20,061 20,331 
Other -111 -110 320 320 209 210 
Shareholder acquisition costs and revenues -60 -60 -1,308 -1,231 -1,368 -1,291 

Total 103,468 90,187 -184,594 -169,806 -81,126 -79,619 

 
13. Equity

Composition at year-end
Residential Retail Total

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Share capital 512,623 477,852 319,410 314,922 832,033 792,774
Paid-in surplus 872,390 759,762 392,473 388,766 1,264,863 1,148,528
Revaluation reserve 823,908 584,959 78,541 66,042 902,449 651,001
Other reserves 103,468 90,187 -184,594 -169,806 -81,126 -79,619

Total 2,312,389 1,912,760 605,830 599,924 2,918,219 2,512,684

 
14. Other provisions

In previous years a provision of €13.7 million was recognised for possible subsequent payments on acquired investments. In 2020 an amount of €4.0 million has been released. It is uncertain if and when this 
provision will lead to payments.
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15. Lease liabilities

Changes
Residential Retail Industrial Total

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Balance as at 1 January  14,857  14,871  1,666  1,799 -  52  16,523  16,722 
New contracts and renewals  455  515  88  50 - -  543  565 
Payment of lease debt -334 -619 -160 -219 - -52 -494 -890
Accrued interest  93  90  39  36 - -  132  126 

Balance as at 31 December  15,071  14,857  1,633  1,666 - -  16,704  16,523 

Categories
Residential Retail Industrial Total

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Leasehold  13,928  13,521  1,328  1,239 - -  15,256  14,760 
Property in own use  861  1,017  229  325 - -  1,090  1,342 
Leased vehicles  282  319  76  102 - -  358  421 

Total  15,071  14,857  1,633  1,666 - -  16,704  16,523 

Maturity
Residential Retail Industrial Total

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Less than 1 year  11,093  11,076  97  112 - -  11,190  11,188 
Between 1 and 5 years  778  987  208  315 - -  986  1,302 
Over 5 years  3,200  2,794  1,328  1,239 - -  4,528  4,033 

Total  15,071  14,857  1,633  1,666 - -  16,704  16,523 

The value of the lease liabilities for leasehold assumes the estimated redemption amount of €10.7 million for the transition to perpetual leasehold in the city of Amsterdam. It is expected to be finalised in 
2022.
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16. Liabilities to banks

A credit facility of €60.0 million was arranged with ING Bank ending June 2022 at an interest rate of 1.4% per year plus 1-month or 3-month Euribor. The commitment fee in respect of the undrawn part of the 
facility is 0.35%. As collateral the company must hold at least €1.5 billion of equity and net interest-bearing loans and receivables must amount to no more than 25% of total assets.

17. Creditors and other liabilities

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Rent received in advance  4,894  4,517 
Payable to shareholders of Altera  9,567  46,760 
Payable to former shareholders of Altera Industrial  504  9,798 
Service charge accounts  468  321 
Maintenance expenses  853  922 
Property tax and other charges payable  354  103 
Managers' current accounts  466  681 
Creditors  7,165  6,647 
Security deposits  6,485  5,238 
Other liabilities, accruals and deferred income  3,530  3,235 

Total  34,286  78,222 

The liabilities of €8.4 million to a shareholder of Altera Retail and €0.9 million to a shareholder of Altera Residential are related to redemptions; payment was settled on 10 January 2022. The liabilities of 
€0.3 million to the former shareholders of Altera Industrial, relating to the final steps in the liquidation of Altera Industrial, will be paid in the first half of 2022.
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Notes to the profit and loss account
(amounts x €1,000, unless stated otherwise)

18. Gross rental income

Residential Retail Industrial Total
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Theoretical rent  66,807  60,542  41,944  49,387 -  1,563  108,751  111,492 
Vacancy -1,640 -680 -2,337 -3,309 - - -3,977 -3,989
Lease incentives -112 -38 -1,337 -945 - - -1,449 -983
Capitalised lease - - - - - - - -
Amortised - - -112 -112 - - -112 -112
Other  1,008  981  435  320 - -  1,443  1,301 

Total  66,063  60,805  38,593  45,341 -  1,563  104,656  107,709 

The future rent for Altera Retail based on leases at year-end 2021 is as follows (in € million):

Retail

2022 37.4
2023 33.2
2024 26.5
2025 18.8
2026 11.7
≥2027 17.5

145.1

For residential properties, tenants commit for a period of one or two years, after which the lease can be cancelled by the tenant on a monthly basis.
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19. Service charges

Residential Retail Industrial Total
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Service charges 1,662 1,471 4,035 3,077 - 5 5,697 4,553 
Payable by tenants -1,537 -1,424 -3,635 -2,728 - 28 -5,172 -4,124 

Net service charges 125 47 400 349 - 33 525 429 

 
20. Operating expenses

Residential Retail Industrial Total
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Maintenance expenses  5,007  5,412  1,002  1,872 -  125  6,009  7,409 
Fixed expenses  2,590  2,394  1,833  1,944 - -12  4,423  4,326 
Management expenses  1,364  1,242  951  1,021 - -  2,315  2,263 
Other  4,533  4,324  2,479  3,762 - -19  7,012  8,067 

Total  13,494  13,372  6,265  8,599 -  94  19,759  22,065 

 
21. Positive investment revaluation result

Residential Retail Industrial Total
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Change in value due to appraisals  199,146  75,416  25,709  9,403 -  700  224,855  85,519 
Changes in value due to revaluation of pipeline  51,185  35,389 - - - -  51,185  35,389 
Changes in value due to right-of-use assets leasehold  93  90  39  36 - -  132  126 

Total  250,424  110,895  25,748  9,439 -  700  276,172  121,034 
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22. Negative investment revaluation result
Residential Retail Industrial Total

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Change in value due to appraisals  -622  -2,525  -12,247  -72,800 - -  -12,869  -75,325
Change in value due to revaluation of pipeline  -3,930  -640 - - - -  -3,930  -640
Revaluation due to lease incentives - -  112  112 - -  112  112 

Total  -4,552  -3,165  -12,135  -72,688 - -  -16,687  -75,853

23. Result on disposals
Residential Retail Industrial Total

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Net sale proceeds  38,126  66,187  38,827  57,310 -  59,760  76,953  183,257 
Most recent appraisal value  -33,190  -69,395  -36,880  -62,228 -  -57,140  -70,070  -188,763 

Total  4,936  -3,208  1,947  -4,918 -  2,620  6,883  -5,506

24. Management and fund costs 

Management costs 2021 2020

Personnel expenses  6,372  6,222 
Less: personnel expenses charged to operational expenses and pipeline  -757  -793
Office including accommodation  1,322  1,272 
Research, contributions and promotion  417  339 
Other expenses  379  351 

Total management costs  7,733  7,391 
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Fund costs 2021 2020

Supervisory expenses  572  567 
Valuation costs  488  543 
Advisory fees  147  417 

Total fund costs  1,207  1,527 

Total management and fund costs  8,940  8,918 

Costs in % of average assets under management 2021 2020

Management costs 0.292% 0.292%
Fund costs 0.046% 0.060%

Total 0.338% 0.352%

Total salaries amounted to €4,907,000 (2020: €4,394,000), with social security charges including health insurance premiums amounting to €396,000 (2020: €403,000) and pension charges amounting to 
€843,000 (2020: €831,000).

In 2021 Altera employed an average of 40 people (37 full-time equivalents) (2020: 40 and 38 respectively); at year-end 2021 the company had a total of 42 employees (39 full-time equivalents) (2020: 39 
and 36 respectively). The audit fee for the 2021 audit including verified ESG KPIs, the audit opinions for each sector and the audit opinion on the INREV NAV Adjustments totalled €95,000 (2020: €95,000). 
No fee was paid to the external auditor in respect of other work in 2021 and 2020. Under the AIFMD directive 2011/61/EU (article 22, paragraphs 2e and 2f), the annual report must contain a summary 
showing the total amount of the remuneration, subdivided into fixed and variable remuneration paid during the reporting year, as well as a breakdown into management, employees whose actions have a 
significant impact on the risk profile and other members of staff. 

Fixed salary Fixed remuneration Variable remuneration Total Number of FTEs
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Management Board  618  618  233  240  47 -  898  858  3.0  3.0 
Employees with impact on risk profile  1,290  1,176  123  94 - -  1,413  1,270  11.8  11.1 
Other  1,751  1,815  126  126 - -  1,877  1,941  22.1  23.5 

Total  3,659  3,609  482  460  47 -  4,188  4,069  36.9  37.6 
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The Management Board consisted of three members in 2021. The remuneration of the Management Board is as follows (based on amounts paid during the reporting year):

2021 2020

Salary  618  618 
Fixed remuneration  233  240 
Variable remuneration paid  47 -
Pension including additional contribution (after deduction of own contribution)  156  157 
Social security charges and other amounts  36  35 

Total  1,090  1,050 

Over the year 2020 a variable remuneration was granted of in total €79,000 of which 60% has been paid in April 2021 and the remaining 40% will be paid in the next two years. For the year 2020 on average 
75% of the criteria had been met; the variable remuneration amounted on average 9.3% (out of maximum 12.5%) of the base salary. Over the year 2021 a variable remuneration was granted of in total 
€122,000 of which 60% will be paid in April 2022 and the remaining 40% in 2023 and 2024. For the year 2021 on average 86% of the criteria had been met; the variable remuneration amounted on average 
14.3% (out of maximum 16.5%) of the base salary. 

The remuneration paid to the Supervisory Board totalled €74,000 (2020: €74,000). 

25. Other income

Residential Retail Industrial Total
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Redemption charge - -  113 - - -  113 -
Other investments  452  766 - - - -  452  766 

Total  452  766  113 - - -  565  766 

26. Other expenses

Residential Retail Industrial Total
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Placement costs - -  -190  -105 - -  -190  -105

Total - -  -190  -105 - -  -190  -105
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27. Interest expenses

Residential Retail Industrial Total
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Interest expense on lease liabilities  -93  -90  -39  -36 - -  -132  -126
Other interest expenses  -405  -270  -195  -647 -  -83  -600  -1,000

Total  -498  -360  -234  -683 -  -83  -732  -1,126

28. Direct investment income

Residential Retail Industrial Total
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Net rental income  52,444  47,386  31,928  36,393 -  1,437  84,372  85,216 
Result from participating interest  158  97  1,341  1,408 - -  1,499  1,505 
Other investments  452  766 - - - -  452  766 
Management and fund costs  -6,889  -6,359  -2,051  -2,470 -  -89  -8,940  -8,918
Interest income/expenses  -405  -270  -195  -648 -  -83  -600  -1,001

Total  45,760  41,620  31,023  34,683 -  1,265  76,783  77,568 

29. Indirect investment income

Residential Retail Industrial Total
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Positive revaluation result  250,424  110,895  25,748  9,439 -  700  276,172  121,034 
Negative revaluation result  -4,552  -3,165  -12,135  -72,688 - -  -16,687  -75,853
Interest expenses on lease liabilities leasehold  -93  -90  -39  -36 - -  -132  -126
Result on disposals  4,936  -3,209  1,947  -4,918 -  2,620  6,883  -5,507
Result from participating interest  803  393  -16,749  -1,550 - -  -15,946  -1,157
Shareholder acquisition costs - -  -190  -105 - -  -190  -105
Redemption charge - -  113 - - -  113 -

Total  251,518  104,824  -1,305  -69,858 -  3,320  250,213  38,286 
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Related parties

There are no related parties other than the management compensation.

Off-balance sheet assets and liabilities

Liabilities (in € million) Residential 

Pipeline to be completed in 2022 164
Same for 2023 165
Same for 2024 and subsequent years 195

Total   524

Less: previously financed -286

Total off-balance sheet items   238

There is a contingent liability in respect of a shopping centre completed in 2014. Depending on 
the leases to be signed, this amounts to a maximum of approximately €7 million, in addition to the 
amount already provided.

On 31 January 2018 a court issued a judgement concerning a transfer tax liability after a 
shareholder entered into an Altera investment by contributing property in 2012. Altera lodged 
an objection to the transfer tax of €3.8 million paid at that time, half of which had been paid by 
the entering shareholder. The court found in favour of Altera. The Tax and Customs Authority has 
appealed against the judgement and based on the decision by the court on 26 January 2021,  
Altera appealed in cassation. However, the Supreme Court decided not in favour of Altera.

Altera’s shares in the maintenance provision in homeowners’ associations in the Residential sector 
totalled €2.8 million at year-end 2021 (year-end 2020: €2.4 million).

Subsequent events

On 24 February 2022 Russia invaded Ukraine. Reference is made to page 130 for the possible 
impact on the company.

Amstelveen, 23 March 2022

Supervisory Board

Guus Hoefsloot, Chairman of the Supervisory Board
Heino Vink, Supervisory Board member
Roelie van Wijk-Russchen, Supervisory Board member

Management Board

Jaap van der Bijl, Chief Executive Officer
Cyril van den Hoogen, Chief Financial Officer 
Erwin Wessels, Chief Investment Officer
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Other information
Profit appropriation
Profit appropriation is provided for in article 32 of the articles of association. Paragraph 1 provides 
that the profit is at the disposal of the General Meeting of Shareholders.

The Supervisory Board endorses the dividend for the fourth quarter of 2021 was paid out on 17 
January 2022 including the final dividend:

Dividend (amounts in €) Q4 2021 plus final dividend

Residential 12,209,109
Retail 7,850,778

Total  20,059,887 

Independent auditor’s report
To the shareholders and the Supervisory Board of Altera Vastgoed N.V. 

Report on the audit of the Financial Statements 2021 included in the annual 
report 

Our opinion
We have audited the accompanying Financial Statements 2021 of Altera Vastgoed N.V., based in 
Amstelveen. 

In our opinion the accompanying Financial Statements give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of Altera Vastgoed N.V. as at 31 December 2021, and of its result and its cash flows for 
2021 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European 
Union (EU-IFRS) and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

The Financial Statements comprise:
1. The balance sheet as at 31 December 2021.
2.  The following statements for 2021: the profit and loss account, the statements of other 

comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flow statement.
3.  The Notes to the Financial Statements comprising a summary of the significant accounting 

policies and other explanatory information. 

Basis for our opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on Auditing. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 'Our responsibilities for the 
audit of the Financial Statements' section of our report.

We are independent of Altera Vastgoed N.V. in accordance with the Wet toezicht 
accountantsorganisaties (Wta, Audit firms supervision act), the Verordening inzake de 
onafhankelijkheid van accountants bij assurance-opdrachten (ViO, Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants, a regulation with respect to independence) and other relevant independence 
regulations in the Netherlands. Furthermore, we have complied with the Verordening gedrags- en 
beroepsregels accountants (VGBA, Dutch Code of Ethics).

We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.
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Materiality
Based on our professional judgement we determined the materiality for the Financial Statements 
as a whole at €29.100.000. The materiality is based on 1% of total equity. We have also taken into 
account misstatements and/or possible misstatements that in our opinion are material for the users 
of the Financial Statements for qualitative reasons.

We agreed with the Supervisory Board that misstatements in excess of €1.455.000, which are 
identified during the audit, would be reported to them, as well as smaller misstatements that in our 
view must be reported on qualitative grounds. 

Our key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance 
in our audit of the Financial Statements. We have communicated the key audit matters to the 
Supervisory Board. The key audit matters are not a comprehensive reflection of all matters discussed.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the Financial Statements as a whole and 
in forming our opinion there on, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter
How the key audit matter was  
addressed in the audit

Valuation of investment property 
(under construction)

Refer to note 1 of the Financial 
Statements.

As at 31 December 2021, the Company 
held a portfolio of investment property 
(including the participating interest) 
with a fair value of €2.535 million (31 
December 2020: €2.110 million) and 
investment property under construction 
of €339 million (31 December 2020: 
€334 million).

The portfolio consist of €2.281 million 
residential investment property (under 
construction) and €592 million retail 
investment property.

Our audit procedures included, among others, the 
following:

We have gained understanding of the 
valuation process and tested the design and 
implementation of the Company’s relevant 
controls with respect to the data used in the 
valuation of the investment property (under 
construction).

We evaluated the competence of the Company’s 
external appraiser, which included consideration 
of their qualifications and expertise.

We have further evaluated and challenged the 
assumptions made in respect to the credit-
worthiness of significant tenants, lease incentives 
and vacancy periods in the valuation calculations.

Key audit matter
How the key audit matter was  
addressed in the audit

At the end of each reporting period, the 
Management Board determines the fair 
value of its investment property portfolio 
in accordance with the requirements 
of IAS 40 and IFRS 13. The Company 
uses external valuation reports issued 
by external independent professionally 
qualified valuers to determine the fair 
value of its investment property.

As the valuation of investment property 
is inherently judgmental in nature, due 
to the use of assumptions that are highly 
sensitive, any change in assumptions 
may have a significant effect on the 
outcome given the relative size of the 
investment property balance. 

The most significant assumptions and 
parameters involved, given the sensitivity 
and impact on the outcome, are the 
capitalisation rate and market rent levels.

In addition, and as the external appraiser 
has recommended in its assessment of 
the fair value of the property portfolio, 
caution is needed in analysing the values 
due to the unknown future impacts on 
economy and real estate markets due to 
COVID-19.

In relation to the significant assumptions in 
the valuation of investment property (under 
construction), we have:

• determined that the valuation methods as 
applied by the Management Board, as included 
in the valuation reports, are appropriate;

• we have challenged the significant assumptions 
used (such as capitalisation rate, market rental 
income, market-derived discount rate) against 
relevant market data. We have involved our 
internal real estate valuation experts in these 
assessments;

• we assessed the sensitivity analysis on the key 
input data and assumptions to understand the 
impact of reasonable changes in assumptions 
on the valuation and other key performance 
indicators;

• we have assessed the appropriateness of the 
disclosures relating to the assumptions used 
in the valuations and sensitivity analysis in the 
notes to the consolidated Financial Statements.

Observation

We found that, with the (significant) assumptions 
used in the valuation reports, the valuation of 
the investment property (under construction) is 
valued within a reasonable range.



Financial Statements 2021

151

Emphasis of the impact of the Russian invasion of Ukraine
The Russian invasion of Ukraine also impacts Altera Vastgoed N.V. Management disclosed the 
estimated impact on financial performance and health of Altera Vastgoed N.V. and her plans to deal 
with these events or circumstances in page 23 of the Management Board Report and 130 of the 
Financial Statements. 

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Report on the other information included in the annual report

In addition to the Financial Statements and our auditor's report thereon, the annual report contain 
other information that consists of:

• Management Board’s Report
• The sector reports
• Other information

Based on the following procedures performed, we conclude that the other information:

• Is consistent with the Financial Statements and does not contain material misstatements.
• Contains the information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. 

We have read the other information. Based on our knowledge and understanding obtained 
through our audit of the Financial Statements or otherwise, we have considered whether the other 
information contains material misstatements.

By performing these procedures, we comply with the requirements of Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch 
Civil Code and the Dutch Standard 720. The scope of the procedures performed is substantially less 
than the scope of those performed in our audit of the Financial Statements.

Management is responsible for the preparation of the other information, including the Management 
Board's Report in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code, and the other 
information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

Description of responsibilities regarding the Financial Statements

Responsibilities of management for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the Financial Statements in 
accordance with EU-IFRS and Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. Furthermore, management 
is responsible for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of the Financial Statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

As part of the preparation of the Financial Statements, management is responsible for assessing 
the company's ability to continue as a going concern. Based on the financial reporting frameworks 
mentioned, management should prepare the Financial Statements using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or 
has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Management should disclose events and circumstances that may cast significant doubt on the 
company's ability to continue as a going concern in the Financial Statements.

Our responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Statements
Our objective is to plan and perform the audit assignment in a manner that allows us to obtain 
sufficient and appropriate audit evidence for our opinion.

Our audit has been performed with a high, but not absolute, level of assurance, which means we 
may not detect all material errors and fraud during our audit.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these Financial Statements. The materiality affects the nature, timing and extent of 
our audit procedures and the evaluation of the effect of identified misstatements on our opinion.
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We have exercised professional judgement and have maintained professional skepticism 
throughout the audit, in accordance with Dutch Standards on Auditing, ethical requirements and 
independence requirements. Our audit included e.g.:

• Identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the Financial Statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, designing and performing audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control.

• Obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the company's internal control.

• Evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Concluding on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of 
accounting, and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the company's ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the Financial Statements or, if 
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the company to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the Financial Statements, including 
the disclosures. 

• Evaluating whether the Financial Statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Supervisory Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant findings in internal 
control that we identified during our audit. 

Amsterdam, 23 March 2022

Deloitte Accountants B.V.

M. Heerschop

INREV valuation 
principles and  
INREV adjustments
INREV valuation principles
In order to give investors information on the transition from the Net Asset Value (NAV) according 
to IFRS tot he adjusted NAV based on INREV valuation principles, Altera reports the adjustments 
according to the INREV valuation principles. The fundamental assumption underlying the adjusted 
INREV NAV of Altera is that it should give a more accurate reflection of the economic value of 
the portfolios and of participations in the portfolios that would be realised by a participant in a 
theoretical sale, as of the balance sheet date, assuming an arm’s-length transaction, a willing buyer/
seller and an adequate time to market.
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INREV adjustments
All amounts in € thousands, unless otherwise stated

Residential Retail
Share issues Notes  31 Dec 2021  31 Dec 2020  31 Dec 2021  31 Dec 2020 

NAV in the IFRS financial statements 2,312,389  1,912,760 605,830  599,924 
Reclassification of certain IFRS liabilities as components of equity
Effect of reclassifying shareholder loans and hybrid capital instruments (including convertible bonds 
that represent shareholder long-term interest in a vehicle)

1  -  -  -  - 

Revaluation to fair value of investment properties 2  -  -  -  - 

NAV after reclassification of equity-like interest and dividends not yet distributed 2,312,389  1,912,760 605,830  599,924
Fair value of assets and liabilities
Revaluation to fair value of investment properties 3  -  -  -  - 
Revaluation to fair value of self-constructed or developed investment property 4  -  -  -  - 
Revaluation to fair value of investment property held for sale 5  -  -  -  - 
Revaluation to fair value of property that is leased to tenants under a finance lease 6  -  -  -  - 
Revaluation to fair value of real estate held as inventory 7  -  -  -  - 
Revaluation to fair value of other investments in real assets 8  -  -  -  - 
Revaluation to fair value of indirect investments not consolidated 9  -  -  -  - 
Revaluation to fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities 10  -  -  -  - 
Revaluation to fair value of construction contracts for third parties 11  -  -  -  - 
Set-up costs 12  -  -  -  - 
Acquisition expenses 13 27,363  7,395 5,975  5,146 
Contractual fees 14  -  -  -  - 

Effects of the expected manner of settlement of sales/vehicle unwinding
Revaluation to fair value of savings of purchaser's costs such as transfer taxes 15  -  -  -  - 
Revaluation to fair value of deferred taxes and tax effect of INREV NAV adjustments 16  -  -  -  - 
Effect of subsidiaries having a negative equity (non-recourse) 17  -  -  -  - 

Other adjustments
Goodwill 18  -  -  -  - 
Non-controlling interest effects of INREV adjustments 19  -  -  -  - 

INREV NAV  2,339,752  1,920,155 611,805  605,070 
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INREV NAV per share 
Residential Retail

31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Number of shares issued at year-end (in 1,000) 1,025,246  955,703 638,821  629,844 
INREV NAV (in €1,000) 2,339,752  1,920,155 611,805  605,070 
INREV NAV per share (in €)  2.282 2.009  0.958  0.961 

Notes to the INREV adjustments

1.  Effect of reclassifying shareholder loans and hybrid capital instruments 
(including convertible bonds) that represent shareholders’ long-term interest 
in a vehicle

Investors’ capital can take various forms aside from equity – examples include shareholder loans 
and hybrid capital instruments such as convertible bonds. Some vehicles are structured via a 
combination of equity participations and shareholder loans.

Shareholder loans and hybrid capital instruments are generally seen as part of the investors’ overall 
interest in the vehicle. They should be included as a component of equity in the INREV NAV and 
reclassified as such if they have been classified as liabilities in the financial statements of the 
vehicle under IFRS. The amount to be reclassified should reflect the corresponding carrying value of 
the liabilities in the IFRS accounts.

The existence of such instruments as part of the capital structure of a vehicle at its origination, or 
investor loans that are pari-passu to their equity stake and at off-market loan terms, are indicators, 
among others, that these items should be reclassified as part of the INREV NAV.

The reclassification should also take account of accrued interest, which is treated in a similar 
fashion to dividends.

Since investors in Altera only invest via shares, no adjustment is included.

2.  Effect of dividends recorded as a liability that have not yet been distributed

Under certain circumstances dividends are recorded as a liability but have not yet been legally 
distributed. For the determination of INREV NAV, these accrued dividends should be reversed to the 
NAV.

As at 31 December 2021, no dividends are recorded as a liability and therefore no adjustment is 
included.

3. Revaluation to fair value of investment properties

If a real estate vehicle uses the option to account for investment properties under the cost model, 
this adjustment represents the impact on NAV of the revaluation of the investment property to fair 
value under the fair value option of IAS 40.

The effect of straight-lining of lease incentives, rent guarantees, insurance claims (for damages, lost 
rent, etc.) should be taken into account when valuing the property at fair value in accordance with 
IAS 40 and SIC 15 to ensure that any asset is not double-counted in the NAV.

As at 31 December 2021, there are no adjustments since investment property is valued at fair value 
under the fair value option of IAS 40 after initial recognition.
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4.  Revaluation to fair value of self-constructed or developed investment 
property

If a real estate vehicle uses the option to account for self-constructed or developed investment 
property under the cost model, the adjustment represents the impact on NAV of the revaluation of 
the self-constructed or developed investment property to fair value under the fair value option of 
IAS 40.

As at 31 December 2021, there are no adjustments since development property is investment 
property under construction and is valued at fair value under the fair value option of IAS 40.

5. Revaluation to fair value of investment property held for sale

Some investment properties may be classified as assets held for sale or as a group of assets held for 
sale. The carrying value of such investment properties depends on the chosen accounting treatment 
under IAS 40 (either fair value or cost). The adjustment represents the impact on NAV of the 
revaluation of the investment property intended for sale, measured at fair value or cost, to the net 
realisable value (fair value less disposal costs).

As at 31 December 2021, there are no properties presented as held for sale that are not included in 
the fair value of investment property.

6.  Revaluation to fair value of property that is leased to tenants under a finance 
lease

Property that is leased to tenants under a finance lease is initially measured on a net investment 
basis and subsequently remeasured based on an amortisation pattern reflecting a constant rate 
of return. The adjustment represents the impact on NAV of the revaluation of the finance lease 
receivable to fair value.

As at 31 December 2021, there are no adjustments since no property is held that is leased to 
tenants under a finance lease.

7. Revaluation to fair value of real estate held as inventory

Properties intended for sale and accounted for under IAS 2 (Inventory) are measured at the lower 
of cost or net realisable value in the financial statements. This adjustment represents the impact on 
the NAV of the revaluation of such properties to net realisable value (fair value less disposal costs). 
This adjustment should be included under the heading ‘revaluation to fair value of real estate held 
as inventory’.

Where the likely disposal date is more than one year from the date of the NAV computation, disposal 
costs should not be deducted from fair value in calculating this adjustment.

As at 31 December 2021, there are no adjustments since no property is accounted for under IAS 2 
(inventory).

8. Revaluation to fair value of other investments in real estate

Under IAS16 other investments in real assets are normally accounted for at cost. The adjustment 
represents the impact on NAV of the revaluation of other investments in real assets to fair value in 
accordance with the fair value assumptions under IFRS 13.

As at 31 December 2021, there are no adjustments since Altera has no investments in real assets.

9. Revaluation to fair value of indirect investments not consolidated

Indirect investments in real estate, such as investments in associations and joint ventures, have 
different accounting treatments and carrying values under IFRS. Such investments can be valued at 
cost, fair value or NAV. The adjustment represents the impact on NAV of the revaluation of indirect 
investments to fair value if not yet accounted for at fair value.

As at 31 December 2021, there are no adjustments since all indirect investments in real estate are 
accounted for at fair value.
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10.  Revaluation to fair value of financial assets and liabilities (including 
revaluations to fair value of debt obligations)

Financial assets and liabilities such as hedging instruments or debt obligations are generally 
measured at amortised cost, taking into account any impairment when applicable. The adjustment 
represents the impact on NAV of the revaluation of financial assets and financial liabilities to fair 
value as determined in accordance with IFRS, if not yet accounted for at fair value.

In addition, vehicles may incur costs for redemption of bank debts as a result of sales of properties. 
As with disposal costs, these costs are generally not accrued in IFRS. Where the disposal of a 
property is expected within one year, and therefore the redemption of the related bank debt is also 
expected within one year, any bank debt early redemption costs should be accrued in the NAV.

As at 31 December 2021, there are no adjustments since the financial assets and liabilities 
accounted for in the balance sheet are not materially different from the fair value of the financial 
assets and liabilities in accordance with the fair value principles of IFRS 13.

11. Revaluation to fair value of construction contracts for third parties

Under IAS11, construction contracts for third parties are normally accounted for based on the stage 
of completion. The adjustment represents the impact on NAV of the revaluation of construction 
contracts for third parties to fair value in accordance with the fair value principles of IFRS 13.

As at 31 December 2021, there are no adjustments since Altera has no construction contracts of 
third parties.

12. Set-up costs

Under IFRS, vehicle set-up costs are charged immediately to income after the inception of a vehicle.

Such costs should be capitalised and amortised over the first five years of the term of the vehicle. 
The rationale for capitalising and amortising set-up costs is to better reflect the duration of the 
economic benefits to the vehicle.

When capitalising and amortising set-up costs, a possible impairment test should be taken into 
account every time the adjusted NAV is calculated when market circumstances change and it is not 
expected that the capitalised set-up costs can be recovered through the sale of units of a vehicle. 
For instance, when a decision is made to liquidate the vehicle or stakeholders no longer expect to 
recover the economic benefit of such capitalised expenses, they should be written down.

As at 31 December 2021, all the set-up costs of Altera have been amortised, and therefore there are 
no adjustments.

13. Acquisition expenses

Under the fair value model, acquisition expenses of an investment property are effectively charged 
to income when fair value is calculated at the first subsequent measurement date after acquisition. 
This results in the fair value of a property on subsequent fair value measurement being lower than 
the total purchase price of the property, all other things being equal.

Property acquisition expenses should be capitalised and amortised over the first five years after 
acquisition of the property. The rationale for capitalising and amortising acquisition expenses is to 
better reflect the duration of the economic benefits to the vehicle of these costs.

When capitalising and amortising acquisition costs, a possible impairment test should be taken 
into account every time the adjusted NAV is calculated when market circumstances change and it is 
not expected that the capitalised acquisition costs can be recovered through the sale of units of a 
vehicle. When a property is sold during the amortisation period or is classified as held for sale, the 
balance of capitalised acquisition expenses of that property should be expensed.

For the Residential portfolio most of the acquisitions are realised as purchase contracts during 
the development phase. These transactions are therefore exempt from transfer tax. Nonetheless, 
at the time of the first valuation of these contracts, the impact of transfer tax becomes apparent. 
This impact is also taken into account as acquisition expense in the calculation of the INREV NAV 
adjustment.
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Residential Retail

Capitalised acquisition expenses as at 31 December 2020 7,395 5,146
Acquisition expenses 2021 24,756  2,317 
Amortisation of acquisition expenses in 2021  -4,788  -1,488 

Adjustment NAV (excluding tax) as at 31 December 2021 27,363  5,975 

As at 31 December 2021, Altera made an adjustment of €27.4 million for the residential portfolio 
and €6.0 million for the retail portfolio.

Acquisition costs for 2021 are higher than previous years due to an increase in the transfer tax for 
residential from 2% to 8% and for retail from 6% to 8%,

14. Contractual fees

A liability represents a present obligation as a result of past events. A fee payable at the end of 
the life of a vehicle or at any other time during the life of a vehicle may not meet the criteria for 
recognition as a provision or liability in accordance with IFRS at the reporting date.

Examples of such fees include performance fees, disposal fees or liquidation fees, representing a 
present obligation from contractual arrangements.

Most of these fees are normally accrued under IFRS accounting rules. The adjustment represents 
the impact on the NAV of the amount of the estimated contractual fees payable based on the 
current NAV of the vehicle in the rare circumstances in which these fees are not already recognised 
in financial statements produced under IFRS and it is probable that they will be incurred. In order 
to determine the amount of the adjustment, reference should be made to IFRS standards for the 
measurement (but not necessarily the recognition) of provisions or deferred liabilities.

A description of the calculation methodology and the terms of the underlying agreement should be 
disclosed (or reference could be made to the related party disclosures in which such agreements 
and terms are explained).

As at 31 December 2021, all contractual fees and contingent liabilities are recognised in 
accordance with IFRS. Altera did not enter into any other contractual fees or contingent liabilities 
that are not presented in the accounts as at the balance sheet date.

15.  Revaluation to fair value of savings of purchaser’s costs such as transfer 
taxes

Transfer taxes and purchaser’s costs which would be incurred by the purchaser when acquiring a 
property are generally deducted when determining the fair value of investment properties under  
IAS 40.

The effect of an intended sale of shares in a property-owning vehicle, rather than the property itself, 
should be taken into account when determining the amount of the deduction of transfer taxes and 
purchaser’s costs, to the extent this saving is expected to accrue to the seller when the property is 
sold. The adjustment therefore represents the positive impact on the NAV of the possible reduction 
of the transfer taxes and purchaser’s costs for the benefit of the seller based on the expected sale of 
shares in the property-owning vehicle.

Disclosure should be made on how the estimate of the amount the manager expects to benefit 
from intended disposal strategies has been made. Reference should be made to both the current 
structure and prevailing market conditions.

As at 31 December 2021, there are no adjustments since Altera has no investment property 
structured in special purpose vehicles.
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16.  Revaluation to fair value of deferred taxes and tax effect of INREV NAV 
adjustments

Under IFRS, deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the nominal statutory tax rate. The 
manner in which the vehicle expects to realise deferred tax (for example, for investment properties 
through share sales rather than direct property sales) is generally not taken into consideration.

The adjustment represents the impact on the NAV of the difference between the amount determined 
in accordance with IFRS and the estimate of deferred tax which takes into account the expected 
manner of settlement (i.e. when tax structures and the intended method of disposals or settlement 
of assets and liabilities have been applied to reduce the actual tax liability).

Disclosures should include an overview of the tax structure including, for instance, details of the 
property ownership structure, key assumptions and broad parameters used for estimating deferred 
taxes for each country, the maximum deferred tax amount estimated assuming only asset sales (i.e. 
without taking into account the intended method of disposal) and the approximate tax rates used.

It is possible that the estimate of the amount of the adjustment required to bring the deferred tax 
liability related to property disposals to fair value could have a large impact on the INREV NAV. 
Since tax structures may differ from vehicle to vehicle, significant judgement is required and the 
mechanics of the calculation methodology for this adjustment may vary from vehicle to vehicle. 
Other components of the overall deferred tax adjustment require less judgement and are more 
mechanical in nature.

This adjustment should include a full assessment of the tax impact on NAV of INREV NAV 
adjustments. As with IFRS, deferred tax balances are not discounted to take into account time value 
of money.

As at 31 December 2021, there are no adjustments since Altera has not valued deferred tax assets 
and liabilities on the balance sheet. Furthermore no adjustments are required because Altera is 
transparent for tax purposes.

17. Effect of subsidiaries having a negative equity (non-recourse)

The NAV of a consolidated group under IFRS may include the net liability position of subsidiary 
undertakings. In practice, however, the group may have neither a legal nor a constructive obligation 
to fund the accumulated losses in situations where the financing of the subsidiaries is non-recourse 
to the vehicle.

In this scenario it is appropriate to make an adjustment when calculating the INREV NAV in order to 
recognise the group’s interest in such subsidiaries at nil or an adjusted negative amount rather than 
at a full net liability position, to the extent there is no intention or obligation on the vehicle to make 
good those losses.

The adjustment represents the positive impact on the NAV of the partial or full reversal of the 
negative equity of the specific subsidiary. If the vehicle has granted shareholder loans to the 
subsidiary, these should be taken into account.

As at 31 December 2021, there are no adjustments since Altera has no subsidiaries with a negative 
equity that are valued at zero and are included in the consolidation.

18. Goodwill

On the acquisition of an entity which is determined to be a business combination, goodwill may 
arise as a result of a purchase price allocation exercise. Often a major component of such goodwill 
in property vehicles reflects the difference between the full recognition of deferred tax, purchaser’s 
costs or similar items in the IFRS accounts (which does not generally take account of the likely or 
intended method of subsequent exit) and the economic value attributed to such items in the actual 
purchase price. Except where such components of goodwill have already been written off in the 
NAV as determined under IFRS, they should be written off in the INREV NAV.

As at 31 December 2021, there are no adjustments since Altera has no goodwill valued on the 
balance sheet.

19.  Non-controlling interest effects on the above adjustments

This adjustment represents the impact on the NAV of the recognition of non-controlling interests on 
all of the above adjustments.

As at 31 December 2021, there are no adjustments since Altera has no minority interests.
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Independent auditor’s report
To the shareholders and the Supervisory Board of Altera Vastgoed N.V.

Report on the audit of the INREV adjustments 

Our opinion
We have audited the accompanying INREV adjustments 2021 of Altera Vastgoed N.V., based in 
Amstelveen. 

In our opinion the INREV adjustments are prepared, in all material respects in accordance with the 
accounting policies selected and disclosed by the entity, i.e. INREV valuation principles, as set out 
in note 1 up until 19 of the INREV adjustments in the 2021 Financial Statements of Altera Vastgoed 
N.V.

Basis for our opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on Auditing. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 'Our responsibilities for the 
audit of the Financial Statements' section of our report.

We are independent of management in accordance with the Verordening inzake de 
onafhankelijkheid van accountants bij assurance-opdrachten (ViO, Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants, a regulation with respect to independence) and other relevant independence 
regulations in The Netherlands. Furthermore, we have complied with the Verordening gedrags- en 
beroepsregels accountants (VGBA, Dutch Code of Ethics).

We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion

Emphasis of the impact of the Russian invasion of Ukraine
The Russian invasion of Ukraine also impacts Altera Vastgoed N.V. Management disclosed the 
estimated impact on financial performance and health of Altera Vastgoed N.V. and her plans to deal 
with these events or circumstances in page 23 of the Management Board Report and 130 of the 
Financial Statements. 

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Description of responsibilities regarding the INREV adjustments

Responsibilities of management for the INREV adjustments
Management is responsible for the preparation of the INREV adjustments in accordance with the 
accounting policies selected and disclosed by the entity (i.e. INREV valuation principles), as set out 
in note 1 up until 19 of the INREV adjustments in the 2021 Financial Statements of Altera Vastgoed 
N.V.

Furthermore, management is responsible for such internal control as management determines 
is necessary to enable the preparation of the INREV adjustments that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Our responsibilities for the audit of the INREV adjustments
Our objective is to plan and perform the audit assignment in a manner that allows us to obtain 
sufficient and appropriate audit evidence for our opinion.

Our audit has been performed with a high, but not absolute, level of assurance, which means we 
may not detect all material errors and fraud during our audit.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these INREV adjustments. The materiality affects the nature, timing and extent of our 
audit procedures and the evaluation of the effect of identified misstatements on our opinion.

We have exercised professional judgement and have maintained professional skepticism 
throughout the audit, in accordance with Dutch Standards on Auditing, ethical requirements and 
independence requirements. Our audit included e.g.:

• Identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the INREV adjustments, whether 
due to fraud or error, designing and performing audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control.

• Obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the company's internal control.

• Evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.
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• Evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the INREV adjustments, including the 
disclosures. 

• Evaluating whether the INREV adjustments represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with management regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant findings in internal control that 
we identified during our audit. 

Amsterdam, 23 March 2022

Deloitte Accountants B.V.

M. Heerschop
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Financial Agenda 2022
Item Date

Reports
Annual Report 2021 April 2022
Q1 report to shareholders 25 April 2022
Q2 report to shareholders 25 July 2022
Semi-annual report August 2022
Q3 report to shareholders 24 October 2022
Investment plans per sector November 2022
Net asset value Four working days following the end of the month

Meetings
General Meeting of Shareholders 14 April 2022

7 December 2022

Informal Shareholders Meeting 1 June 2022
26 October 2022

Investor Calls
Q1 report 4 May 2022
Q2 report 3 August 2022
Q3 report  2 November 2022
Q4 report 1 February 2023

Item Date

Dividend payments
Q1 15 April 2022
Q2 15 July 2022
Q3 17 October 2022
Q4 16 January 2023
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Glossary
Results

Direct investment income

Gross rental income minus operating expenses plus revenues 
from other investments less management costs plus/minus 
interest income/expenses.

Indirect investment income

Comprehensive changes in value in the portfolio, plus the 
release of compensation for transfer tax and shareholder 
acquisition costs.

Total investment income

Direct investment income plus indirect investment income.

Net/gross rental income

Net rental income divided by gross rental income.

Theoretical gross rent

Contract rent plus vacancy at market rent (annualised).

Gross rental income

Theoretical gross rental income less vacancy less lease 
incentives (adjusted for effect of straightlining) plus any other 
income.

Net rental income

Gross rental income less operating expenses.

Operating expenses

Expenses directly attributable to the properties, including 
maintenance, fixed expenses and property management 
expenses (day-to-day management).

Lease incentives

Any expense borne by the owner of the property in order to 
secure a lease. These costs are capitalised and amortised over 
the length of the lease period (straightlining).

Management and fund costs

In the profit and loss account management costs and fund costs 
are generally allocated to the sector portfolios based on the 
average assets under management. Management costs include 
costs for personnel, office, IT and research. Fund costs include 
costs for external valuations of the properties, supervisory costs 
(Supervisory Board, external regulators, audits) and advisory 
costs.
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Returns

Income return (= Direct property return)

Net rental income over a specific period assessed against the 
average invested capital of the underlying property holdings 
during the measurement period; the calculation is based on the 
time-weighted method used by MSCI. 

Capital growth (= Indirect property return)

Changes in the value of the underlying property holdings over 
a specific period assessed against the average invested capital 
of the underlying property holdings during the measurement 
period; the calculation is based on the time-weighted method 
used by MSCI.

Total property return

Sum of net rental income and value changes over a specific 
period assessed against the average invested capital of the 
underlying property holdings during the measurement period; 
the calculation is based on the time-weighted method used by 
MSCI.

Fund return

The fund return is calculated in accordance with the ‘modified 
Dietz’ method, as used by INREV. Fund return can be calculated 
according to the IFRS net asset value and the INREV net asset 
value. 

Environmental, Social, Governance (ESG)

BREEAM Building Certification

BREEAM (Building Research Establishment Environmental 
Assessment Method) is an established method of assessing, 
rating, and certifying the sustainability of buildings. 

DGBC

The Dutch Green Building Council (DGBC) foundation is a 
national civil society organisation committed to making the built 
environment future-proof. 

GPR Building Certification

In GPR software the sustainability of buildings is measured using 
five themes: energy, environment, health, quality of the building 
and future value. 

GRESB

The GRESB (Global Real Estate Sustainability Benchmark) is an 
international benchmark that assesses sustainability policies 
and their implementation by property funds and portfolios 
worldwide. GRESB assesses and benchmarks the Environmental, 
Social and Governance (ESG) performance of real assets, 
providing standardised and validated data to the capital 
markets. 

SFDR

The EU Sustainable Finance Disclosure Regulation (SFDR) is a 
set of EU rules which aim to make the sustainability profile of 
funds more comparable and better understood by investors.

UNPRI

The United Nations-supported Principles for Responsible 
Investment is an international network of investors working 
together to put six principles into practice. Its goal is to 
understand the implications of sustainability for investors 
and support signatories to incorporate these issues into 
their investment decision-making and ownership practices. 
The Principles are based on the notion that environmental, 
social and governance (ESG) issues, such as climate change 
and human rights, can affect the performance of investment 
portfolios and should therefore be considered alongside more 
traditional financial factors. 

UN SDGs

The Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) were adopted by 
all United Nations Member States in 2015 as a universal call 
to action to end poverty, protect the planet and ensure that 
all people enjoy peace and prosperity by 2030. The 17 SDGs 
recognise that action in one area will affect outcomes in others, 
and that development must balance social, economic and 
environmental sustainability.
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Miscellaneous

Assets under management (AuM)

Value of the property portfolio plus the funds available for 
investment.

Gross asset value (GAV)

Total property portfolio plus the value of any further assets at 
market value (= balance sheet total).

Net asset value (NAV)

Value of assets less debt and provisions (= equity). Net asset 
value can be calculated on an IFRS basis and on an INREV 
basis. In the case of Altera the main difference is the treatment 
of acquisition costs: in the IFRS calculation these costs are 
written off at the time of the first valuation, whereas in the INREV 
calculation these costs are capitalised and amortised over five 
years. 

Standing portfolio

The properties in operation during the review period of the MSCI 
Netherlands Property Index and in which no investments were 
made exceeding 10% of the property value.

All investments (all properties)

The standing portfolio plus the properties acquired and sold 
during a specific period and properties in which investments 
were made exceeding 10% of the property value, as well as 
pipeline projects for which the land has been transferred.

Secured pipeline

Projects for which contracts for development and construction 
have been signed and all necessary permits have been provided.

Gross initial yield

Theoretical gross rent divided by the market value of the 
property (less purchasing expenses). 

Occupancy rate

Rent passing (including rental guarantees) divided by the 
theoretical gross rent. This financial occupancy rate may differ 
from the physical occupancy rate.

Real estate expense ratio (REER)

Property-specific costs over a 12-month period as a proportion 
of the average gross or net asset value. The definitions for this 
ratio are set by INREV.

Total global expense ratio (TGER)

Total management and fund costs as a proportion of the average 
gross or net asset value. The definitions for this ratio are set by 
INREV.

ISAE 3402

Standard 3402 of the International Standards on Assurance 
Engagements of the International Federation of Accountants. 
It is an attestation procedure for assessing compliance with 
process controls and IT.

MSCI Netherlands Property Index

This index, provided by MSCI, serves as a benchmark for 
investment property returns per sector.

INREV

INREV is the European Association for Investors in Non-Listed 
Real Estate Vehicles. It is a platform for sharing knowledge 
on the non-listed real estate industry. The goal is to improve 
transparency, professionalism and best practices across the 
sector, making the asset class more accessible and attractive to 
investors. 

IVBN

Association of Institutional Property Investors in the 
Netherlands. The mission is to promote the investment climate 
for real estate in the Netherlands. 
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